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Welcome to the Annual Report of 

Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation 

Trust for 2009/10.  This has been 

a busy year for the hospital, with 

many achievements, but also many 

challenges.

Throughout the year, the hospital has continued its efforts 

to provide the highest quality of health care services to 

the people of Tameside and Glossop and beyond.  All NHS 

organisations are externally assessed by the Care Quality 

Commission (CQC).  2009/10 was the last year in which 

the old Annual Health Check process operated.  The 

Annual Health Check results announced in October 2009 

were based on performance in the previous year, and 

these rated the hospital as Good (the second highest level 

of attainment) for both the quality of services provided, 

and for the standard of financial management.  This was a 

positive result that reflected the hard work and dedication 

of everyone who works at the hospital.

In November 2009, annual statistics on hospital 

performance were published in the Dr Foster Hospital 

Guide.  These figures were based on activity during 

2008/09, and showed that the hospital had an elevated 

mortality ratio, at 119.3 (national average 100).  This was 

a disappointing result, as the hospital had higher than 

average mortality figures in previous years, and had been 

working very hard to bring them down.  There is good 

evidence that mortality rates at the hospital are falling, 

but clearly they have not come down rapidly enough.  

A range of activities aimed at improving mortality 

were already underway, but since the figures came out 

the hospital has re-doubled its efforts to improve the 

position, through measures such as extending to 24/7 

the critical care outreach team, introducing clinical 

protocols to standardise the clinical management of 

certain diseases and conditions, and managing end of life 

care more effectively.

It is now clear that the mortality ratio figures for 2009/10 

will be significantly reduced, and are likely to be much 

closer to the national average.  At the time of writing, 

the hospital’s mortality ratio is estimated to be 106, and 

the hospital remains committed to reducing it further.

The elevated mortality figures were a cause for 

considerable concern in the local community, and there 

1. Chairman’s and 

Tim Presswood
Chairman

Christine Green
Chief Executive

Chief Executive’s introduction
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has been extensive coverage of the hospital in the 

media. Responding to this, the hospital is working hard 

to restore public confidence and rebuild its reputation.  

As part of this process, an independent review of 

governance arrangements was commissioned, and the 

Trust has been going through the CQC Registration 

procedure.  Although the Governance Review is not due 

to be completed until the summer, the CQC inspection 

visit in March resulted in the hospital being registered 

from 1 April, but with two conditions to be met by 31 

May 2010.  The conditions both relate to arrangements 

for ensuring that sufficient staff with the appropriate 

skills and competencies are available to care for patients 

on medical wards.  One requires the hospital to ensure 

that there are enough permanent staff available on 

wards (i.e. reducing the dependency on temporary 

staff) and the other requires improvements to reporting 

processes, such that any staffing problems are clearly 

understood and communicated.  The Trust is confident 

that both these issues will be resolved quickly.

Another key issue for the hospital has been improving 

infection control. The big success in 2009/10 was the 

reduction of Clostridium Difficile (C Diff) infections by 

28% (down from 193 in 2008/09, to 132 in 2009/10).  

This reduction successfully delivered the target for C Diff 

infections.  MRSA infections also came down by 11% 

(from 18 in 2008/09 to 16 in 2009/10).  Whilst this is the 

lowest number of cases the hospital has ever recorded, it 

was unfortunately still in excess of the target of 12 cases 

for the year.

Despite the negative media coverage, the volume of 

patients seen and cared for at the hospital increased 

again in 2009/10.  The number of patients seen in 

Outpatients after referral by their GP was up by 3.3%, 

and the number admitted for surgery rose by 0.13%.  

Most notably, the number of patients admitted as 

emergencies increased by 3.5%.  

In terms of accessibility, the hospital continued to 

perform well.  98.7% of patients attending A&E were 

seen within 4 hours, with 

many being dealt with on 

a far shorter timescale.  For 

patients referred by their GP 

to see a consultant, 92.6% 

were admitted and had their 

surgery within 18 weeks of 

the initial referral.  For those 

whose treatment or other 

care could be delivered in an 

outpatient clinic the figures 

was even higher – 95.9% had 

treatment within 18 weeks.

Overall, the hospital 

remained financially stable in 

2009/10, delivering its cost 

improvement programme, and retained a Financial Risk 

Rating of 3 (range 1 – 5).  Although the hospital made a 

small financial surplus before the technical impairement, 

this was considerably less than had been planned 

for, due largely to the higher than expected level of 

expenditure on medical and nursing locum and agency 

staff.

The Trust is redeveloping the Tameside Hospital site 

through the Health Investment in Tameside (HIT) Project.  

This project has been underway for a number of years, 

but started to come to fruition in 2009/10.  The first 

buildings provided through the PFI contract are the 

new Elderly Mental Illness facility (provided for Pennine 

Care Mental Health Hospital), and the new Energy 

Centre.  Both of these were handed over on the planned 

timescale, and are operating effectively.  Building work 

on the main new acute hospital building continues to 

progress satisfactorily, and it is expected that the planned  

timescale for completion and handover in October 2010 

will be achieved, with the facility opening to patients in 

December.

As the hospital’s strategy for the redevelopment of the 

hospital starts to become a reality, new strategic issues 
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are developing in the shape 

of the Quality, Innovation, 

Productivity and Prevention 

(QIPP) and Transforming 

Community Services (TCS) 

agendas.  QIPP describes 

the strategic approach the 

NHS is taking to managing 

the financial challenges for 

the next few years, whilst 

aiming to continually drive up 

the quality of services, and 

improve patient experience.  

A wide range of workstreams 

have been initiated at 

local, regional and national 

level.  Within Tameside 

and Glossop, in particular, 

the hospital has been 

working closely with partner 

organisations in developing 

strategic proposals to improve 

productivity and enhance 

quality.

Foundation Trusts are 

membership organisations.  

The Trust now has over 

6,000 public members and 

all employees are members 

too.  The hospital has continued to work closely with the 

public and staff membership to develop engagement 

and involvement in 2009/10.  Members can be elected 

on to the Council of Members, or can participate in 

a variety of representative groups and committees.  If 

you are interested in the life and work of the hospital, 

you can become a member by calling the membership 

office on 0161 922 4157, or by visiting the website at 

www.tamesidehospital.nhs.uk to enrol on line, or simply 

by completing a short form which you can pick up in 

the Hartshead building reception and other areas of 

the hospital.  During 2009/10 the hospital held seven 

public meetings across Tameside and Glossop, and a 

further four meetings on the hospital site.  Being an 

open and transparent organisation is key to our strategy 

for rebuilding public confidence and restoring our 

reputation.

The success of the hospital is reliant upon the continuing 

support of its numerous partner organisations in the local 

community.  These include NHS Tameside and Glossop 

and Pennine Care (Mental Health) Hospital, Tameside and 

High Peak local authorities, Tameside Hospital League of 

Friends, and a range of other voluntary and charitable 

organisation that support the work of the hospital.  The 

support and collaborative working of these organisations 

throughout 2009/10 is gratefully acknowledged.  The 

Trust particularly recognises the important role of 

Tameside Local Involvement Network (LINks), and is fully 

committed to working increasing closely with LINks to 

engage with the local community, and to restore and 

rebuild confidence.

It is also important that the role of each and every 

member of staff at the hospital is acknowledged.  The 

quality of the care provided is very heavily dependent 

on the skill, competence and dedication of individual 

members of staff and the teams they work in, and we 

are delighted to pay tribute to their many achievements.

The Trust’s overarching purpose is to become the local 

healthcare provider of choice for patients, the public and 

staff.  We hope that the information we have been able 

to provide in this introduction, and the further detail 

given in the rest of the report demonstrates the progress 

that is continuing to be made towards the delivery of this 

objective.

 

Tim Presswood Christine Green
Chairman Chief Executive
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Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation 

Trust was established on 1 February 

2008. Previously, the Trust had 

operated as Tameside and Glossop 

Acute Services NHS Trust since 

1994. The Trust operates from 

the Tameside General Hospital 

site, which is situated in Ashton-

under-Lyne. The hospital serves a 

population of approximately 250,000 

residing in the surrounding area of 

Tameside in Greater Manchester, and 

the town of Glossop in Derbyshire.

Employing approximately 2,300 staff, the hospital 

provides the wide array of services one would associate 

with a general hospital. These services include general 

and specialist medicine, general and specialist surgery 

and full consultant-led obstetric and paediatric hospital 

services for women, children and babies.

The Health Investment in Tameside (HIT) project is due 

for completion by December 2010 and this will involve 

the comprehensive restructuring of the hospital site. 

Most of the older buildings are being demolished and 

replaced with new, state-of-the-art facilities. These 

facilities include new wards, new inpatient and day 

case theatres, new outpatient clinics, new diagnostic 

departments (including new x-ray facilities), a new 

pharmacy and a new integrated children’s unit.

2. About the Trust



10

Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust • Annual Report and Financial Accounts – 1 April 2009 to 31 March 2010

Division Specialties

Emergency Services and  
Critical Care Division
Accident and Emergency (A&E)
A&E provides 24hr emergency care and 

treatment for all illnesses and injuries. There is 

a specific paediatric service, and daytime minor 

injuries and dressings clinics.  

Medical Assessment and Admissions Unit 
(MAAU)
MAAU provides an observation and medical 

treatment service for up to 48hrs after 

admission, either directly from the GP or via 

A&E.  During this time, a decision will be made 

to discharge or admit to an appropriate ward.  

Intensive Care Unit (ICU)
A hospital facility for provision of intensive 

nursing and medical care of critically ill patients.

Adult Medicine
The general medical care of adults and older 

people.

Gastroenterology
The diagnosis and treatment of diseases and disorders affecting the stomach, 

intestines, and associated organs. 

Respiratory Medicine
A department which is responsible for the administration of diagnostic lung 

function tests and of procedures to restore optimum respiratory health.

Cardiology
The medical study of the diagnosis and treatment of diseases affecting the 

heart and blood vessels. 

Diabetes
The field of medicine that deals with type I diabetes (juvenile onset) or type II 

diabetes (adult onset). Individuals with either condition are considered to be 

diabetic.

Dermatology
The field of medicine that specialises in the treatment of skin disorders.

Rheumatology
A branch of medicine concerned with the diagnosis and treatment of arthritis 

and other associated conditions.

Neurology
The branch of medicine which treats conditions of the nervous system.  

Elective Services Division
Theatres and Day Surgery Unit
Facilities for undertaking surgery and other 

invasive procedures, either on an inpatient or day 

case basis.

General Surgery
A surgical specialty that involves largely the surgical management of diseases 

of the bowel, gallbladder, stomach and other digestive organs.

Urology
A branch of medicine concerned with the diagnosis and treatment of 

diseases of the urinary tract and urogenital system.

Orthopaedics and Trauma
The medical specialty concerned with the preservation, restoration, 

and development of form and function of the musculoskeletal system, 

extremities, spine, and associated structures by medical, surgical, and physical 

methods.

Oral Surgery and Orthodontics
The branch of dentistry concerned with the diagnosis and surgical and 

adjunctive treatment of diseases, injuries, and deformities of the oral and 

maxillofacial region.

Ear Nose and Throat
The department providing surgical care for Ear, Nose and Throat problems. 

Audiology 
A specialty focusing on hearing disorders through identification and 

evaluation of hearing loss.

Anaesthetics
The specialty that provides anaesthetic support for surgery, the management 

of critically ill patients in intensive care, and pain relief services.

The Trust’s clinical services are provided in a number of different specialties 
and departments. These are organised into four divisions.
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Division Specialties

Diagnostic and Therapeutic  
Services Division

Radiology
The study of images including X-rays in the diagnosis of a disease.

Pathology
Laboratory based study of diseases.

Pharmacy 
Compounding and dispensing medicines according to prescriptions of 
physicians.

Physiotherapy
A physiotherapist is a specialist trained in using exercise and physical activities 
to condition muscles and improve levels of activity.

Women’s and Children’s  
Services Division

Paediatrics 
The department concerned with the health of infants, children and 
adolescents.

Neonatology
The science of caring medically for the newborn.

Obstetrics
A branch of medicine dealing with the care of women during pregnancy, 
childbirth, and the period during which they recover from childbirth. 

Gynaecology 
A branch of medicine dealing with the diagnosis and treatment of disorders 
affecting the female reproductive organs.
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3.1  Introduction
The Trust is required to include a Director’s report and 

management commentary in line with the requirements 

of the Annual Reporting Manual. 

As well as the information contained within this section, 

the following information should be assumed to be part 

of the Director’s Report:

n A statement of the principal activities of Tameside 

Hospital NHS Foundation Trust during 2009/10 can be 

found on pages 10 and 11.

n The statement of the names of those persons who, 

at any time during the period, were Directors of the 

Trust, which is included in the Board of Directors 

section starting on page 70.

n The overview of the financial performance of 

the Trust in the period which is contained in the 

foreword of the financial statements, starting on 

page 80. A statement that accounting policies 

for pensions and other retirement benefits are set 

out in note 1.6 to the accounts. Details of senior 

employees remuneration can be found on page 

91 of the annual accounts. In relation to the use of 

financial instruments an indication of the financial 

risk management objectives and policies of the trust 

and the exposure of the trust to price risk, credit risk, 

liquidity risk and cash flow risk, can be found in note 

23 of the annual accounts. 

n The declaration that the accounts of the Trust are 

prepared on a going concern basis, as included in the 

finance section on page 80.

n The declaration that the Trust’s external auditors have 

been provided with all relevant audit information, 

which is included on page 13.

n The Trust’s Corporate objectives are listed below, 

along with a description of the rationale to focus our 

efforts in these areas and some brief details on the 

related activities during the year.

3.2 Our Vision, Aims and 
Objectives 

The Trust’s Mission statement is to gain and retain the 

status of Hospital of Choice for local people. To support 

this vision, we have developed a set of value statements 

clustered around the four constituencies of patients, 

the public, our staff, and our partner organisations. The 

mission and value statements are given opposite.

Corporate objectives 2009/10
To improve Patient Safety and maintain the highest 

standards of Dignity in Care

To strengthen Staff and Public engagement (including 

membership development)

To strengthen the financial robustness of the Trust, as it 

operates in a Foundation Trust regulatory environment

To maximise the benefits of the Health Investment in 

Tameside (HIT) Private Finance Initiative (PFI) project

To sustain performance in respect of key targets

To develop the Trust’s role as a good Corporate Citizen

To equip and develop the organisation for the challenges 

the economic and financial climate will present over the 

next three years.

Organisational strengths and resources
The Trust continues to maintain its strong record of 

maintaining organisational and financial stability and 

delivering against national targets. 

The main themes for the Trust to take forward in the 

coming financial year are:

n To continually improve patient safety and the 

effectiveness of clinical care

n To continue maintaining the year on year  reductions 

in the Hospitals Standardised Mortality Ratio (HSMR)

3. Director’s report
incorporating the business review

continued on page 14
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The Trust’s external auditors are PriceWaterhouseCoopers LLP. The Directors have taken all of the steps 
that they ought to have taken as Directors in order to make themselves aware of any relevant audit 

information and to establish that the auditors are aware of that information.  As far as the Directors are 
aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the auditors are unaware.
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n To commission and mobilise clinical services that are to  

be relocated into the new hospital development and 

which will become operational in December 2010

n To continue to strengthen engagement with 

patients and local people with the aim of improving 

partnership working to ensure the quality of patient 

experience is of the highest quality

n To continue to seek improvements in productivity 

and ensuring that access time targets (such as 

the 18 week and cancer targets) are delivered in 

a sustainable way, and exceeded to maintain the 

competitive position of the Trust and to eliminate any 

unnecessary delay for the hospital’s patients.

The Market Place
The Trust operates in a competitive environment for 

the provision of clinical services. There have been 

a few significant changes in the level or nature of 

provision during the year. In some circumstances, the 

alternative provision has weakened (eg Dermatology). 

This has created an opportunity for the Trust to increase 

its influence across Greater Manchester within this 

specialty and to benefit from increased levels of activity. 

Contrary to this is the emerging competition from the 

Independent Sector Clinical Assessment and Treatment 

Service (CATS) with which Primary Care Trusts (PCTs) in 

Greater Manchester have contracted. After a slow start 

and some encouragement by PCTs to GPs to refer to 

these independent sector services, it is possible to detect 

an impact on patterns of demand for some hospital 

services. The Trust’s response has been to ensure the 

services it provides are high quality, comprehensive and 

effective and accessible with an emphasis on continuing 

care. The Trust continues to work closely with local GPs 

to ensure the organisation has a very clear understanding 

of what GPs want from their local hospital.

3.3 Our performance 
The range of service targets that were set for acute Trusts 

in 2009/10 was very wide ranging and challenging.  

The Trust has a strong record of delivering performance 

against targets, and this has been the case again 

in 2009/10.  The table below summarises the key 

performance targets, and the Trust performance against 

these during 2009/10.

KEY
Achieved ✓

Underachieved

Not Achieved ✗

Assessment Not Yet Made ❍

Not Applicable

EXISTING COMMITMENTS
A&E waiting times ✓

Access to genito-urinary medicine (GUM) clinics 

Cancelled operations ✓

Delayed transfers of care ✓

Ethnic coding data quality ✓

Inpatients waiting longer than the 26 week standard ✓

Outpatients waiting longer than the 13 week standard ✓

Rapid access chest pain clinic waiting times ✓

Reperfusion waiting times 

Revascularisation waiting times 

NATIONAL PRIORITIES
18 week referral to treatment waiting times 

Access to healthcare for people with a learning 
disability 

❍

Cancer diagnosis to treatment waiting times  ✓

Cancer urgent referral to first outpatient  
appointment waiting times 

✓

Cancer urgent referral to treatment waiting times ✓

Clostridium difficile infections  ✓

Engagement in clinical audits ✓

Maternity data quality ✓

MRSA bacteraemias ✗

Patient experience  ❍

Participation in heart disease audits ✓

Quality of stroke care ✗

Smoking during pregnancy and breastfeeding  
initiation rates 

✓

Staff satisfaction  ❍

Our Performance
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Annual Health Check
n Quality of Service - Good 

n Use of Resources - Good

The Care Quality Commission (CQC) undertakes an 

annual ratings exercise for all hospitals, and this is 

known as the Annual Health Check.  The most recent 

assessment relates to 2008/09.  For 2008/09 the Trust 

has been rated as Good on Quality of Service and 

Good on Use of Resources (second top score in both 

categories). 

Quality of service 
The quality of service score covers a range of areas 

including safety of patients, cleanliness and waiting 

times.  This score is made up of the following 

assessments: 

Meeting Core Standards Fully Met

Existing Commitments Fully Met

National Priorities Good 

The core standards describe a wide range of basic 

requirements that the Care Quality Commission expects 

all hospitals to achieve.  They cover everything from child 

protection arrangements, to health records management, 

major incident planning, and education and training 

processes.  Although these are basic objectives, ensuring 

consistent compliance is a challenge.  Maintaining 

compliance with all 44 standards is a considerable 

achievement. 

The eight existing national targets have been established 

for some time and include such things as waiting time 

for an outpatient appointment and waiting times in 

A&E.  Although these targets are not new, continuing to 

achieve all of them is still very challenging. 

The national priorities look at performance against 

priorities set during the Department of Health’s 2008-

2011 planning round.  These include goals for the whole 

of the NHS, such as reducing health inequalities and 

improving the health of the population.  Out of the 13 

indicators the Trust failed on 

only two targets and these 

were:  

n Incidence of MRSA 

n Stroke Care

On MRSA, the Trust reduced 

the number of cases by 22% 

on the previous year, and 

only just missed the target.  

Similarly, performance on 

the national Stroke audit 

improved by 39%, and the 

Trust is hopeful of achieving 

this target soon. 

Use of resources 
This score looks at how well 

a hospital manages its finances and the Trust performed 

well in regard to financial arrangements, with a low to 

medium level of financial risk. However, the indicator is 

more than just about achieving financial balance; it also 

assesses whether the Trust is achieving good value for 

money. This is an encouraging result as it indicates that 

the Trust is using its resources efficiently and effectively. 

Information for patients 
The Care Quality Commission has combined 

performance against all of the standards and targets 

to produce six summarised assessments of key areas of 

interest to patients and the public.  The Trust scored full 

marks in four out of six categories.  The full details are as 

follows:  

n Safety and cleanliness 13/14 

n Waiting to be seen 11/11 

n Standard of care 6/8 

n Dignity and respect 9/9 

n Keeping the public healthy 5/5 

n Good management 18/18
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The full details of the Trust’s results can be read on the 

Care Quality Commission’s website.

The results for 2009/10 are not expected until autumn 

2010.

Waiting times at Tameside Hospital
At the end of 2009/10 the average waiting times for 

outpatients, inpatients and day cases were as follows:

Waiting Times at TGH, in weeks, for March 2010

Specialty Outpatient

General Surgery 2.8

Orthopaedics 4.0

ENT 2.4

Ophthalmology 6.8

Oral Surgery 5.6

Non-Acute Pain 4.1

Adult Medicine 4.3

Dermatology 8.4

Neurology 7.5

Rheumatology 7.2

Paediatrics 4.9

Gynaecology 2.5

Specialty Inpatient Daycase

General Surgery 3.8 6.2

Orthopaedics 11.5 9.8

ENT - 6.2

Oral Surgery - 6.3

Non-Acute Pain - 9.5

Adult Medicine 9.1 3.7

Gynaecology 8.4 3.5

Cancer services
An additional national target was added to the existing 

six cancer targets that are applicable to this Trust. From 

the end of December 2009 the following target was 

introduced:

n Maximum 2 week wait for referral of patients with 

breast symptoms (not suspected cancer) to date first 

seen.

The other six targets are:

n Maximum 2 week wait for an urgent GP referral for 

suspected cancer

n Maximum 31 days wait from diagnosis (decision to 

treat date) to first definitive treatment

n Maximum 62 days wait from urgent GP referral for 

suspected cancer to first definitive treatment

n Maximum 31 days wait from diagnosis to start 

of second or subsequent treatment for all cancer 

patients including recurrences

n Maximum 62 days wait from consultant upgrade of 

urgency of a referral to first definitive treatment (no 

performance standard for this target has been set yet)

n Maximum 62 days wait from referral from NHS 

Cancer Screening Programmes (breast, cervical 

and bowel) for suspected cancer to first definitive 

treatment

Accident and Emergency
The Trust continues its excellent and longstanding 

performance of providing high quality Accident and 

Emergency Services and this includes achievement of 

the target for 98% of all patients to be seen and treated 

within 4 hours of arriving at the Accident and Emergency 

department. The Trust’s performance for 2009/10 was 

98.7%.

3.4 Stakeholder relationships
The Trust’s main commissioner is NHS Tameside and 

Glossop. This Primary Care Trust (PCT) accounts for 

approximately 86.6% of all income received from PCTs. 

Most of the remainder of PCT income is spread across 

five other PCTs within the Greater Manchester area.

We continue to work very closely with Pennine Care NHS 

Foundation Trust, with whom we share the Tameside 

General Hospital site, and the North West Ambulance 

Service.

Other key stakeholders are our local authority, Tameside 
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Oldham 
Musculoskeletal Service 
The Trust operates once 

weekly off-site consultant-led 

outpatient clinics with direct 

listing for orthopaedic surgery 

at Tameside Hospital.

League of Friends
The League of Friends 

continues to raise a 

considerable amount of 

money which is used to 

purchase many valuable items 

which it donates to Tameside 

Hospital. In recognition 

of their long service and 

volunteering efforts, three members of the League of 

Friends team have been invited to attend St. James 

Palace to receive a certificate from the Duke of York.

Metropolitan Borough Council, the Tameside Third 

Sector Coalition (voluntary sector), the various other 

organisations that we work with through the Local 

Strategic Partnership, and our Private Finance Initiative 

(PFI) Partners, Consort Healthcare.

In addition to commissioning agreements with PCTs, we 

have a number of agreements with other NHS bodies 

including the following:

Central Manchester University Hospitals NHS Foundation 

Trust – Central Manchester operates our 18 station Renal 

Dialysis Unit which is located on the Tameside site.

Pennine Acute Hospitals NHS Trust – Ophthalmology 

services on the Tameside site are provided by Pennine 

Acute.

Stockport NHS Foundation Trust – Urology Services are 

provided on this site by medical staff from Stockport NHS 

Foundation Trust.

The Christie NHS Foundation Trust – visiting consultants 

and supporting clinical nurse specialists providing an on-

site oncology service.
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Volunteers at Tameside Hospital NHS 
Foundation Trust
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust is fortunate 

in that it has a large and active voluntary service 

department. There are currently 318 volunteers assisting 

staff in the various departments and wards in the Trust. 

The volunteers range in ages from 16 to 90 years and 

bring with them a wealth of skills and knowledge which 

can help to enhance the service given to the patients and 

their carers at the hospital. 

Often volunteers offer their services for a variety of 

reasons; as a thank you to the Trust for the excellent 

service they or a relative has received here, or to gain 

experience of working on a ward to help form a good 

solid basis for a career in the NHS.

Volunteers are carefully selected to work at the hospital, 

using the same selection process as NHS employees, 

with references, health screening and criminal record 

screening to ensure patient safety.

There are many types of voluntary work in the Trust with 

volunteers working in areas as diverse as:

n the Patient Information Centre and hospital reception,

n the Snack Bars or the Scooter Mobility scheme and 

n the ward environment to assist NHS staff to help the 

patients.

Many volunteers are with the Trust for a number of years 

and we recognise this commitment with long service 

awards (both 10 and 20 years) which are presented at 

the Volunteer Thank you Party, held around Volunteers 

Week in June each year. This is just one way the Trust 

can show the hospital volunteers how much they are 

appreciated for their dedication and commitment. 

Community engagement
The Trust is keen that the local community feel its 

heritage is not lost through the HIT project and that they 

are fully involved in the project through it’s ENTHUSE 

(ENgaging Tameside Hospital USErs) campaign and a 

number of initiatives were launched during 2009/10 aim 

to support this.

A History of the Hospital project has been commissioned 

with the support of members of Tameside History Forum 

and the Local History Library to record the history of the 

hospital in a commemorative document as part of the 

opening of the new Hartshead building.

The Trust, Consort Healthcare our PFI partner and Balfour 

Beatty Construction, have worked with local schools 

on a number of projects that both support the schools 

educational curriculum and provide valuable involvement 

in the construction design and process. These include an 

Arts day in St James C of E primary school that created 

health and safety posters used on the hoardings around 

the hospital construction site, a pupil enrichment day 

at West Hill school to support students in preparing for 

working life, and a photography project with Tameside 

College of Technology that produced photographs of life 

in the hospital, that are now on public display along the 

corridors of the hospital.

The Trust will continue to build on the community links 

created through the ENTHUSE campaign with a full 

programme of projects planned for 2010 and beyond.  

We will also be inviting participants back to preview their 

input into the new building once it is completed later in 

2010.  

Community Interest Company
A Community Interest Company is being established 

to fund and deliver complementary therapies to cancer 

patients at Tameside Hospital. This social enterprise 

will be a (not for profit) limited company with the 

stakeholders being drawn from cancer patients and 

community representatives, healthcare professionals 

from the area of cancer and complementary therapy, and 

representatives from the Trust. 



19

Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust • Annual Report and Financial Accounts – 1 April 2009 to 31 March 2010

3.5 Safe and effective services
The Trust maintains a robust and wide ranging clinical 

governance framework to ensure that safe, effective 

and high quality care is provided at all times for the 

Trust’s patients. The framework includes areas such as 

ensuring the currency of professional qualifications and 

registration through to reviewing any clinical incident, 

however insignificant, for lessons that can be learned for 

the future. Other important aspects of the framework 

include learning from patient feedback in the form 

of complaints, claims, and surveys, and ensuring that 

the Trust reviews its systems when criticism is made or 

adverse incidents occur.

Standards for Better Health/Essential 
Standards of Quality And Safety
During 2009/10, Standards for Better Health continued 

to apply, although they have now been superseded. 

The Trust had incorporated the core standards into 

the clinical governance framework and each Division 

applied the standards to ensure that patient services 

were provided safely and are of an acceptable quality. 

During 2009/10, the Care Quality Commission (CQC)

phased in its registration process and since December 

2009, the Trust has been working to implement the new 

standards, which consist of 28 regulations, each having 

an associated outcome of the experiences patients are 

expected to have as a result of the care they receive.  

Following an unannounced CQC inspection visit on 8th 

March 2010, two conditions on the Trust’s registration 

were imposed:-

n The Trust must ensure that by 30 April 2010 it has 

effective systems in place to coordinate and deploy 

suitably qualified and skilled staff to meet the needs 

of patients admitted to Tameside General Hospital. 

Evidence must be made available to demonstrate this 

by 31 May 2010. 

n The Trust must ensure that by 30 April 2010 there are 

sufficient numbers of suitably qualified, skilled and 

experienced staff to meet the needs of the patients 

admitted to Tameside 

General Hospital. Evidence 

must be made available 

to demonstrate this by 31 

May 2010. 

These conditions arose 

because the Trust responded 

to extreme demands on its 

beds by creating additional 

or escalation capacity.  The 

Trust is addressing these 

conditions by converting the 

escalation ward to substantive 

use, as well as working with 

colleague organisations (PCT 

and Social Services) to reduce 

the number of medically fit 

patients occupying hospital beds (which was as high as 

100 during the winter), and hence the overall demand 

for beds.  The Trust, PCT and Social Care are working 

with the Intensive Support Team to understand the 

specific circumstances that pertain in Tameside and 

Glossop, so that a permanent solution can be developed 

which does not allow the situation which occurred this 

year to be repeated.

NICE guidance
The Trust receives guidance from the National Institute 

of Clinical Excellence (NICE), which provides patients and 

health professionals with reliable guidance on current 

best practice in healthcare. The guidance covers health 

technologies (including medicines, medical devices, 

diagnostic techniques, and procedures) and the clinical 

management of specific conditions.  When guidance is 

received from NICE, it is reviewed by a panel within the 

Trust to see if it is relevant to the Trust’s services.  If so, it 

is implemented, with changes monitored to ensure the 

full effect of the guidance is put into practice.

National reports
Every year, the Trust contributes to a number of national 



20

Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust • Annual Report and Financial Accounts – 1 April 2009 to 31 March 2010

enquiries regarding patient care. The findings are 

aggregated into national reports with recommendations 

which the Trust reviews and implements where 

appropriate. The main national enquiries are as follows.

n National Confidential Enquiry into Patient Outcome 

and Death (NCEPOD)

n Confidential Enquiry into Maternal and Child Health 

(CEMACH)

n Confidential Inquiry into Suicide and Homicides (CISH)

n Serious Hazards of Transfusion (SHOT)

NHSLA Risk Management Standards  
and assessment
The Trust is a member of the Clinical Negligence Scheme 

for Trusts (CNST) run by the NHS Litigation Authority 

(NHSLA). The NHSLA has traditionally set rigorous 

national standards to ensure clinical risks are managed 

effectively. Separate assessments are made for the safety 

and standards of care for general hospital services and 

maternity services.

The Trust has maintained its double accreditation at level 

3 (the highest level) in both the  general and maternity 

assessment. 

The Trust is proud of this, as only a small number of 

hospitals have achieved this top level accreditation for 

both areas. This demonstrates that all our services have 

safe systems in place, including good clinical care and 

communication, and effective policies and procedures.  

New standards have been introduced during the year 

and work has been on-going to implement the new 

standards and prepare for re-assessment during 2010/11.

Dignity in care
During 2009/10, the Trust has maintained the philosophy 

that dignity in care is everyone’s business and not just 

the domain of clinical staff. An evaluation of dignity in 

care initiatives was undertaken by independent nurse 

consultant assessors in January 2010. The evaluation 

confirmed that the Trust has continued to maintain 

dignity in care as an integral part of its services.

Complaints
The Trust continues to take all complaints extremely 

seriously.  The continuing developments in Dignity in 

Care have helped to ensure that information about 

how to raise comments, concerns, compliments and 

complaints is widely available across the hospital, in a 

number of formats, including leaflets and posters as well 

as on the hospital website.  This year, 320 complaints 

were received, of which 236 (73 %) were resolved 

in 25 working days or with agreed extension.  In the 

previous year, 315 complaints had been received, of 

which 259 (82%) had been resolved within target.   Each 

significant complaint gives rise to an action plan, which 

facilitates the appropriate changes in systems, practices 

etc, required to prevent a recurrence.  The Trust’s 

performance in relation to complaints is monitored by 

the Clinical Governance Committee.

Patient Advice and Liaison Service (PALS)
The Trust, in partnership with NHS Tameside and Glossop 

(PCT), provides a Patient Advice and Liaison Service 

(PALS) for patients and their relatives/carers. Tameside 

and Glossop PALS covers services provided in the 

community and the hospital. People can contact PALS for 

information about services and advice about problems, 

and PALS staff will do all they can in order to resolve 

any issues as quickly as possible. PALS looks at issues 

from the patients’ perspective and tries to represent the 

patient experience to the Trust. 

Patient safety strategy
Early in 2008, Tameside Hospital joined a select group of 

Trusts working with the NHS Institute for Innovation and 

Improvement on its Patient Safety Programme, which 

aims to reduce mortality and avoidable harm to patients. 

The Trust’s comprehensive Patient Safety Strategy has 

continued to build on the Trust’s successes in addressing 

risk to date.  The Patient Safety Strategy uses extensively 

proven methods which look more deeply into the factors 

which impact on patient safety across the organisation.  

The strategy will be completely revised and further 
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from low to high. Where a risk 

is identified as high, specific 

treatment plans are developed 

to manage and minimise the 

risk. This year, a number of 

changes have been made to 

the Trust’s risk register system 

with regular feedback at 

Divisions and Trust Board.

Training in risk management 

and incident reporting has 

continued to be provided for 

all staff. Significant numbers 

of staff have been trained in 

root cause analysis whereby 

the root cause of an incident 

can be identified and lessons 

for learning shared across the Trust. Solutions are then 

implemented to prevent a similar incident.

A number of risk management reports are produced 

and distributed by the risk management team. There 

is an overarching quarterly report which is distributed 

throughout the Trust and is submitted to the Trust Board. 

Individual Directorates also receive details of incidents 

and risks in their areas, and risk management is a 

standing agenda item on all Directorate Management 

Team meetings.  The Risk Management Department also 

publishes a monthly document which contains a number 

of short and snappy summaries of lessons learned arising 

from incidents within the Trust.

Learning from incidents
During 2009/10, the Trust has maintained close links with 

the National Patient Safety Agency (NPSA) by reporting 

all patient related accidents and incidents. The highest 

number of incidents reported to the NPSA relate to trips, 

slips or falls.  The Trust has continued to develop systems 

to prevent patient slips and trips and significant work is 

on-going to help reduce this type of incident.

Modern healthcare is provided in a high technology 

environment.  The Trust has robust incident reporting 

enhanced during 2010/11, by the Medical Safety Lead 

appointed by the Trust during 2009/10.

Advancing Quality
Advancing quality is a revolutionary programme 

developed by North West Strategic Health Authority, 

which aims to improve patient care, save lives and reduce 

costs. The Trust has been participating in this programme 

since its launch in October 2008.  The focus of the 

programme is on the quality of care being provided to 

patients in four areas of healthcare, as follows.

n Heart attacks

n Pneumonia

n Heart failure

n Hip and knee replacement

The initiative has resulted in reduced re-admissions 

and less complications and patients spending less time 

in hospital. In this respect, Advancing Quality has led 

to patients having a better experience in hospital and 

ultimately a better clinical outcome.

This is the second year the Trust has been using Patient 

Reported Outcome Measures (PROMs) to evaluate the 

patient’s view of the effectiveness of their treatment.  

Unlike conventional patient satisfaction surveys, PROMs 

deal with issues such as whether the patient can 

walk further, do more, and have less pain than they 

experienced before their operation.  This has become 

part of a national initiative and PROMs has begun to be 

used in all major specialties.

Risk management
During 2009/10, the Trust has continued to develop 

its risk management systems and processes.  The Trust 

has a robust Risk Management Committee which has 

expanded its remit to review and monitor a number 

of health and safety activities. The Committee deals 

effectively with all risk issues, including health and safety, 

and also monitors any action plans following incidents or 

health and safety inspections.

The Trust maintains a register of risks which are graded 
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Table 1: Summary of serious untoward incidents involving personal data as reported to the Information  
 Commissioner’s Office in 2009/10

Date of incident 
(month)

Nature of incident
Nature of data 
involved

Number of people 
potentially affected

Notification steps

July 2009

Loss of inadequately 

protected laptop 

from outside secured 

NHS premises

Demographic 

information of 

patients and orthotic 

appliance prescribed

1,716

Contractor to 

contact the 

individuals 

concerned

Further Action on 
Information Risk

The Trust will continue to monitor and assess its information risks, in light of the event noted 

above, in order to identify and address any weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement 

of its systems.  In this case, an encrypted laptop was stolen in February 2008 from an orthotic 

contractor, with whom the Trust no longer has a contract.  A small number of Trusts have 

been contacted with evidence that the encryption may have been compromised. The Trust 

was notified about this in July 2009. A full report has been provided to the Information 

Commissioner, and his decision was not to take the case any further. The likelihood of 

identity theft is negligible, and little clinical information was included (i.e. only details of 

the appliance prescribed).  Planned steps for the coming year include the logging of all 

information assets and a risk assessment of these.

and investigation processes with the aim of learning 

lessons from what went wrong to prevent it from 

happening again. When an incident occurs, it provides 

an opportunity to make improvements. The incident is 

openly discussed with the patient and staff involved and 

the open discussion allows improved learning to take 

place.

Reporting of personal data related incidents
The NHS Information Governance Assurance Programme 

is helping to provide assurance that all Trusts are 

managing information risks, or taking action to address 

any shortfalls. It also establishes a framework for 

assurance to be provided on a recurrent basis. The 

Trust’s Information Governance Committee is tasked 

with ensuring evidence is maintained of effective 

information governance processes and procedures with 

risk based and proportionate safeguards. Personal and 

other sensitive information requires particularly strong 

safeguards. Hence, appropriate controls are in place to 

ensure that risks, including information and reporting 

risks, are being managed effectively.

As required by Monitor, and in line with all NHS 

organisations, the following information on personal 

data related incidents is presented below and has been 

assessed as complete, reliable and accurate. 
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Table 2: Summary of other personal data related incidents in 2009/10

Category Nature of incident Total

I
Loss of inadequately protected electronic equipment, devices or 

paper documents from secured NHS premises.
0

II
Loss of inadequately protected electronic equipment, devices or 

paper documents from outside secured NHS premises.
1

III
Insecure disposal of inadequately protected electronic 

equipment, devices or paper documents.
0

IV Unauthorised disclosure. 3

V Other. 1

National patient surveys
The Trust became involved in two patient surveys 

during 2009/10 as part of the national programme.  

Conventionally, two surveys are undertaken each year, an 

inpatient survey, and a further survey in one other area, 

which during 2009/10 was outpatients.  

Patients were eligible for the latter survey if they were 

aged 16 years or older and attended an outpatient 

department during May 2009. Fieldwork for the survey 

took place between July and October 2009. A total of 

410 responses were made from a total sample of 837 

patients, giving a response rate of 49%.  The national 

response rate was 53%. Overall, the CQC judged the 

Trust to have performed “about the same” as other 

Trusts, although in one area – Information – the Trust 

was judged to have performed better than other Trusts.  

The Trust is very keen to ensure that patients receive 

copies of letters produced by hospital clinicians, and 

performs well in this area.  This appears to be responsible 

for the Trust’s higher score.  Closer scrutiny of the data 

revealed that the Trust has further work to do, primarily 

in the areas of information giving and communication 

between doctors and patients.  A number of actions 

have been developed in response to these findings, and 

implementation will be overseen by the Medical Director 

and Director of Clinical Services.

The Trust also participated in the national survey of 

inpatients.  Patients were eligible if they were aged 16 

years or older and had attended as an inpatient during 

August 2009.  Data received from the survey contractor 

indicate that from a total eligible sample of 828, 410 

completed questionnaires were received, giving a 

response rate of 49.5%.  The CQC has not yet published 

the benchmark data to allow comparisons with other 

Trusts. Further detailed analysis of the Trust’s data will 

take place when these figures are released.

In line with well established processes, the Board is 

formally informed of all patient survey results and the 

response the Trust is making to them.

Mortality 
In addition to ongoing clinical and operational 

improvements, an extensive amount of work was carried 

out by a team of medical consultants during 2009/10 to 

check that the clinical coding of each episode of care was 

consistent with the clinical data contained in the record.  

The work focused on ensuring the primary diagnosis, 

co-morbidities and palliative care are correctly coded. 



24

Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust • Annual Report and Financial Accounts – 1 April 2009 to 31 March 2010

This has had a marked effect on the number of expected 

deaths, and the HSMR has fallen in response.  The Trust 

has never taken the view that the high HSMR is explained 

only in terms of clinical coding. During 2009/10, a 

Mortality Working Group was established under the 

chairmanship of the Medical Director. A mortality action 

plan was developed, with progress regularly reported to 

a number of structures within the Trust, including the 

Board.  The action plan is reviewed at least monthly by 

the Executive Team.   In addition to the coding initiative, 

the Trust’s action plan also includes the implementation 

of a right patient, right bed policy, the introduction of 

a contemporaneous review of deaths occurring in the 

hospital, working with colleagues in the primary and 

social care sectors to improve end of life care, expanding 

the Critical Care Outreach team, implementing care 

bundles, working with an external expert on HSMR and 

mortality, and the appointment of a medical lead for 

patient safety.  During 2009/10, the Trust also became 

part of the North West Mortality Collaborative, which 

includes a number of hospitals from the North of 

England with high HSMRs.

The Collaborative seeks to understand the factors for 

the higher than average HSMR seen in its constituent 

hospitals and to respond to these factors. At the time of 

reporting, data submitted by the Trust from the first 11 

months of 2009/10 have been incorporated into the Dr 

Foster model, and the Trust’s HSMR for the period was 

95.3.This represents a marked fall in the HSMR for the 

Trust, although it is important to recall that the HSMR 

model used by Dr Foster is refreshed each year, and this 

may add a number of points back into the HSMR value 

for the Trust.  Nevertheless, it is expected when published 

later in the current year that the HSMR will be markedly 

lower for 2009/10 than in previous years. During 

2010/11, HSMR will continue to be one of the highest 

priorities for the Trust.  Actions will focus on further 

clinical and organisational aspects of mortality reduction, 

as well as maintaining the gains made through improved 

clinical documentation and coding.

Emergency planning 
The Trust’s Emergency Planning work in 2009/10 was 

focussed primarily on improving its arrangements for 

dealing with Pandemic Influenza, and specifically on 

coping with the effects of Swine Flu.

The Trust, as a member of the Tameside Multi Agency 

Pandemic Flu Group, worked with partner agencies 

in Tameside and Greater Manchester to ensure that 

measures were taken to limit the spread of Swine Flu as 

far as possible and to ensure that any patients presenting 

with flu symptoms were cared for effectively. The 

hospital did receive and admit a number of patients with 

suspected Swine Flu, but the numbers were relatively 

small and the Trust was able to treat those patients 

effectively without implementing its Pandemic Flu 

Contingency Plan.   

During the year the Trust reviewed and updated its 

Emergency Planning Policy, Major Incident Plans and 

Heatwave Plans. Members of Trust staff have also 

continued to engage in exercises and events designed 

to test the Trust’s emergency procedures. The unusually 

heavy snowfalls and extended sub zero temperatures in 

January presented a significant challenge to the Trust’s 

business continuity. Measures which the Trust took to 

support staff in getting to work and in maintaining 

essential supplies, coupled with the dedication shown by 

staff in getting to work during the worst of the weather 

meant that the Trust was able to keep all its services for 

patients operating throughout the period. 

In 2010/11 the Trust’s emergency planning work will 

concentrate on three areas.

n Updating its emergency procedures as required, 

reflecting the changes in the hospital estate following 

the commissioning of the HIT development and the 

decommissioning of the Stamford Building.

n Supporting the work of the Sustainable Development 

Group in identifying risks from climate change and 

ensuring that the Trust is prepared to deal with the 

effects of any extreme weather events.
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n Reviewing and updating it business continuity plans 

as part of its routine quality assurance. 

3.6 Service development
Earlier this year the Trust submitted an entry to 

participate in the National Patient Safety Challenge. Staff 

from all levels within the theatre team were involved in 

the challenge. This was unique amongst the participating 

Trusts and powerfully demonstrated the effectiveness of 

team working at the hospital.

The team were given a challenging hypothetical hospital 

management issue to deal with and to submit an action 

plan by the end of the day. The team were also required 

to give a 10 minute presentation summarising the key 

points of the strategic plan, together with an example of 

an action for improvement.

Over 15 Trusts entered from across the country and 

Tameside Hospital was selected as the winner.

Emergency department
During January and February 2010 the emergency 

department was successful in appointing new 

A&E consultants. This has increased the number of 

consultants within the department from four to seven. 

The consultants will provide enhanced senior clinical 

leadership and support to the medical team. This will 

then ensure that the emergency department is able to 

achieve and maintain a high standard of care for the 

local community. 

The Trust’s capital programme for 2009/10 included the 

provision for upgrading the Emergency Department. 

This upgrade will include a stand alone self contained 

paediatric area with dedicated staff trained to provide 

the essential care to children needing emergency 

treatment. The programme will provide an increase of 

the Trauma/ Resuscitation areas and the modernisation of 

the major and minor injury suite. Along with the increase 

of capacity there will be a number of upgrades to the 

medical equipment which will provide the department 

with the technical advances required. All these 

improvements will enhance 

the patient journey within 

the department ensuring a 

timely pathway from arrival 

to admission or discharge. 

During 2009/10 work has 

been going ahead to plan 

and prepare the necessary 

documentation and tender 

submission. The building 

work commenced in Spring/

Summer of 2010.

Respiratory medicine
The Respiratory department 

has continued to provide a 

service to the community 

with dedicated nursing staff 

to enable a high standard of care in long term illnesses, 

such as COPD and asthma. 

The physicians within the department have worked to 

improve the standards of the diagnosis and treatment of 

patients with lung cancer. This has included the further 

development of a fast track clinic that includes a same 

day diagnostic procedure. To ensure that this can be 

provided, extra capacity has been secured in the Day 

Services Unit. Plans are in place to develop the service to 

a ‘One Stop’ provision which will see clinical consultation, 

CT scan and diagnostic procedure in one day. This 

will ultimately provide early diagnosis and provision of 

treatment options to lung cancer patients.

During 2009/10 the introduction of a Smoking Cessation 

team within the Trust has increased the number of 

cases where support and help is offered to patients with 

respiratory problems that smoke. A smoking cessation 

pathway has been introduced on Ward 40 in association 

with the Smoking Cessation Team. It is hoped to roll 

out this pathway in the near future to address smoking 

cessation Trust wide.
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Intensive Therapy Unit (ITU)
For some time it had been recognised that there was a 

lack of capacity in the ITU at Tameside General Hospital, 

this was resulting in the transfer of patients to various ITU 

providers within Greater Manchester and on occasions 

further afield within the North West. These transfers 

were made by patients requiring the highest level of 

medical and technical intervention and provided a poor 

experience for both patient and relatives. To resolve this 

issue an extra Level 3 ITU bed was opened in August 

2009, bringing the number of such beds to six. Along 

with the increase of capacity there was an increase 

in highly trained ITU nursing staff to ensure that the 

required standard of care is maintained.  

Endoscopy
In response to new clinical guidelines regarding 

endoscopy services, new decontamination washer 

disinfectors have been installed in the endoscopy unit.  

This has ensured compliance with Health Technical 

Memorandum (HTM) requirements.  In preparation 

for the impending inspection by the Joint Advisory 

Group, which aims to ensure the quality and safety of 

patient care by defining and maintaining the standards 

by which endoscopy is practiced in the UK, a rolling 

training programme for all endoscopy nurses has been 

introduced.  Assessment by staff following this training 

has highlighted the improved quality of service now 

being offered within the endoscopy unit. 

Patient Satisfaction Surveys undertaken within the 

endoscopy unit have been used to understand the needs 

of patients and have led to improvements to the area 

including provision of television sets and the introduction 

of a discharge area.  

The Endoscopy Users Group continues to evaluate and 

update all policies and procedures within the endoscopy 

unit.  Through this process, clinical audits have been 

undertaken on a quarterly basis and postal consent for 

all elective endoscopy patients is currently in the process 

of being introduced.  This will not only ensure informed 

consent for all endoscopic procedures, but will increase 

the level of accurate information being given to patients 

prior to procedure and improve communication between 

patients and staff. 

Dermatology
The Dermatology Department at Tameside Hospital 

has experienced considerable expansion over the 

past year with the addition of a fourth Consultant 

Dermatologist post and a second Specialist Nurse. These 

new appointments have allowed the department to 

increase its capacity for consultant led appointments and 

also allowed the provision of more specialist services, 

including a greater number of phototherapy and dressing 

clinics and nurse led cancer clinics.

As results of changes in the provision of Dermatology 

care in Greater Manchester, the Trust has been working 

closely with commissioners in the North East sector of 

Manchester to set up a new Secondary Care Service. The 

department has already started to provide satellite clinics 

in Oldham and further expansion is planned to allow 

patients to continue receiving care within their local 

community. 

In 2009 the Dermatology Team also participated in 

National Cancer Peer Review which is a national quality 

assurance programme for NHS cancer services. The 

review allowed for the service to be appraised using both 

self-assessment and external reviews of teams conducted 

by professional peers, against nationally agreed quality 

measures. The department received a very positive review 

and commented on the high quality of information being 

provided to patients diagnosed with skin cancer.

Cardiology 
In February 2010 the Cardiology department was 

successful in appointing a fourth consultant to the team 

and this has allowed the service to increase capacity 

within core hours. There has also been additional 

recruitment in support services for the Coronary 

Respiratory Investigations department and this will 

assist the department in providing timely diagnostics for 

patients referred to the service. 
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The Trust has continued to develop specialist cardiac 
services which will offer patients more specialist care 
closer to their community. 

There has also been an excellent patient response to 
the existing Cardiac Rehabilitation services provided by 
the Trust which includes an exercise programme based 
within the local community. The aim of this service is 
to provide patients with excellent rehabilitative cardiac 
care, whilst also providing them with information on 
how to maintain their lifestyle changes at the end of the 
programme. Patient opinions of this service have been 
extremely positive and attendance continues to grow for 
the exercise classes. 

Stroke
This year has been a particularly busy one for the 

stroke service. In January 2009, Tameside Hospital NHS 

Foundation Trust joined the Stroke 90:10 collaborative. 

This is a quality improvement project involving Trusts 

across the North West. The aim is to bring together Trusts 

to drive improvements in Stroke care by sharing best 

practice and supporting each other in making changes. 

The Tameside Stroke Team has done a lot of work this 

year with our A&E and radiology departments to ensure 

people with suspected stroke get a brain scan quickly.  

Radiology
The main service development/improvement this year 
in Radiology has been the introduction of two Digital 
Radiography rooms in X-ray 3. This is new technology, 
an improvement on computed Radiography. One was 
installed before Christmas, the second in February. The 
Digital technology enables the images to be viewed 
within moments of the X-ray exposure and removes the 
need to transport the Computed Radiography cassettes 
to an image reader and the delay that causes.

The Digital Radiography (DR) images can then be 
checked by the radiographer whilst the patient is still in 
the room. This improves the workflow through the X-ray 
room benefitting both patients and staff. The images 
produced by Digital Radiography are of a high technical 
standard and it is pleasing to report Tameside is in the 
vanguard of such developments.

A specialist Stroke Response Team was also established 
this year. Their role is to work with staff to receive 
suspected stroke patients in at the ‘front door’ and 
follow their journey throughout the Trust to ensure 
stroke patients receive the best possible care.

This year has also seen the implementation of the 
Greater Manchester Stroke Strategy. This has created 

Stroke 90:10 team 
(left to right): Dr 
Banerjee (Associate 
Specialist in Stroke), 
Linda Chebouli 
(Stroke unit ward 
manager), Hilary 
Troop (Stroke 
Coordinator), 
Steve Cross (PCT 
Stroke services 
manager), Christine 
Camacho (Business 
Manager), Kirsty 
Agnew (Stroke 
Physiotherapist), 
Dr Hameed (Stroke 
consultant)
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specialist ‘hyper acute’ centres for Stroke in Salford, 
Bury and Stockport. This new model will ensure that 
thrombolysis is available to all stroke patients across the 
city. The new pathway started for Tameside patients in 
March 2010 and the Trust has been working closely with 
colleagues from the Stroke network and partnership 
Trusts to ensure this is implemented smoothly and is 
continuity of care for our patients.

3.7 Health Investment in 
Tameside (HIT) Project

The Health Investment in Tameside redevelopment 

project at Tameside Hospital site has made excellent 

progress during the last 12 months with new buildings 

becoming operational in 2009/10.

Part of the project is the construction of a new building 

for Pennine Care NHS Foundation Trust to accommodate 

elderly mental health patients.  This was the first clinical 

building to complete and was handed over to Pennine 

Care in September 2009 and is now fully operational.  

The first patients moved in during October 2009 and the 

building was official opened by David Heyes MP on 26th 

February 2010.

Work on the Trust’s new building has progressed on 

schedule throughout 2009/10 and on 7th May 2009 a 

‘topping out’ ceremony was held to mark the completion 

of the building’s structure.  Performed by Mike Farrar, 

Chief Executive of NHS Northwest, the ceremony took 

place on the roof above the new operating theatres at 

the highest point of the building on the construction site.  

Topping out is a tradition that celebrates a key milestone 

in the progress of the project. 

With the structure complete, work has continued 

internally and the construction remains slightly ahead of 

programme and will be complete and handed over to 

the Trust in October 2010.  It will then be equipped and 

prepared ready for the first patients to move in during 

late November 2010.  

The new building is an extension of the existing 

Hartshead Building and will bring together services that 

are currently fragmented across the Hospital site into 
modern state of the art accommodation.  

Included in the main entrance will be a volunteer’s base, 
enquiries desk, refreshment and retail facilities, patient 
waiting and outpatient’s reception.  New centralised 
Outpatients, Radiology and Pharmacy departments are all 
accessed from the main entrance area simplifying access 
for patients and visitors.

There is a dedicated Children’s Unit, designed with 
the involvement of local children, to meet the specific 
needs of children and their families.  Modern operating 
theatres replacing those currently located in the Stamford 
building, bringing all operating theatres together into 
a central location to provide improved efficiency and a 
dedicated Day Surgery and Endoscopy unit supported 
by single gender patient recovery spaces, removing the 
need for single gender scheduling of appointments and 
enhancing access.

There is also new Inpatient ward accommodation that 
will replace the Victorian wards in Stamford building, 
all provided in single and 4 bedded rooms with en-suite 
facilities, improving privacy and dignity for our patients.

2010/11 will be a memorable year for Tameside Hospital 
with the opening of the new building in November, and 
the HIT project team are working very closely with the 
clinical departments to ensure that the transition is well 
planned and seamlessly carried out so that patients and 
visitors can attend the hospital with the confidence that 
they will receive the highest levels of care. 

We want hospital staff, patients and visitors to feel as 
excited as we are about the new buildings so we will 
ensure that everyone is informed of all the changes to 
site well in advance of the changes, through patient 
literature, local media and onsite information. The Trust 
website already has lots of information about the project, 
including a computer generated tour of the new building 
with the Project Director, Gillian Parker.

We look forward to sharing with you the plans of the 
new development and how it will help the Trust to 
deliver an improved healthcare experience for all who use 

the hospital.
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3.8 Our staff
 “The highest quality of patient care is delivered by staff 

who are ambitious in their expectations of themselves 

and their colleagues, and strive to achieve beyond what 

is legally required of them.”     

NHS Constitution 2009

The Trust has recognised that it is the staff that make a 

difference in providing high quality patient care and our 

goal to become the local hospital of choice is dependent 

upon us delivering against the following staff aims:

n Make work enjoyable and rewarding

n Ensure staff work safely and keep professionally up-

to-date

n Treat patients and colleagues with courtesy and 

respect

n Do our best every day for our patients

n Value and practice teamwork

n Communicate constantly to improve the services we 

provide

n Work as efficiently and effectively as possible

n Give everyone the opportunity to make the greatest 

contribution they can

n Provide a safe and effective working environment.

The national introduction of the pledges for staff through 

the NHS Constitution were welcomed at the hospital. 

They reinforce our local aims and values and have given 

us an opportunity to use them as the foundations for the 

workforce and organisational development strategy as 

highlighted below.

PLEDGE ONE: The NHS commits to provide all staff 
with clear roles and responsibilities and rewarding 
jobs for teams and individuals that make a 
difference to patients, their families and carers and 
communities.

We have continued to develop our people management 

practice at the hospital since we were initially accredited 

as an Investor in People (IIP) in October 2007, the 

national benchmark of good 

employment practice.  In June 

2009, we were re-assessed 

against the IIP and were 

accredited at the higher-level 

New Choices Silver Award, 

demonstrating continuous 

performance improvement 

against the IIP indicators. 

We have continued to roll-

out the How Do You Do It? 

campaign to clinical and 

non clinical teams across the 

hospital, encouraging all team 

members to reflect on how 

they contribute to high quality 

patient care and making 

Tameside the hospital of choice. Posters summarising this 

work are displayed throughout the hospital.

PLEDGE TWO: The NHS commits to provide all staff 
with personal development, access to appropriate 
training for their jobs and line management 
support to succeed.

We have continued to take action to improve both 

the quality and quantity of Performance Development 

Reviews (PDR), with the improvements reflected in our 

scores in the NHS Staff Survey 2009.   We aim to ensure 

that all staff have a PDR at least once per year, with this 

a quality interaction that adds value by feeding back on 

performance and identifying education and development 

needs.

Considerable attention has been focused on leadership 

and management development in 2009/10, with the 

commencement of the Thinking Differently Leadership 

Programme to equip managers with the appropriate 

skills, competencies and behaviours to deliver high 

quality services within available resources.

We celebrated Learning at Work Day in May 2009 with 

an event to recognise the considerable progress made by 
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almost 200 staff to attain qualifications at NVQ Level 2 

and 3.

PLEDGE THREE: The NHS commits to provide 
support and opportunities for staff to maintain 
their health, well-being and safety.

Our Employee Health and Wellbeing Strategy, Healthy, 

Happy, Safe, received external recognition in 2009, being 

named as a runner-up in both the Confederation of 

British Industry/Human Capital Awards and the Greater 

Manchester Employers Coalition Awards. 

Our holistic approach to improving the health and 

wellbeing of employees was praised for prioritising 

employee health and wellbeing and placing this at the 

top of the agenda and for tailoring interventions to the 

specific needs of individual wards and departments. 

Healthy, Happy, Safe is key to the Trust maintaining 

attendance levels well above the NHS North West 

average, although there was a small deterioration in 

sickness rates in the year from 3.5% to 3.9% the Trust 

remains a regional leader in this area.

Despite this, more people than ever before had 

perfect attendance records in the period April 2008 – 

March 2009, with 674 employees receiving letters of 

appreciation from the Trust Chair.  This represents almost 

30% of the workforce.

PLEDGE FOUR: The NHS commits to engage staff 
in decisions that affect them and the services 
they provide, individually, through representative 
organisations and through local partnership 
working arrangements. All staff will be empowered 
to put forward ways to deliver better and safer 
services for patients and their families.

Staff engagement is central to the Trust’s Mission 

and Values statement and, as a membership-based 

organisation, is one of the key benefits derived from 

Foundation Trust status. Employee engagement goes 

to the heart of the relationship between employer and 

employee and can be the key to unlocking productivity for 

organisations and transforming the working lives of staff.

Tameside Hospital, along with the rest of the NHS, 

faces the reality of an end to recent years of growth 

in investment, strategies which increase productivity 

through an enthused, engaged and motivated workforce 

become increasingly important and we have developed a 

Staff Engagement Strategy to drive us forward over the 

coming years.

The key means of staff engagement for 2009/10 were 

through the Staff Partnership Forum and Divisional Staff 

Involvement Forums, with the Staff Members of Council 

having a pivotal role within this.  We continue to develop 

the role of the Staff Members of Council as a conduit for 

staff input to strategy development and actively involve 

staff side partners and Staff Members of Council in the 

Sickness Absence Rates – April 2009 to March 2010

2009/10 2008/9 2007/8 2006/7

Emergency Services and Critical Care 5.0 3.8 5.7 6.9

Elective Services 3.5 3.6 4.2 5.1

Women’s and Children’s Services 4.2 4.4 4.1 5.2

Diagnostic and Therapeutic Services 3.2 2.7 3.5 3.1

Facilities 3.8 3.8 4.9 3.6

Corporate Services 2.7 2.6 2.6 2.9

TRUST TOTAL % 3.9 3.5 4.3 4.9
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design and communication of staff engagement and 

involvement initiatives across the hospital.

NHS Staff Survey 2009
The Annual NHS Staff Survey conducted in the Autumn 

of each year is one of a range of indicators which 

the Trust uses to assess employee engagement and 

satisfaction.  The findings of this annual survey are 

triangulated with other engagement and satisfaction 

tools to inform action planning.  For 2009/10, the Trust’s 

strategic approach took into consideration findings from 

the 2008 Annual Staff Survey, 2008 HSE Stress Audit, 

Investors in People Assessments (2007 and 2009) and the 

Healthcare 100 Survey (2008). 

The key issues across all of these exercises were identified 

and grouped into the following themes for action:

n Leadership and management development

n Work pressure/stress at work

n Staff involvement and engagement

n Training 

•	 Health	and	Safety	(mandatory)	training	

•	 Equality	and	Diversity	training

•	 Performance	and	development	reviews

n Team Development

The Trust has taken an integrated approach to addressing 

the key areas identified within the Organisational 

Development Strategy, which is underpinned by the 

Trust’s mission and values and significantly influenced 

by the Staff Pledges as contained within the NHS 

Constitution.

The Trust scores breakdown as follows for the 40 key 

findings (36 last year): 

Best 20% 2 (3 key findings last year)

Better than average 7 (3 key findings last year)

Average 11 (16 key findings last year)

Worse than average 12 (9 key findings last year)

Worst 20% 8 (5 key findings last year)

Statistically significant changes in scores, when compared 

to 2008, breakdown as follows:

No change  27

Improvements 6

Deterioration 3
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Overall many of the areas have improved from the Trust 

scores in 2008, albeit not significantly.  Only 3 areas have 

shown a statistically significant deterioration from the 

2008 survey so it is disappointing to note that the Trust 

remains below national Acute Trust average in many 

areas and has only achieved 2 scores in the top 20%.

Response Rate

2008 2009
Acute Trust 

Average

Response Rate 52% 51% 51%

Top 4 Ranked Scores

Highest Ranking Scores
Trust Score 

2008
Trust Score 

2009
National 
Average

Percentage of staff experiencing harassment, bullying or abuse 
from patients / relatives in last 12 months
(Lower the better)

22% 18% 21%

Percentage of staff experiencing physical violence from staff in last 
12 months
(Lower the better)

2% 1% 2%

Percentage of staff experiencing harassment, bullying or abuse 
from staff in last 12 months
(Lower the better)

19% 16% 18%

Percentage of staff appraised in last 12 months
(Higher the better) 65% 77% 70%

Bottom 4 Ranked Scores

Lowest Ranking Scores
Trust Score 

2008
Trust Score 

2009
National 
Average

Percentage of staff feeling pressure in last 3 months to attend work 
when feeling unwell
(Lower the better)

N/A 31% 26%

Staff recommendation of the Trust as a place to work or receive 
treatment
(Higher the better, Scale of 1-5)

N/A 3.25 3.50

Percentage of staff receiving health and safety training in last 12 
months
(Higher the better)

59% 66% 78%

Percentage of staff able to contribute towards improvements at 
work
(Higher the better)

63% 56% 61%
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A number of actions are already underway which set out 

to address many of the areas identified:  

n Implementation of the Staff Engagement Strategy 

n Leadership Development (Thinking Differently, 

Productive Ward, LEAN, Resilience)

n “How Do You Do It?” campaign

n Improved communications team

n Substantive establishment of escalation ward 

to reduce reliance on temporary staff and staff 

movements (with the disruptive impact on staff and 

teams)

n Nursing establishment benchmarking reviews

n Review of health and safety training provision

n Equality and Diversity training plan

n Enhanced PDR process for managers (leadership style 

360)

n Continued development of Happy, Healthy, Safe

In addition to these actions, it is also proposed to: 

n Undertake full EWTD Compliance Audit (deferred 

from 2008)

n Continue PDR Recovery Plan 

n Continue Mandatory Training Recovery Plan 

n Attendance Management Policy Review and launch

n Dignity and Respect Policy Review and launch

Each Staff Member of Council will work within the 

division to address locally identified issues through their 

Staff Involvement Forums. 

Equality and Diversity
The implementation of the Trust’s Equality and Diversity 

agenda is the responsibility of all at Tameside Hospital, 

led by the Director of Human Resources in the access to 

employment, and the Director of Nursing in the delivery 

of patient care. This is monitored by the Trust Board for 

continuous improvement and governance purposes, with 

Denise Bates the nominated Non-Executive Director Lead 

for Equality and Diversity.

Progress in striving to become 

an equal opportunities 

employer in which diversity 

is celebrated is monitored by 

a number of working groups 

including the Equality and 

Diversity Implementation 

group. 

In striving to meet our 

statutory duties as a public 

authority, the Trust is currently 

finalising its Single Equality 

Scheme (SES) to build on the 

existing work undertaken 

through the current race, 

gender and disability equality 

schemes and to incorporate 

the additional equality strands - age, sexual orientation, 

and religion and belief, underpinned by the Human 

Rights Act.

On the 1 October 2009 the Trust launched its 

stakeholder engagement and consultation process for 

the SES by inviting everyone to view, via the public 

website, the SES and complete the accompanying 

questionnaire commenting on its format, content 

and vision to delivering Equality and Diversity.  In 

addition to this and as part of the consultation process, 

key stakeholders were also invited to attend an SES 

consultation event on Friday 30 October 2009. This event 

was attended by 50 people from diverse backgrounds 

including staff, service users, members of the local 

community and partner organizations such as Tameside 

Metropolitan Borough Council, NHS Tameside and 

Glossop, Tameside Third Sector Coalition and Proud 

Tameside - LGBT Network.  

This event focused on the positive and negative equality 

and diversity experiences of staff and service users, and 

sought to identify improvement ideas based on those 

experiences.  This was achieved through a series of 

equality based consultation workshops which proved to 
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be a valuable exercise that will further assist in finalising 

the SES.

This first major consultation event for the Trust 

demonstrated our commitment to engaging with the 

local communities we serve and assisted in building on 

the existing, and forging new relationships to improve 

our future community engagement work.  It will also 

assist the Trust in meeting its statutory duties to promote 

equality and diversity and address any inequalities in the 

access of healthcare and employment.

A copy of the revised document and action plan will 

be approved by Trust Board and fed back to the local 

community thereafter.

Tameside Hospital is a Positive about Disability employer, 

with a firm commitment to supporting the employment 

of people with a disability at pre-employment and during 

employment.  A full review of our actions against this 

commitment will be a feature of our Single Equality 

Scheme action plan.

The Trust is committed to employing a workforce that is 

reflective of the diverse community we serve. It produced 

and published the first Equality and Diversity Annual 

Workforce Profile report to cover the period  

1 April 2008 to 31 March 2009.  The purpose of the 

report is to provide a profile of our workforce by Age, 

Gender, Ethnic Origin and working pattern. Information 

related to other equality targets (sexual orientation, 

disability and religion/religious beliefs) are currently not 

routinely collected or collated, but this dataset will be 

expanded as part of the Single Equality Scheme Action 

Plan.  

This report will enable analysis of trends and supports 

strategic decision-making around the actions required 

to reduce barriers to employment and personal and 

professional development.  

Composition of workforce by gender –  
(percentage and headcount).

Composition of workforce by ethnic origin –  
all employees (%)

Male - 469 
(19%)

Female - 1957 
(81%)

Region 1 469 1957

Male - 469 (19%)
Female - 1957 (81%)

White - 82% Mixed - 1% Asian or 
British Asian - 

10%

Black or 
Black British - 

2%

Chinese or 
other ethnic 
group - 2%

Not stated - 
3%
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The following identifies that as at 31 March 2010 the Trust’s workforce is as follows: 



35

Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust • Annual Report and Financial Accounts – 1 April 2009 to 31 March 2010

A more detailed profile can be found in the Equality and 

Diversity Annual Workforce Profile report covering the 

period 1 April 2009 to 31 March 2010, which is displayed 

on our Equality and Diversity webpage together 

with our draft single equality scheme. http://www.

tamesidehospital.nhs.uk/pages/RaceEqualityScheme.asp

Our equality and diversity priorities for 2010/11 will be as 

follows:

n Publication of the Single Equality Scheme and 

associated action plan (to support the move from 

legal compliance to initiating best practice)

n Establish and sustain full programme of equality 

and diversity training for employees, tailored to the 

appropriate Knowledge Skill Framework competence 

level (including the development of specialists and 

leaders)

n Implement improved equality impact assessment 

process (including publication on the internet)

n Initiate and complete data collection exercises to 

support the monitoring, management and action 

across all equality strands.

Composition of workforce by age bands - all staff %

Male - 469 
(19%)

Female - 1957 
(81%)

Region 1 469 1957
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Female - 1957 (81%)

White - 82% Mixed - 1% Asian or 
British Asian - 

10%

Black or 
Black British - 

2%

Chinese or 
other ethnic 
group - 2%

Not stated - 
3%

Region 1 82 1 10 2 2 3

White - 82%
Mixed - 1%
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Total % 1 7 7 10 13 17 17 13 11 4 1
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The Board remains committed 

to achieving the highest possible 

standards of safety and quality, in 

line with its aspiration to be the 

healthcare provider of choice for the 

people of Tameside and Glossop.  

This is a core principle and value 

for the Trust, which underpins the 

nature of its relationship with its 

staff, its patients, the community it 

serves and its partner organisations.

4. Quality at Tameside

Tim Presswood
Chairman

Christine Green
Chief Executive

Part 1 – Statement Summarising the Provider’s View of the 
Quality of Services Provided

The Trust Board recognises the responsibility and the 

accountability it holds for the quality of service provided 

in the hospital.  This document summarises the Trust’s 

quality performance during 2009/10. It is clear that the 

Trust has made significant progress towards some of 

its quality goals (e.g. HSMR, C Diff reduction), but in 

other areas more work is required to attain the required 

standard (e.g. MRSA). 

During 2009/10 the Trust focussed on 3 priorities for 

improvement, which it had agreed with the Board and 

Council of Members. These priorities were:-

n to reduce the HSMR (Hospital Standardised Mortality 

Ratio – the number of actual deaths vs. the number 

of expected deaths); 

n achieve the MRSA target; 

n secure significant reductions in C Diff rate.  

The progress made is described further in the report 

which follows.  

The Trust also committed to driving improvements in 

relation to the three Darzi domains of Patient Safety, 

Clinical Effectiveness and Patient Experience.  Again, 

progress in relation to each domain is described in the 

report that follows.  Improvements in the quality of 

services have been routinely discussed in meetings of 

the Board, the Committees which report to the Board 

(which includes the Clinical Governance Committee, the 

Risk and Corporate Governance Committee, the Clinical 

Governance Core Group), and in other appropriate 

settings within the Trust.

However, the Trust has faced a number of challenges this 

year following the publication of the annual Dr Foster 

Hospital Guide.  The Trust’s reported HSMR was the third 

worst in the country, and because the HSMR also drove 

the Patient Safety score, this resulted in a poor score for 

the Trust too.  This gave rise to concerns being expressed 

about the quality of services offered at the hospital both 
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currently and in the past, which, in turn has prompted 

a review of the Trust’s services by the Care Quality 

Commission, as well as a review of the Trust’s governance 

arrangements jointly commissioned by Monitor and the 

Trust. At the time of writing, the results of this review were 

awaited, and may therefore appear in next year’s quality 

report.  It is critical that the Trust takes tangible, effective 

and definitive action to reduce or eliminate the causes of 

both the perceived and the real concerns expressed about 

the hospital and its services.  This forms the main part of 

the Trust’s corporate objectives for 2010/11.

During the year, the Trust has modified its systems and 

processes to align with the registration process introduced 

by the Care Quality Commission and has reviewed its 

clinical governance structures in light of the learning from 

key documents such as The Healthy Board and the Francis 

Report into the failings at Mid Staffordshire Hospital.  The 

changes arising from these reviews will be implemented 

during 2010/11.

The Trust looks forward to further opportunities to develop 

the quality of its services through the opening of the new 

clinical facilities in October 2010.  

This, the Trust’s Quality Report is the basis for 

developments in coming years and will reflect the 

challenges and the successes of the Trust on the journey 

to quality improvement.  An important change that will 

permeate many areas of Trust endeavour during 2010/11 

is the active involvement of patients and the public in the 

activities and affairs of their hospital. This will be manifest 

in a number of ways, including greater involvement of 

the public in committees, working groups and other 

hospital structures, as well as the introduction of patient 

stories at Board meetings.  The Trust will also continue 

its programme of public meetings, in which each public 

Member of Council will undertake an open meeting with 

their members, supported by senior Trust personnel. 

Overall, the Trust has provided the range of services 

associated with a District General Hospital to an 

appropriate quality standard, having also met all of the 

existing commitments which applied during 2009/10, the 

majority of the National Priorities, and all Core Standards.  

However, there were some important exceptions to 

this position which the Trust will be addressing during 

2010/11. 

To the best of my knowledge, the information contained 

in this document is accurate.

Tim Presswood Christine Green
Chairman Chief Executive

4. Quality at Tameside
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Part 2 – Priorities for improvement and information relevant to 
the quality of services provided

(a) Priorities for improvement
The areas listed below have been selected as priority 

areas for improvement:-

1. Reduce the HSMR to less than 110

2. Full implementation of Right Patient, Right Bed, 

aiming for a minimal use of escalation* beds and no 

outlying**

3. Dignity in Care – undertaking a further phase of 

Trust wide activity to ensure the improvements made 

in the previous programme are still extant (e.g. 

improvements in nurse: patient communication), 

and to implement further initiatives to maintain and 

improve patient care

4. Implement a revised Patient Safety Strategy

5. HCAI – performance at target rate or better for MRSA 

and C Diff

(* - temporary beds provided when demand for beds 

exceeds the bed establishment at the hospital)

(** - the placement of patients in beds of a different 

specialty to that required – e.g. a medical patient in a 

surgical bed)

These priorities were initially agreed by the Board 

(March 2010), and Council of Members (May 2010),  

and reflect the particular challenges confronting the 

Trust.  During 2010/11, the Trust will consult not only on 

these priorities, but also the other indicators which will 

form the basis of the Quality Report for 2010/11.  The 

selection of these further indicators will ensure that the 

Quality Report reflects the three Darzi domains of Patient 

Safety, Clinical Effectiveness and Patient Experience. This 

will be achieved via consultation with the Primary Care 

Trust, LINk, the Overview & Scrutiny Committee, Trust 

Board, the Council of Members, the Clinical Governance 

Committee, the User Reference Group and the Clinical 

Audit, Effectiveness and Patient Safety Committee 

(CAEPSC).   The document will also be placed on the 

Trust website and comments invited from visitors to the 

site.

(b) how progress to achieve the priorities 
identified in paragraph (a) will be monitored 
and measured by the provider

(c) how progress to achieve the priorities 
identified in paragraph (a) will be reported 
by the provider.
Both (b) and (c) are covered in the narrative which 

follows:-

1. Data will be collected from Dr Foster Real Time 
Monitoring system, (assuming Dr Foster remains the 
HSMR methodology of choice).  

 The Clinical Audit, Effectiveness and Patient Safety 
Committee (CAEPSC).  will have prime responsibility 
for ensuring that relevant data are generated and that 
the Trust’s mortality action plan is kept updated and 
implemented.  

 Data regarding changes to the HSMR will be widely 
reported.  Data will be presented to the Board at 
least quarterly, and widely disseminated within 
the organisation.  It will be shared with colleague 
organisations, such as the PCT and LINk, according to 
reporting schedules agreed with these organisations. 

 The Trust will aspire to achieve a sustained reduction 
in HSMR to the (post – rebased) value of 110 or less. 
This will be achieved through the implementation of a 
comprehensive mortality action plan.

 The end of year position will be included in the 
Quality Report and Annual Report for 2010/11.

2. Data on bed utilisation related to the patient’s 
condition are available from the Trust’s Information 
Systems.  Progress against the priority will be 
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the CAEPSC at least every 
two months, and include 
items such as safety in 
theatres, the occurrence 
(or otherwise) of ‘never 
events’; resuscitation 
outcomes; and various 
indicators related to 
healthcare associated 
infection.

 The means of measuring 
the majority of the 
proposed variables has 
been identified by the 
Institute for Healthcare 
Improvement (IHI) and 
the Trust has access to an 
extranet which enables 
data to be submitted and presented.  

 The end of year position will be included in the 
Quality Report and Annual Report for 2010/11.

5. There are already a number of well established 
reporting mechanisms for HCAI, including a monthly 
Board item, which gives rise to a monthly Team Brief 
item, ensuring all staff are kept apprised of current 
levels of performance and their role in improving it.  
As a performance measure, the Trust is also required 
to report cases involving MRSA, C Diff and other 
organisms to a number of external agencies, and this 
requirement will continue.  The objective will be to 
achieve at least the performance levels agreed with 
the PCT on the basis of national targets (not more 
than 90 cases of hospital associated C Diff, not more 
than 4 hospital associated cases of MRSA).  A number 
of structures exist within the Trust and the Health and 
Social Care economy to improve performance against 
HCAI targets, and these structures will continue to 
provide the backdrop to the Trust’s endeavours in this 
area.

 The end of year position will be included in the 

Quality Report and Annual Report for 2010/11.

measured in terms of the proportion of patients cared 
for in the appropriate specialty bed, monitored by 
the Clinical Governance Committee, as well as the 
Trust Executive Group, in line with the established 
reporting regime.  Data will be provided to clinical 
divisions to enable them to assess compliance.  Data 
reporting will be on a monthly basis, although clinical 
divisions will be expected to monitor compliance on a 
continuous basis.

 This improvement will be supported by the active 
implementation of a new Bed Management Policy, 
which is currently under development, and which 
has the achievement of the right patient, right bed 
principle as a central value. 

 The end of year position will be included in the 
Quality Report and Annual Report for 2010/11.

3. A Dignity in Care Steering Group will be re-
established and will identify and agree a programme 
of work for 2010/11.  It will be particularly important 
to ensure the involvement of service users, and/or 
their representatives in this group. The group will 
identify a range of indicators stemming directly from 
the work they undertake, and report to the Board 
and widely within the organisation, on a 3 monthly 
basis at least.  This programme had not commenced 
at the time of writing.

 Information arising from the group’s work will be 
shared with colleague organisations, such as PCT and 
LINK, according to reporting schedules agreed with 
these organisations.

 The end of year position will be included in the 
Quality Report, 2010/11 and Annual Report.

4. The Patient Safety Strategy will include a range 
of measurable variables.  Responsibility for the 
developing the strategy, including identification of 
the variables it contains will rest with the Clinical 
Audit, Effectiveness and Patient Safety Committee 
(CAEPSC). The Strategy will contain a number of 
clearly articulated measures of quality, for which 
positive performance is known to correlate with 
enhanced patient safety.  These will be reviewed at 
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The Trust had identified three priority areas for 
improvement in the 2008/09 Quality Report:-

HSMR (Hospital Standardised Mortality 
Ratio)
For a number of years, the Dr Foster HSMR has been 

markedly higher than 100. The Trust Board had therefore 

identified this as a key priority for 2009/10. 

In addition to ongoing clinical and operational 

improvements, an extensive amount of work was carried 

out by a team of medical consultants during 2009/10 to 

check that the clinical coding of each episode of care was 

consistent with the clinical data contained in the record.  

The work focussed on ensuring the primary diagnosis, 

co-morbidities and palliative care are correctly coded. 

This has had a marked effect on the number of expected 

deaths, and the HSMR has fallen in response.

The Trust has never taken the view that the high HSMR 

is explained only in terms of clinical coding. During 

2009/10, a Mortality Working Group was established 

under the chairmanship of the Medical Director. A 

mortality action plan was developed, with progress 

regularly reported to a number of structures within the 

Trust, including the Board.  The action plan is reviewed 

at least monthly by the Executive Team and covers a 

number of initiatives to reduce HSMR, including the 

introduction of a right patient, right bed policy, working 

with colleagues in the primary and social care sectors 

to improve end of life care, expanding the Critical Care 

Outreach team, implementing care bundles, working 

with an external expert on HSMR and mortality, and the 

appointment of a medical lead for patient safety.

The Trust also became part of the North West Mortality 

Collaborative, which includes a number of hospitals 

from the North of England with high HSMRs.  The 

Collaborative seeks to understand the factors for the 

higher than average HSMR seen in the constituent 

hospitals and to respond to these factors.

At the time of reporting, data submitted by the Trust from 

the first 11 months of 2009/10 have been incorporated 

into the Dr Foster model, and the Trust’s HSMR for the 

period was 95.3.  This is a marked fall in the HSMR for the 

Trust, but it is important to recall that the HSMR model 

used by Dr Foster is refreshed each year, and this may 

add a number of points back into the HSMR value for the 

Trust.  Nevertheless, it is expected when published later in 

the current year that the HSMR will be markedly lower for 

2009/10 than in previous years.
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During 2010/11, the Trust will continue to hold the reduction of the HSMR as the highest 

priority and will focus on further clinical and organisational aspects of mortality reduction, as 

well as maintaining the gains made through improved clinical documentation and coding.

Performance in previous years is summarised in the table which follows:-

MRSA
The MRSA rate has been falling over a number of years, and it was expected that the Trust 

would achieve an overall rate of 12 cases per year during 2009/10. Regrettably there were 

a total of 16 cases this year, exceeding the overall target by 4 cases. Performance in the 

current and previous years is summarised in the table which follows:-
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The MRSA performance is made up of a community element and a hospital element.  In 

2009/10 there were 12 hospital cases and 4 community cases.   The Trust was performing 

at or ahead of trajectory for much of the year, which gave rise to confidence that the 



42

Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust • Annual Report and Financial Accounts – 1 April 2009 to 31 March 2010

measures put in place had addressed the MRSA issue.   

However, 9 of the 12 cases occurred between December 

2009 and March 2010.  This decline in performance 

was taken extremely seriously by the Trust and was in 

marked contrast to the improvement seen in relation 

to C Diff, (see below). Root Cause Analysis (RCA) has 

been undertaken into each case and the findings of 

this analysis have been reflected in a recovery plan for 

2010/11. The Trust is required to meet a very challenging 

target of 4 hospital associated cases or less during 

2010/11 and will take every step to ensure this is 

achieved.

C Difficile
During 2009/10, a total of 132 hospital associated 

cases occurred.  This represents a 30% reduction on the 

2008/09 total of 193 cases, and means that the Trust 

was 48 cases ahead of the trajectory for the year agreed 

with the Primary Care Trust.  In 2007/08 there were 219 

cases.  Before this date, community and hospital cases 

were not separately identified.  For 2010/11, the target is 

90 cases, which equates to 7-8 cases per month.  Given 

improvements in performance during 2009/10, there is 

confidence that this target will be met.

The Trust was randomly selected for a Hygiene Code 

inspection by the Healthcare Commission, who 

performed an unannounced inspection on 22 December 

2009.  The CQC identified two measures on which 

the Trust needed to improve.  An action plan was 

implemented immediately. The CQC returned on 3 

February, 2010.  Their final report states “When we 

followed up, we found no evidence that the trust has 

breached the regulation to protect patients, workers and 

others from the risks of acquiring a healthcare-associated 

infection”. 

During 1 April 2009 and 31 March, 2010, Tameside 

Hospital provided 42 NHS services.

1.1 Tameside Hospital has reviewed all the data available 

to them on the quality of care in all of these NHS 

services.

1.2 The income generated by the NHS services reviewed 

in 1 April, 2009 to 31 March, 2010 represents 100% 

of the total income generated from the provision of 

NHS services by Tameside Hospital for 1 April, 2009 

to 31 March, 2010.

2. During 1 April, 2009 to 31 March, 2010 20 national 

clinical audits and 2 national confidential enquiries 

(Deaths in Acute Hospitals: Caring to the End? and 

Acute Kidney Injury: Adding Insult to Injury) covered 

NHS services that Tameside Hospital provides. 

2.1 During that period the Trust participated in 23 (72%) 

of national clinical audits and both of the national 

confidential enquiries of the national clinical audits 

Part 2b – Information relevant to the quality of services provided

and national confidential enquiries which it was 

eligible to participate in.

2.2  The national clinical audits and national confidential 

enquiries that the Trust was eligible to participate in 

during 2009/10 and the number it did participate 

in, for which data collection was completed during 

2009/10 are listed in Table 1 alongside the number 

of cases submitted to each audit or enquiry as 

a percentage of the number of registered cases 

required by the terms of that audit or enquiry.

2.3 The reports of seven of the national clinical audits 

listed in Table 1 were reviewed by the Trust’s Clinical 

Audit & Effectiveness Group in 2009/10, together 

with a further seven national audits not listed.  These 

are shown in Table 2.  Many of the other audits 

are specialist in nature and are considered by more 

appropriate committees, e.g. blood transfusion, falls, 

stroke, cancer.  Thus all reports of national audits 

are reviewed by the Trust, but the actions required 
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are incorporated into routine processes within the 

services concerned without always developing a 

specific action plan. The Trust intends to develop 

Table 1 national audits: eligible, participation, cases submitted

Eligible to participate in Participated Cases 
submitted

Cases 
required

Cases 
submitted 
as % of 
required

Comments

VSSGBI VSD Yes 36 Ongoing n/a Action plan agreed

NNAP: neonatal care Yes 189 Ongoing n/a Action plan agreed

NDA: National Diabetes 
Audit 

Yes 66 Ongoing n/a Action plan to be agreed when report 
published 

ICNARC CMPD: adult 
critical care units 

Yes 256 to Feb 
2010

Ongoing n/a

National Elective Surgery 
PROMs: four operations* 

Yes 190 n/a n/a 136 PROMS, and 54 POIS. No formal report 
yet received. PROMS is discussed at AQ 
Steering Group on monthly basis, action 
plan is ongoing. Participating areas of the 
Trust are contacted regarding compliance in 
completion.

CEMACH: perinatal 
mortality 

Yes 9 n/a n/a 7 stillbirths and 2 early neonatal deaths 
- no action taken as figures are very low.  
Annual Trust specific report received and 
discussed at O&G Divisional meeting. 
Additional monthly perinatal meeting held 
jointly with paediatrics.

NJR: hip and knee 
replacements 

Yes 170 n/a n/a

NLCA: lung cancer Yes 135 135 100% Patients first seen between 01/01/08 and 
31/12/08. Annual Report was published in 
December 2009.

NBOCAP: bowel cancer Yes 114 114 100% Patients diagnosed between 01/08/08 
and 31/07/09. Annual Report due to be 
published in Summer 2010.

DAHNO: head and neck 
cancer 

Yes 47 47 100% Patients diagnosed between 01/11/08 
and 31/10/09. Annual Report due to be 
published on 26th April 2010.

MINAP (inc ambulance 
care): AMI & other ACS 

Yes 329 to Dec 
09

n/a 75% 439 estimated total submission for the year.  

Heart Failure Audit Yes 120 to 
15/4/10

240 50% On target for 100% compliance by the 
submission date of 03/05/10

NHFD: hip fracture Yes N/A Ongoing n/a

TARN: severe trauma Yes 34 to 
15/4/10

240 
approx

14%

more robust processes in 2010/11 to enable it 

to identify service improvements that arise from 

national clinical audits. 

continued overleaf
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Eligible to participate in Participated Cases 
submitted

Cases 
required

Cases 
submitted 
as % of 
required

Comments

National Sentinel Stroke 
Audit  (Organisational 
April 2009) 

Yes 1 1 100%

National Sentinel Stroke 
Audit  - patient audit

Yes 60 60 100%

National Falls and Bone 
Health Audit (n=60) 

Yes 60 60 100%

National Mastectomy and 
Breast Reconstruction 
Audit 

Yes 54 54 100% All women treated between 01/01/08 and 
31/03/09. Report due to be published in 
June 2010

National Oesophago-
gastric Cancer Audit 

Yes 77 77 100% Patients diagnosed with OG cancer 
between 01/10/07 and 30/06/09  Report 
due to be published in September 2010

RCP Continence Care 
Audit 

Yes 40 40 100% No action taken as yet as the data has only 
just been submitted

NHS Blood & Transplant: 
potential donor audit 

Yes n/a n/a n/a

National Comparative 
Audit of Blood 
Transfusion: changing 
topics  Audit of the use 
of red cells in neonates & 
children

Yes 11 11 100% No action taken yet as report not published

National Comparative 
Audit of Blood 
Transfusion: changing 
topics  
•	 Audit	of	the	Blood	

Collection Process

yes n/a n/a n/a

British Thoracic Society: 
respiratory diseases 
•	 Adult	Community	

Acquired Pneumonia
•	 NIV	(Adult)	
•	 Paediatric	Pneumonia
•	 Adult	Asthma
•	 Emergency	Oxygen
•	 Paediatric	Asthma

To Be 
Confirmed

College of Emergency 
Medicine:  
•	 pain	in	children;		
•	 asthma;		
•	 fractured	neck	of	

femur

To Be 
Confirmed
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Table 2 National Audit Reports considered by CAEC in 2009/10

National audit report Reported to 
CAEC date

Action plans

UK IBD Audit 2nd Round (2008) April 09 Not on Quality Reports list

The National Sentinel Audit of Stroke 2008 April 09 Actioned by Trust Stroke Group.  

Depression screening and management 
of staff on long-term sickness absence: 
occupational health practice in the NHS in 
England

April 09 Not on Quality Reports list – action 
plan done

Back pain management
Occupational health practice in the NHS in 
England

April 09 Not on Quality Reports list – action 
plan done

National Comparative Audit of the Use of 
Fresh Frozen Plasma

April 09 Not on Quality Reports list

National Review of Falls & Bone Health April 09 To be discussed in Falls Group and 
incorporated into ongoing action 
plan

National COPD Audit Report 2008 April 09 Not on Quality Reports list 

NBOCAP Audit Report 2008 April 09 Awaiting response from lead Cancer 
Manager/ Cancer Locality Group

National Audit Report on Care of the dying Oct 09 Not on Quality Reports list – 
strengths/ weaknesses identified, 10 
recommendations

National Neonatal Audit Programme Dec 09 Action plan developed

National Oesophago-Gastric Cancer Dec 09 Report submitted to and actioned by 
the Cancer Locality Group

National Heart Failure Audit Feb 10 Submitted to CAEC.  Action plan 
drawn up 

Stroke Organisational Audit Feb 10 To be actioned by Stroke Group

As a result of these audits, the Trust intends to take the 

following actions to improve the quality of healthcare 

provided 

National Neonatal Audit Programme - 
Action plan arising from 2008 report
1. Appoint a staff member with dedicated time for 

updating the BadgerNet data.

2. Utilise the BadgerNet programme for Neonatal 

discharge /transfer summaries ensure any missing 

data is added at the time of discharge.

3. Ensure that changes to admission documentation 

serve as a prompt for clinicians to record initial 

consultations with parents.

4. Continue on-going discussions, both locally and 

within the neonatal network. Aim to improve the 

consistency of timing of retinopathy of prematurity 

screening.

5. Continue to review and act on accordingly interim 

data provided by the National Neonatal Audit 

Programme team.
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National IBD Audit
1. Involvement of Gastroenterologists to be continued.

2. MDT approach - Gastroenterologist, Radiologist, 

Histopathologist, surgeons to be continued - it has 

been ongoing for the last 18 months ( every 2nd 

Monday of the month).

3. IBD  Nurse Specialists role/ telephone helpline has 

been already established and will continue.

4. Dietician input – Trust to consider making a case for 

nutritional team.

5. Revised local guidelines - Presented to Division - July 

2009 (BSG has published IBD standards in March 

2009 ( BSG site) - standards derived from national 

audit.

6. Pharmacy input to be continued.

7. Consider increasing support for IBD database.

Back pain management
1.  Improve standards of management of back pain in 

Occupational Health.

n Develop protocol with reference to NICE 

guidelines on back pain management.

n Educate managers on need to refer staff with 

acute back pain to Occupational Health – 

cascade procedure to staff.

n Develop tool / aid memoir for Occupational 

Health staff undertaking assessment.

2. Ensure skills consistent within Occupational Health

n Educate all staff managing back pain of need 

to follow protocol and document assessment in 

clinical notes.

n Take part in revisited audit in 2010 by the 

OHCEU.

Management of staff on long term sickness 
absence
1. Improve standards of management of depression in 

Occupational Health

n Develop protocol with reference to NICE 

guidelines on management of depression.

n Develop tool / aide memoire for staff 

undertaking assessment to use as reference.

2. Ensure skills consistent within Occupational Health

n Educate all staff managing long term sickness 

absence referrals of need to follow protocol and 

document assessment in clinical notes.

n Take part in revisited audit in 2010.

National Heart Failure Audit
1. Ensure backlog of cases actioned before submission 

date of 03/05/10.

2. Establish procedures for ongoing data collection and 

input utilizing Heart Failure Nurse, AQ Project Nurse. 

3. Discuss with Cardiology consultants the extent of 

junior medical input into the national audit.

All reports of local clinical audits are reviewed by the 

disciplines undertaking the audit, and action plans 

developed where necessary.  Whilst the audit reports 

and action plans should be reported to the Clinical 

Audit department, this has not always been the case.  

However, the data available to the Clinical Audit 

department shows that

n 130 audits were planned at the start of the year.

n A further 125 audits have been identified  

within the year.

n 41 completed audit reports have been received in 

Clinical Audit Dept.
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Name of Audit Recommended Action

Induction of Labour -  
Obs & Gynae

n	 Consider a ARM (Artificial Rupture of Membranes) sticker with pre and post checks – similar to that 
of Bishop Score sticker (which helps establish if induction will be needed)

Audit of medical record 
keeping standards 
in surgical patients - 
General Surgery

n	 Distribute RCP Standards for Medical Record keeping at each induction session
n	 Re-audit using the same (or new) proforma in 4-6 months
n	 Presentation of certain slides eg. Clexane/Teds showing need for improvement

Adult medicine general 
documentation audit - 
Adult Medicine

n	 Relevant clinical areas/professions targeted and educated straight away- (e.g. A&E clerical staff, 
ward clerks, records department staff) minimise too large case note size, reduce small no. of case 
notes that are in a poor state.

n	 The audit tool is too big and includes non-doctor issues. The audit tool needs to be simplified and 
made specific for doctors so that it becomes easier for various clinical teams to do their own audits 
more quickly on a smaller number of patients. The audit should be repeated in different clinical 
areas using the simpler doctor specific audit tool. 

n	 The junior doctors should be educated/ made aware of documentation standards.  Observation/ 
coaching/ mentoring of their documentation skills by their clinical supervisors on ward rounds etc.   

ENT documentation 
audit

n	 History sheets should have space for patient ID label on the top right side of both sides of the 
history sheet 

Falls audit ICP 
Compliance - 
Corporate Nursing

n	 Improve compliance with Osteoporosis tool via awareness raising – e.g. Trust intranet and screen 
savers, discussion at Divisional Meetings.

n	 Compliance with bed rails assessments needs to be improved via awareness raising: – e.g. Trust 
intranet and screen savers, discussion at Divisional Meetings.  

n	 Improvements to be made in ensuring completion of initial falls assessment and care plan 
completion - awareness raising as above

n	 Review of the policy requirements to ensure that policy is clear and systematic - Undertake policy 
review

n	 Reinforcement of pathway documentation standards

Consent (Adult and 
Child)

n	 Disseminate audit results to each division for discussion through the DMT
n	 Review training presentation and develop a training schedule for 2009 / 2010
n	 Maintain current systems:-

•	 Ensure relevant HCPs undertake on consent training
•	 Monitor return of consent competency forms
•	 Provide monthly consent reports to lead consultants
•	 Disseminate compliance reports through the Risk Management DMT report
•	 Review/address compliance at Clinical Governance Committee

n	 Plan to undertake repeat audit in 2010

Information giving for 
Consent (Adult and 
Child)

n	 Disseminate audit results to each division 
n	 Follow up the actions by divisions to improve compliance
n	 Review consent training presentation to ensure staff undertaking consent are aware of the 

importance of giving and documenting patient information
n	 Include the reason for not attending the Pre-op Assessment Clinic if applicable – need clarity in 

relation to when the consent form was signed.
n	 Plan to undertake repeat audit in 2010
n	 Liaise with the Pre-op Assessment Lead to explore the reasons for not providing written information 

to patients.

Patient Identification n	 Reinforcement of the requirements and professional responsibilities of staff relating to patient safety 
and identity bands  

n	 That the information on the bands is correct and that bands have only the required information on 
them and in the correct format – latter to be addressed by the printed band project

n	 Ensure that babies have the required two bands in place on separate limbs
n	 Further audits to include patient question relating to process of checking of bands

Due to the quantity of audits, not all the actions have been listed here - a sample has been 
included. The Trust intends to take the following actions to improve the quality of healthcare 
provided
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Name of Audit Recommended Action

PARS - Outreach Team n	 Resource files to each ward containing educational matter on PARS
n	 Attend ward meetings to undertake updates
n	 Liaise with Nurse Education staff in ensuring that students are compliant with PARS

DNAR n	 Trust Resuscitation Committee to review the recently published Resuscitation Council (UK) 
recommended standards for recording “Do not attempt resuscitation” (DNAR) decisions (July 
2009), and The Association of Anaesthetists of Great Britain and Ireland DNAR Decisions in the 
Perioperative Period (May 2009) .  

n	 Amend the patient information held on the Trust intranet.
n	 All senior clinicians to be supplied with a copy of the updated clinical guidance with a breakdown 

of any changes.  
n	 The Resuscitation Officers must continue to explain the DNAR process during all Advanced and 

Immediate resuscitation training programmes. 
n	 Repeat the audit process during 2010/11 following the 2009/10  template      

Compliance with head 
injury rehab pathway

n	 Findings to be reported back to the NSF-LTC local implementation group.
n	 No changes need to take place as a result of these findings - however the profile of the head injury team 

and ICP need to be maintained so that patients are assessed promptly and ICP commenced if required.
n	 This audit will be repeated in the future if there is concern that patients are not being referred to 

the appropriate channels.

Management of 
abdominal pain in the 
emergency department

n	 Improved recording/actioning of PARS - To ensure all ill patients have observations recorded and 
PARS score documented.

n	 Increased training.
n	 Improved communication between staff regarding PARS score – Ensure nursing staff inform PARS 

score on all ill patients to Nurse Team Leader. Team Leader to ensure appropriate action carried out.
n	 Improved documentation by nursing and medical staff – Ensure adequate information. Audit 

records in line with RCS standards
n	 Appointment of 24/7 Critical Care Outreach Team

Pre-procedural, 
procedural and post 
procedural care of 
Novasure endometrial 
ablation

n	 Better documentation re: procedural methods
n	 Improvements to counselling system regarding problems if patient were to subsequently become 

pregnant
n	 all hysteroscopy to be done on outpatient bases
n	 consider implementation of proforma for Novasure –with sections on each particular area

Documentation (Hand 
held notes) - Obstetrics

n	 Awareness of audit results - Audit results to be disseminated to midwives at team/ward meetings
n	 Signature sheet not used - Audit results to be disseminated to midwives at team/ward meetings to 

improve completeness of notes

Documentation 
(Medical notes) - 
Obstetrics

n	 Content of audit proforma - Review content of audit proforma with a view to making some 
questions less specific

n	 Re audit to assess compliance with CNST minimum requirements

PCA documentation 
audit

n	 All anaesthetists to be reminded of the importance of the accurate and legible documentation in 
relation to PCA infusions

n	 All anaesthetists to be reminded to prescribe Oxygen for patients utilising PCA infusions, and 
reminded of the new Oxygen Guidelines within the Trust.

n	 All anaesthetists to be reminded that nurses are allowed to administer any of the anti-emetic 
therapy stipulated on the front of the PCA prescription as long as the prescription is signed by an 
NMP, pain nurse or anaesthetist.

n	 Inform all anaesthetic and nursing staff of the importance that the PCA pump programme and 
prescription should correspond, and that they should sign that they have checked this prior to 
discharging or transferring the patient from recovery.

n	 Write to all DNMs to inform them that all staff should be following protocol in relation to the 
frequency of observations whilst patients are utilising PCA infusions.

n	 All nursing staff to be reminded about the correct disposal and documentation of controlled drugs.        
n	 All nursing staff to be reminded about documentation in relation to discontinuing PCA infusions
n	 Staff not giving alternative forms of analgesia prior to a PCA being discontinued - All nursing staff 

to be reminded about this
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Name of Audit Recommended Action

ICU nosocomial 
infections

n	 Review compliance with ventilator bundle
n	 Consider alternative prompts e.g. re-format of ICU charts to incorporate all care bundle features
n	 Further education campaign amongst nursing staff and medical staff
n	 Review prescribing on the ITU
n	 Review antibiotic guidance
n	 Re-iterate unit guidance for VAP when new episodes occur
n	 Await data on timing of tracheostomy in the VAP patients
n	 Review evidence that early tracheostomy influences VAP
n	 Review sedation protocol to allow nurse lead weaning of sedation with aim to reduce overall 

sedation doses
n	 Re-iterate need for daily review of sedation hold on ward round with consultants and staff grades.
n	 Review evidence that nutritional route influences VAP incidence.
n	 Review nutrition in all VAP cases in this years data set
n	 Consider routine NJ insertion in all patients likely to stay greater than 5 days on ICU using blind 

technique
n	 Consider use of Tiger tubes (with higher success rate than above) as rescue therapy - Review 

evidence for this technique and VAP reduction. Evaluate cost effectiveness and consider usage for 
trial period with surveillance screening

n	 Review evidence for decolonization regimes applied daily to all patients in reducing the VAP 
incidence

Retinopathy of 
prematurity

n	 Continue participation in network.
n	 Improve completion and inclusion of data.

Admission to NICU 
babies > 35 weeks 
gestation

n	 Update NICU form to include admission data.
n	 New staff to rotate into NICU.
n	 Incorporate 0² saturations on all babies before discharge.
n	 Undertake transfer from CU.
n	 Produce tick list for observations on babies there are concerns about.

Paediatric Early 
Warning Score (PEWS)

n	 Re- educate nursing and medical staff.
n	 Complete set of baseline observations.
n	 Set up alternative parameters for scoring.
n	 Re-audit
n	 Add copy of PEWS tool to induction pack.
n	 Discuss with DNM re system for ward rounds
n	 Include PEWS score on in house training days.
n	 PEWS score to be included on the ward board

Assessment and 
diagnosis of coeliac 
disease in children 

n	 Re-circulate guidelines
n	 Improve on screening for anaemia 
n	 Re-audit diabetes and coeliac  
n	 Re-audit notes from outpatients

Documentation Audit - 
Paediatrics

n	 Re-audit using the revised tool
n	 To continue to raise the importance of documentation in all staff induction programmes
n	 To liaise with the audit department with regards the revised data collection tool 

Discharge Audit - 
Paediatrics

n	 Ward manager to undertake spot checks compliance
n	 Introduction of New Nurse Led Discharge Documentation
n	 Future audit to assess compliance
n	 Development of new audit tool, suitable for use in Children’s Services
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3. The number of patients receiving NHS services 

provided or sub-contracted by Tameside Hospital 

in April 1 2009 – March 31 2010 that were 

recruited during that period to participate in 

research approved by a research ethics committee 

was 439.  During 2009/10, the Trust appointed a 

Research & Governance (R&G) Manager.  As well as 

ensuring high standards of governance in relation 

to research being undertaken in the hospital, the 

R&G Manager also assists colleagues in developing 

research proposals and accessing opportunities for 

involvement in local and franchised research projects.

4. A proportion of Tameside Hospital’s income in 1 

April , 2009 to 31 March, 2010 was conditional on 

achieving quality improvement and innovation goals 

agreed between Tameside Hospital and any person 

or body they entered into a contract, agreement 

or arrangement with for the provision of NHS 

services, through the Commissioning for Quality and 

Innovation payment framework.

 Further details of the agreed goals for Tameside 

Hospital and for the following 12 month period are 

available on request from the Office of the Director of 

Planning & Performance.

 The goals agreed between the PCT and the 

Trust relate to the maintenance of standards of 

performance and quality in relation to Dignity in Care.

 The total conditional upon achieving quality 

improvement and innovation goals, equates to 

£0.6m.  At the time of writing the total payable has 

not been finalised with the PCT.

5. Tameside Hospital is required to register with the Care 

Quality Commission and its current registration status 

is registered.  Tameside Hospital has the following 

conditions on registration:-

 The Trust must ensure that by 30 April 2010 it has 

effective systems in place to coordinate and deploy 

suitably qualified and skilled staff to meet the needs 

of patients admitted to Tameside General Hospital. 

Evidence must be made available to demonstrate this 

by 31 May 2010.

 The trust must ensure that by 30 April 2010 there are 

sufficient numbers of suitably qualified, skilled and 

experienced staff to meet the needs of the patients 

admitted to Tameside General Hospital. Evidence 

must be made available to demonstrate this by 31 

May 2010.

 These issues arose because of unprecedented 

demand on the hospital’s services, which led to the 

opening of temporary beds with temporary staff, 

or staff moved from other parts of the hospital.  

This was clearly not a sustainable situation and the 

Trust decided to permanently increase both its bed 

numbers and the number of nurses staffing those 

beds.  Further review of staffing levels will take place 

during 2010/11.  The CQC’s requirements had to 

be met by 31 May, 2010.  The Trust has submitted 

evidence to the CQC in respect of this issue and at 

the time of writing awaits its decision. 

 The Care Quality Commission has not taken 

enforcement action against Tameside Hospital during 

2009/10.

6. Tameside Hospital is not subject to periodic reviews by 

the CQC.

7. Tameside Hospital has not participated in any special 

reviews or investigations by the CQC during the 

reporting period (other than the items mentioned in 

this report).

8. Tameside Hospital submitted records during April 

1 2009 to March 31 2010 to the Secondary Uses 

Service for inclusion in the Hospital Episode Statistics 

which are included in the latest published data. The 

percentage of records in the published data:

 - which included the patient’s valid NHS number was:

 99.9% for admitted patient care;

 99.9% for outpatient care; and

 98.9% for accident and emergency care.
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 - which included the patient’s valid General Medical 

Practice Code was:

 99.8% for admitted patient care;

 100% for outpatient care; and

 100% for accident and emergency care.

9. Tameside Hospital’s score for 1 April, 2009 to March 

31, 2010 for Information Quality and Records 

Management, assessed using the Information 

Governance Toolkit was 82%.

 Information Quality and Records Management is not 

a discrete element of the Information Governance 

Toolkit (IGT).  There are two elements which cover 

these topics - Clinical Information Assurance (which 

deals with the records management element and 

on which the Trust is likely to be returning a score 

of 75% on the IGT submission made on 31 March) 

and Secondary Use Assurance (which deals with 

information quality) where the score is likely to be 

88%.  The average over the two elements is 82%.

10. Tameside Hospital was subject to the Payment by 

Results clinical coding audit during the reporting 

period by the Audit Commission and the error rates 

reported in the latest published audit for that period 

for diagnoses and treatment coding (clinical coding) 

were as given in the table below, for the services 

indicated.  The results should not be extrapolated 

further than the actual sample audited.  

 The Trust submits SUS data to the Audit Commission 

on request for a given quarter. Error rates are then 

tested for four specialties. The first of these is usually 

nationally determined.  The remainder are identified 

by the Audit Commission although their decision 

may be influenced by local needs – for example, in 

2009/10, the PCT particularly wished to review knee 

surgery.  The number of completed episodes tested 

for each specialty is given in the first column.

Results of Payment by Results clinical coding audit

Specialty  
(no. of episodes)

Primary 
Procedure

Incorrect %

Secondary 
Procedure 

Incorrect %

Primary  
Diagnosis

Incorrect %

Secondary 
Diagnosis

 Incorrect %

General Medicine (100) 4.4 0 2.0 0.9

Gynaecology (100) 5.1 0.8 1.0 3.2

General Surgery (70) 1.9 2.0 0 0

Orthopaedic – Knee Surgery (30) 0 0 10.0 4.1
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Part 3 – Review of Quality Performance

The range of indicators utilised were selected because 

they relate to the Trust’s corporate objective no.1, 

To improve Patient Safety and maintain the highest 

standards of Dignity in Care.  Their selection reflects the 

requirement to identify a number of criteria reflecting the 

three Darzi domains, having identified the priority areas 

referred to above. 

3a. Patient safety indicators
a. Hospital associated infection rates – MRSA, C Diff 

and line infection rates

i) MRSA, C Diff – please see above.

 Data governed by national definitions

ii) Line infection – ITU

 There were five episodes of Catheter Related 

Bloodstream infection.  The ITU conducts a 

number of continuous clinical audits to ensure 

compliance with best practice guidance.

 Data governed by best practice guidance

b. Never events/Serious Untoward Incident (SUIs).

 The performance measure is that there should have 

been no never events, and not more than three 

bona fide SUIs.  There have been no never events as 

defined by the NPSA and one reportable SUI. 

 Data governed by national definitions

c. Falls 

 The performance measure is that data show a 

reduction on reported cases as compared to previous 

years, with all falls classed as moderate or less severe. 

Overall, there have been 189 falls, as compared to 

207 last year. All falls have been of moderate or low 

grade. 

 The following table illustrates the change in 

performance by quarter. A review of the provisions for 

falls prevention within the hospital was commenced 

during 2009/10.

 Data governed by best practice guidance. 

2005-06 2006-07 2007-08 2008-09 2009-10
Apr-Jun
Jul-Sep
Oct-Dec
Jan-Mar

277 264 226 208 222
332 252 251 239 216
277 241 210 187 153
266 302 222 207 189
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d. Pressure sores (pressure ulcers)

 The table below compares the numbers of hospital 

associated pressure sores between 2008/09 and 

2009/10.  The Trust has made extensive efforts to 

improve services in this area.  The increase shown in 

2009/10 relating to grade 1 pressure damage is as a 

result of education and training of staff to recognise 

all grades of sore (1 - 4) and report accordingly.  In the 

previous year there was some under-reporting of this 

type of sore.  Reliable benchmark data do not appear 

to be available for this indicator, due to variations in 

definitions and reporting.  Pressure sores – decubiti 

– are included in the updated version of the Patient 

Safety Strategy. 

Number of hospital associated pressure sores

 

 

Grade of pressure sore

1 2 3 4 total

2008/09 13 44 12 6 75

% 17% 59% 16% 8% 100%

      

2009/10 28 44 9 5 86

% 33% 51% 10% 6% 100%

 Data governed by best practice guidance

3b Clinical effectiveness indicators
i. HSMR – achieve reduction in HSMR rate. Data 

governed by Dr Foster Real Time Monitoring 
System

The extensive programme of work undertaken in this 

area is described in section 2 above.  

As noted above, data submitted by the Trust from the 

first 11 months of 2009/10 have been incorporated into 

the Dr Foster model, and the Trust’s HSMR for the period 

was 95.3.  This is a marked fall in the HSMR for the Trust, 

but it is important to recall that the HSMR model used 

by Dr Foster is refreshed each year and this may add 

a number of points back into the HSMR value for the 

Trust.  Nevertheless, it is expected when published later 

in the current year that the 

HSMR will be markedly lower 

for 2009/10 than in previous 

years.

During 2010/11, the Trust will 

continue to hold the reduction 

of the HSMR as the highest 

priority and will continue to 

implement and develop its 

action plan, which will address 

both the clinical and non-

clinical documentation factors 

described above.

ii. Postoperative 
complications – reduce 
rate of specific joint 
infections (Total Knee 
replacement).Data governed by national 
definitions

The benchmark rate from participating hospitals is 1.1%. 

There have been five eligible cases in Tameside Hospital 

this year (2009/10), giving a rate of 2%. In the same four 

quarters for 2008/09 the rate was 0.9%. However, this 

percentage is based on quarterly data and care should 

be taken to interpret these rates because they are based 

on a small number of operations. The Trust continues to 

work towards achieving the 1% benchmark or better.

iii. Advancing Quality (AQ) compliance. Data 
governed by SHA level definitions

The target is that the Trust should achieve at least 

median performance as compared to SHA norms. The 

Trust selected the four clinical conditions relevant to the 

services provided at Tameside Hospital. The SHA norms 

have not been fully defined for 2009/10. At the time of 

writing, comparative data were not available. However, 

the Trust achieved the following appropriate care scores 

in the four AQ domains:-

Acute Myocardial Infarction  -  88.86%

Hip and Knee   -  94.59% 
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Heart Failure  -  51.77% 

Pneumonia  -  74.75%

Once the SHA database is complete it will be possible to 

assess the Trust’s relative level of performance.

The AQ results identify areas of non compliance 

and assist in the identification of areas that require 

improvement and development. 

Patient Experience Measures (PEMS) were introduced into 

the Trust in January 2010 to collect patient experiences 

electronically on discharge from across the four AQ 

pathway clusters.   PEMS has since been expanded across 

the Trust for all patient groups to allow benchmarking, 

identification of best practice and to identify areas 

requiring improvement. The first results have already 

been circulated to managers and ward areas.

iv. Stroke – achieve 90/10 performance level. Data 
governed by national best practice audit

The Trust has remained an active member of the 90/10 

Collaborative Project which seeks to attain a performance 

of 90% against the Royal College of Physicians Stroke 

Sentinel Audit criteria during 2010. The 90% score 

is a composite score based on the aggregation of 

performance against a number of individual criteria. The 

Trust achieved an average estimated overall score of 

75% in for the month of February, and 67% for March.  

It is important to note that some of the criteria have 

changed since the last audit, and that these scores are 

estimates. The Trust is undertaking a number of actions 

to achieve the highest levels of performance in relation to 

the sentinel audit criteria. The Trust received two awards 

from the Collaborative Project – 1st for data quality, and 

2nd for most improved team.  

3c Patient Experience Indicators
i. PEAT assessment results. Data governed by 

national definitions

The performance measure is to maintain good or achieve 

excellent ratings on each section.  The National Patient 

Safety Agency assessed the Trust’s results for March 2009 

as “good” in all categories.  The last assessment took 

place in February, 2010 when the following scores were 

achieved:-

Assessment area Mar 2009
%

Feb 2010
%

Cleanliness and 
Environment

88 90

Patient Food Service 94 94
Privacy and Dignity 92 92

On the basis of these scores, the Trust obtained the 

following assessments:-

Site Name Environment 
Score

Food 
Score

Privacy & 
Dignity 
Score

Tameside 
General 
Hospital 

Good Excellent Good

The Privacy and Dignity rating of “good”, is the same as 

for 2008/2009.  Medical Admission Areas were brought 

within the criteria for mixed gender accommodation 

for the first time last year and this produced a lower 

score than 2008. Building work is currently nearing 

completion in the Medical Admission Unit to improve 

privacy and dignity arrangements. However this work 

was underway at the time of the assessment and the 

improvements could not therefore be taken into account. 

The completion of these works will help to deliver an 

improved PEAT score next year. 

ii. Patient movements. Data governed by local 
definitions

The performance measure is that patients will normally 

receive their care and treatment in a single ward or unit.  

Movements to other wards or units will only occur when 

clinically justified, and not for reasons of capacity or other 

non clinical expediencies.  The implementation of right 

patient, right bed should be fundamental to achieving 

this target.  The policy was introduced part way through 

the year, and was compromised by the extreme demands 

placed on the hospital during 2009/10, especially during 

the particularly severe winter.   The table below shows 
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performance during the previous two years.  Overall, 

the proportions have not changed markedly.  A patient 

may have several moves if they need access to high 

dependency facilities or have multiple medical needs.  As 

noted above, right patient, right bed is to be a priority for 

improvement during 2010/11.  The data below includes 

all patient moves, including those which were clinically 

indicated.  The Trust has recognised the need to develop 

a more sensitive indicator for patient moves and this 

will be rolled out during 2010/11 so that its data can be 

compared to other Trusts.   There is evidence to suggest 

that decreasing the number of moves which are not 

clinically indicated can reduce HCAI and other adverse 

clinical outcomes.

iii. End of Life Care Pathways. Data governed by 
best practice guidance

The Trust seeks to provide the best possible care for 

those at the end of life, and is involved in a number of 

initiatives to improve end of life care.  An important 

principle of end of life care is that the person should die 

in their place of choice, and the multi agency structures 

which are developing end of life care in Tameside and 

Glossop seek to support this.  

The performance target for the Trust is that the Liverpool 

Care Pathway (LCP) should be implemented for at 

least 75% of eligible patients. The Trust achieved 52% 

compliance during March 2010, so there is still further 

work to achieve this target, and this will form part of 

the Trust’s overall programme of mortality related work 

Number of Patient moves

 1 ward 2 wards 3 wards 4 wards 5 wards 6 or more

2008/09 71.19% 22.18% 5.31% 0.99% 0.23% 0.10%

2009/10 69.72% 22.80% 5.50% 1.65% 0.23% 0.10%
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during 2010/11. Since the return to post of the End of 

Life Care Facilitator, during the past 12 months there has 

been a steady increase in the number of LCPs used to 

provide good end of life care for eligible dying patients 

and their families. The End of Life Care Facilitator has the 

full support and commitment of the Medical Director and 

the Director of Nursing. 

The focus of the End of Life Care Project has now 

stepped up to concentrate on the requirements of the 

End of Life Care Strategy (2008) and the End of Life Care 

Quality Markers (2009). The purpose is that patients will 

be able to have greater choice in where they wish to 

spend their final days and have good quality care that is 

not only delivered, but has measurable outcomes of care. 

The tables which follow show performance in terms of 

number of pathways used, compared with performance in 

previous years, and the percentage uptake of the pathway 

between November 2009 and the end of the year.

iv. Same sex accommodation compliance. Data 
governed by national definitions

In the case of Tameside Hospital, a combination of 

factors means that the site was already largely compliant.  

However, following assessment by senior estates 

and nursing staff, and in light of a modification to 

Department of Health policy,  it was felt that the Medical 

Admissions and Assessment Unit environment could 

be improved to make it easier to comply with same sex 

requirements.  The Trust was provided with a capital 

allocation of £409k from the SHA, to which £130k was 

added from the Trust’s own capital allocation to effect 

the improvements.  The progress of the capital scheme 

has been monitored by the PCT, who in turn reported to 

the SHA on a monthly basis.  The Trust has undertaken 

the required Department of Health self-assessment of 

the provision of same sex accommodation within the 

hospital.  The outcome is a plan to ensure continued 

delivery of same sex accommodation during 2010/11 and 

beyond.  A declaration of compliance was placed on the 

NHS Choices website before 31 March 2010, in line with 

national requirements and indicating that the Trust has 

eliminated mixed gender accommodation except in some 

exceptional clinical circumstances.
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v.  Performance against key national priorities and National Core Standards

Performance to 31 March 2010

Target Scoring

a) Existing Commitments

Data quality on ethnic group Achieved 

Delayed transfers of care  Achieved

Total time in A&E: four hours or less Achieved

Inpatients waiting longer than the 26 week standard Achieved

Outpatients waiting longer than the 13 week standard Achieved

Waiting times for rapid access chest pain clinic  Achieved

Cancelled operations and those not admitted within 28 days Achieved

b) National Priorities

Infant health - smoking in pregnancy/breastfeeding Achieved

Participation in Heart Disease audits Achieved

Engagement in clinical audits Achieved

Stroke Care Failed

Maternity Hospital Episode Statistics: data quality Achieved

MRSA Bacteraemia Failed

Clostridium Difficile infection Achieved

Referral to Treatment time Underachieved

All cancers: two week wait Achieved

All cancers: one month diagnosis (decision to treat) to treatment Achieved

All cancers: two month GP urgent referral to treatment Achieved

c) Core Standards

No. of core standards applicable 44

No. of core standards declared compliant  
Fully Met - no areas of non-compliance declared

44
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4. Annexes from Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee, Primary Care Trust and Local 
Involvement Network 

Dear Mr Dylak and Dr Mahmood,

Re: Quality Report 2009/10

Thank you for your letter dated 22 April 2010, inviting 

the Personal and Health Services Scrutiny Panel to 

comment upon the Trust’s Quality Report 2009-10. 

I would like to take this opportunity to highlight that 

the Scrutiny Panel welcomes the introduction of Quality 

Reports as a method to enhance the accountability of 

providers of NHS services to the public; and to engage 

the leadership of NHS organisations in the quality 

improvement agenda.

The Scrutiny Panel understands from the Department of 

Health guidance on Quality Reports that the purpose of 

involving LINks and Overview and Scrutiny Committees 

in the production of these new documents is two fold. 

Firstly, to act as part of the ‘assurance package’ by 

commenting, prior to publication, on whether the Quality 

Report is representative. Secondly, to comment upon 

the content, and particularly the priorities, selected for 

improvement for the forthcoming year.

The Personal and Health Services Scrutiny Panel would 

like to thank you for the opportunity to comment upon 

the Trust’s Quality Report for 2009-10. The Scrutiny 

Panel is pleased to see that the Account acknowledges 

concerns raised at the Local Health Accountability 

Conference and by the Care Quality Commission, 

and the Panel notes with interest the priorities for 

improvement. However, Members feel that it is not 

possible for the Scrutiny Panel to provide comments, 

particularly in relation to providing assurance of the 

accuracy of information included in the document, as the 

Panel feels it is not in a position to be able to give this 

kind of surety. 

Members are pleased that the Trust would like the 

Panel to contribute to the development of the Quality 

Report in future years. Indeed, the Panel has always 

endeavoured to engage with the Trust and looks forward 

to maintaining and developing this on-going dialogue 

in the next municipal year; which Members feel can be 

used to inform the priority setting process.

Yours sincerely,

Councillor Richard Ambler
Chair, Personal and Health Services Scrutiny Panel
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“Tameside Local Involvement Network (the LINk) welcomes opportunities for NHS 

organisations to report on the quality of care they provide and to identify their priority 

areas for improvement.  As a network with limited resources, we do not feel that is 

appropriate for us to comment on the specifics in any organisation’s Quality Reports 

unless they relate to a piece of work we have undertaken during the year.  Although we 

started to look at care at the hospital in January 2010 our report relating to this work has 

not yet been completed – we will share this with the hospital in the summer of 2010”.

“Our work is directed by our Board which is elected by our members and priorities are 

set based on what our members tell us is important.  We welcome the commitment to 

share information arising from the Dignity in Care Steering Group with us”.

“The LINk welcomes the regular communication we have with Tameside Hospital NHS 

Foundation Trust and their commitment to consider the report and recommendations 

from our Hospital Improvement Event in May 2010.  We look forward to continuing 

and developing opportunities to work with the hospital on topics our members say are 

important.”

Peter Denton
Co-ordinator, Tameside Local Involvement Network (LINk)

Statement from NHS Tameside and Glossop 
regarding the Tameside Foundation Trust Quality 
Report 2009/10.

NHS Tameside and Glossop has reviewed the content of 

the Quality Report provided by Tameside Hospital NHS 

Foundation Trust.  

Throughout the year quality issues have been discussed 

through the Clinical Quality Review Group (CQRG).  In 

2009/10 provision of information to support monitoring 

of contractual commitments was not as timely or as 

detailed as was required.  Notwithstanding this the 

Trust has consistently engaged with the CQRG enabling 

constructive debate to address quality gaps and to agree 

mitigation plans.  A good example is the response to 

MRSA cases in the last quarter of the year; through 

good dialogue and engagement an action plan has been 

agreed to address issues identified by the root cause 

analysis and further detailed advice is being sought from 

the Intensive Support Team.  Such engagement and 

learning will assist the Trust meet its challenging 2010/11 

targets for MRSA reduction.

The final CQUIN report for 2009/10 shows that of 14 

CQUIN indicators:

n 8 have been achieved fully – these relate to nutrition 

and weight assessments, appropriate catheterisation, 

pressure ulcer incidence, reducing Do Not Attend 

rates, recording of ethnicity, improvements in 

ambulance handover times and emergency 

readmissions; 

n a further 2 were partially achieved – these relate to 

reduction in HSMR and speed of discharge letters 

being sent to GPs;

n and 2 were failed – these relate to time for treatment 

for fractured neck of femur and MRSA incidence.

Two CQUIN indicators are still being analysed and results 

are not known at the time of writing – these relate to 

ratio of complaints to activity and results of the 2009 

inpatient survey.

Contractual arrangements in 2010/11 for CQUINs and 

KPIs have built on these indicators and the Trust has 

agreed to more challenging targets and committed 

to better and more timely reporting to allow regular 

monitoring.

The Trust participated in Tameside Metropolitan 

Borough Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
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Health Accountability Conference in January 2010.  

This conference allowed local stakeholders, elected 

representatives and members of the public to ask 

questions regarding the issues raised in the Dr Foster 

report How Safe is Your Hospital.  The Trust has made 

continued efforts to engage with all its stakeholders 

to seek to address perceptions of quality and we look 

forward to working with the Trust in this process.

For future reports NHS Tameside and Glossop would 

want to see reference to performance measures such 

as achievement of the 18 week referral to treatment 

guarantee.  Tameside Hospital performs very well in 

this respect when compared to other hospital trusts 

in Greater Manchester: it has achieved the required 

standards of 90% of patients who are admitted and 

95% of patients who are not admitted being treated 

within 18 weeks of the referral from their GP or dentist 

in every single month of 2009/10.  Work is ongoing with 

NHS Tameside and Glossop to ensure that the standard is 

met in every specialty and that waits for diagnostic tests 

are improved.  

Having considered the contents of this Quality Report, 

NHS Tameside and Glossop confirms that it considers 

that this Quality Report contains accurate information 

in relation to the services provided to it by Tameside 

Hospital NHS Foundation Trust during 2009/10.

Tom Wilson
on behalf of NHS Tameside and Glossop

How to provide feedback on the quality 
report 
We hope you have found this document interesting 

and useful.  If you have any suggestions about how the 

document could be improved it would be very helpful to 

hear from you, as your feedback may help us to improve 

future versions of the Quality Report.  You can comment 

on any aspect of the document – its form, content, the 

items selected as measures of quality, the interpretation 

we have placed on the data and so on.  It is important to 

remember that some aspects of the format of document 

are prescribed by the Department of Health, and it may 

not be possible to change them.

Please send your feedback to Liz Johnson, PA to Chief 

Executive and Chair, Trust HQ, Tameside Hospital NHS 

Foundation Trust, Fountain Street, Ashton-under-Lyne, 

Lancashire, OL6 9RW, or email your feedback to  

Liz.Johnson@tgh.nhs.uk, marking your email “Quality 

Report”.
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5. Sustainability and
climate change

Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation 

Trust is aware of the potential 

threats presented by global warming 

and of the impact the Trust’s 

activities can have on the climate 

and on the environment. 

The Trust has legal obligations to manage its impact 

on the environment, for example by discharging its 

obligations under the Climate Change Act 2008 which 

contains the targets to cut carbon emissions by at least 

80% by 2050, with a minimum reduction of 26% by 

2020 across the UK. The Trust is also committed to 

improving its engagement with and support for the 

local community by achieving the high standards set 

by the Sustainable Development Commission (SDC) 

Good Corporate Citizen Model for the NHS. There is 

clear evidence that working with partners to develop 

sustainable local economies and to reduce carbon 

emissions can make a real impact on public health and 

improve the well being of the local population.

The purpose of this report is to describe the 

arrangements the Trust has put in place to manage 

its activities in a sustainable way and to reduce its 

carbon footprint. It also describes the progress made in 

2009/2010 in achieving its objectives and the steps it 

proposes to take in 2010/2011 to build on this work. 
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Sustainability strategy  
The Trust has put in place a clear strategy for improving 

its sustainability performance, including responding to the 

challenges of climate change. The strategy is described in 

the Trust’s Sustainable Development Management Plan 

and consists of the following key elements.

1. Establishing effective partnerships with other 

organisations to develop an integrated approach to 

sustainable developments and carbon reduction.

2. Establishing a multi-disciplinary Sustainable 

Development Group, chaired by an Executive Director 

to lead the work on sustainability and carbon 

reduction.

3. Using the SDC Good Corporate Citizenship Toolkit 

for the NHS to measure and improve performance in 

the following areas:

n	 Staff and visitor travel

n	 Procurement of goods and services

n	 Facilities management including energy 

management 

n	 Workforce and employment

n	 Community engagement

n	 Building development 

4. Developing and implementing a Carbon Reduction 

Strategy for the Trust designed to reduce the Trust’s 

carbon footprint by reducing reliance on fossils fuels, 

reducing consumption and minimising waste.

5. Developing, implementing, monitoring and updating 

an annual action plan designed to deliver the 

operational changes required to implement the 

strategy. 

6. Ensuring that the Trust’s emergency planning 

arrangements recognise the threats posed by climate 

change and that effective plans are in place to 

respond to extreme weather events.

7. Developing and implementing an effective 

communication strategy for sustainable development 

so that awareness is raised amongst staff, visitors, 

patients and suppliers and that the Trust develops a 

carbon aware culture.   

The Sustainable Development Management Plan 

identifies duties of individual mangers within the Trust for 

leading on each area of sustainable development work. 

These lead managers are all members of the Sustainable 

Development Group and are accountable to that Group 

for monitoring and updating performance in their area. 

The Sustainable Development Group is chaired by the 

Director of Planning and Performance and he submits 

quarterly reports on the Group’s work to the Trust 

Executive Group.    

The Trust is a member of the Tameside Sustainable 

Use of Resources Group and reports to that Group on 

its sustainable development activities. The Tameside 

Sustainable Use of Resource Group in turn reports to the 

Tameside Strategic Partnership on the multi-agency work 

being undertaken to make Tameside a sustainable and 

carbon neutral community.

Performance in 2009/2010 
The Trust has undertaken a wide range of work on 

sustainable development during 2009/2010, including 

the following.

Partnership working and community 
engagement
The Trust has worked with Partners 

in the Tameside Sustainable Use 

of Resources Group and has 

contributed to the Low Carbon 

Tameside strategy presented to the Tameside Strategic 

Partnership. The strategy sets out the co-ordinated 

work that the Borough Council, Health Organisations, 

Tameside College and Social landlords will undertake to 

create a thriving community economy and environment 

in Tameside.

The Trust has continued to use its Foundation Trust Public 

membership structures and arrangements to discuss 
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and consult on the organisations objectives and service 

strategy. This builds on the Trust’s track record of working 

with User Reference Groups to review and develop 

services. 

The HIT building development project has provided 

wide opportunities for the local community to engage 

in the planning of the project. As well as working with 

local schools to inform the design of the children’s 

department, a number of environmental projects 

have been supported. For example, designs are being 

produced for creating a garden of contemplation in 

the hospital grounds where patients, visitors and staff 

can spend time in quiet reflection. Students from New 

Charter Academy have assembled bird boxes which 

have been placed in the wooded area alongside Darnton 

Road.    

Joint energy management meetings have been 

established with Consort, the Trust’s PFI developer to 

share good practice in carbon management and to 

ensure that appropriate targets are set for managing 

the energy consumption in the new HIT building 

development.

Travel
The Trust has appointed a Travel Co-ordinator and good 

progress has been made on implementing the early 

actions in the Trust Travel Plan. A bicycle hire scheme 

has been introduced for staff and the Trust’s car sharing 

scheme for staff was launched during the year. The 

Trust continued its programme of replacing petrol and 

diesel vehicles with electric vehicles and 28% of the 

Trust’s transport fleet is now powered by electricity. A 

comprehensive staff travel survey was undertaken in 

2009 and the results of the survey are helping to inform 

review of the Trust’s Travel Plan.  

Energy management
The Trust appointed a full time Energy and Environmental 

Manager in December 2009 and the post holder will lead 

the work to drive down the Trust’s consumption of gas, 

electricity and oil. 

The new HIT building 

development at the hospital 

incorporates a Hertz Biomatic 

BM500 biomass boiler rated 

at 500kw. The boiler will burn 

wood chips 

or wood 

pellets from 

renewable 

sources and 

complies 

with all 

applicable 

clean air 

legislation. 

The boiler 

will provide the base heating load for the new buildings 

occupied by the Trust and Pennine Care NHS Foundation 

Trust and will reduce the hospital’s gas consumption. The 

boiler has been installed and will become operational in 

October 2010.

The hospital has installed new intelligent electricity 

meters on all of its main buildings. These meters are 

linked to an internet site that can provide hospital 

engineers with real time readings of electricity 

consumption. The system will allow the hospital to 

compare energy use between buildings over any 

particular time period and to identify any unusual 

patterns of energy use. Plans are in place to install similar 

intelligent metering on the hospital gas supply.

The hospital has purchased a thermographic camera 

which can 

detect the 

amount of 

heat being 

emitted by 

buildings or 

equipment 

and can 

identify 
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where heat is being lost. The camera will be used to 

undertake a systematic survey of the hospital buildings to 

identify any areas which are losing too much heat.

The thermographic image on the previous page is of one 

of the main ward blocks. The bright yellow area in the 

centre of the picture shows that there is an unusually 

high heat loss at roof level. This has been traced to air 

leakage from the roof level plant room, an issue that may 

not have been identified without the use of the camera. 

Carbon reduction targets 
The Trust has made an initial assessment of its carbon 

footprint at a 2007 baseline and its Sustainable 

Development Management Plan sets the targets for 

improvement in energy, water and waste consumption 

during 2009/2010. 

The table below shows the outturn performance for 

2009/2010 compared to the baseline and the target 

consumption for 2009/2010.

Element Carbon Emissions 
2007 

(tonnes of carbon)

Target Emissions 
2009/2010

 (tonnes of carbon)

Actual Emissions
2009/2010

 (tonnes of carbon

Utilities : energy
 : water

3309 
146

3143
142

3188
120

Waste 10 9.7 10.9

Total 3465 3295.7 3318.9

Data on consumption and cost for 2008/2009 and 2009/2010 is shown in the table below.

Area
Consumption Expenditure £

2008/2009 2009/2010 2008/2009 2009/2010

Gas    97,022 GJ    86,309 GJ      757,200      547,700

Electricity    45,469 GJ    40,975 GJ   1,325,500   1,121,300

Oil      3,569 GJ    13,099 GJ        10,300        95,300

Total Fossil Fuels 146,060 GJ 140,383 GJ 2,093,000 1,764,300

Landfill waste     600 tonnes   438 tonnes        69,700           41,800

Clinical waste     399 tonnes   424 tonnes      181,000      181,000

Total Waste  999 tonnes 862 tonnes      250,700      222,800

Water     99,646m³     93,313m³      235,500      267,700

The figures above are based on the most accurate data available at time of publication.

 The Trust was 23 tonnes of carbon (or 0.06%) above its 

target for carbon emissions in 2009/2010. This was due 

to the electricity consumed by the construction of the PFI 

buildings being counted in the emissions. In 2009/2010 

this was equivalent to 115 tonnes of carbon. Good 

progress has been made in saving underlying electricity, 

gas and water consumption and if the consumption for 

the major building work is excluded the Trust would have 

over achieved it carbon reduction target by 92 tonnes of 

carbon. The target for carbon emissions from waste have 

yet to be met. There has been a significant reduction in 

waste delivered to landfill but there has been an increase 

in clinical waste delivered for incineration and further 

work will be done to ensure clinical and landfill waste is 

being effectively segregated.

Future priorities and targets
The Trust has undertaken a comprehensive assessment 

of its current performance on sustainability using the 
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Sustainable Development Commission Good Corporate 

Citizen Toolkit for the NHS. This has set a baseline 

performance for the Trust. The Trust’s Sustainable 

Development Group has set targets for improving the 

Trust’s assessment using the Sustainable Development 

Commission toolkit and for reducing its carbon footprint. 

These targets will be delivered by an action plan set out 

in the Trust’s Sustainable Development Management 

Plan.

The Trust will continue to work closely with the Tameside 

Sustainable Use of Resources Group to develop joint 

initiatives with its partners as well as pursuing separate 

projects on the Tameside General Hospital site. 

The Trust has a commitment to reduce its carbon 

emissions by an amount that is at least equal to the NHS 

target of reducing emissions by 10% by 2015, based on 

a 2007 baseline. Work will focus on the following areas. 

The NHS Carbon Management Programme 
2010/2011
The Trust has been accepted onto the NHS Carbon 

Management Programme for 2010/2011. Membership of 

this programme will give the Trust access to free expert 

advice on carbon reduction schemes and technology and 

to a network of other NHS organisations working with 

the same objectives. The project management disciplines 

introduced by membership of the programme will ensure 

the Trust delivers its carbon management plans for 

2010/2011 and beyond.   

Gas consumption
Reductions in gas consumption will be achieved 

through a combination of investment in energy efficient 

technology and improved energy management practices 

supported by an awareness campaign. Significant 

reductions will be achieved through the commissioning 

of the biomass boiler in October 2010 and the planned 

lifecycle replacement of the hospital main boiler plant 

within the next five years. 

Electricity consumption
The data produced by the 

intelligent metering systems 

will be used to target initiatives 

on the high consumption 

buildings. Capital has been 

earmarked in the Trust’s capital 

programme for investment 

in schemes such as energy 

efficient lighting, improved 

controls for plant and 

equipment and replacement 

of plant motors with high 

efficiency drives.

Water consumption
The Trust has a target of 

saving 10% of its water consumption during 2010/2011. 

Work will concentrate on improving staff awareness and 

targeting high consumption areas.

Waste management
The Trust has a target of reducing the amount of 

waste sent to landfill or for incineration by 10% during 

2010/2011. The Trust’s strategy will be to reduce the 

amount of waste sent for incineration through improving 

the segregation of clinical and domestic waste and to 

reduce the amount of domestic waste sent to landfill by 

re-launching an improved recycling policy. 

Travel and transport
The Trust will seek to reduce reliance on the private 

car as a means of travelling to the hospital by patients, 

visitors and staff. The Trust will promote use of its car 

sharing scheme, bicycle hire scheme and improve the 

information provided on public transport options. The 

viability of offering discounted public transport season 

tickets through salary sacrifice schemes will be explored. 

A comprehensive system of regular staff and visitor travel 

surveys will be established following the opening of the 

HIT development in order to measure the impact of these 

initiatives.
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Improving the hospital environment
Following completion of the external landscaping being 

provided under the HIT building project, the Trust will 

continue to work to improve the external environment of 

the hospital. This will include improving the segregation 

of vehicle, bicycle and pedestrian traffic to make the 

site more user friendly for cyclists and pedestrians, 

creating nature walks through the hospital grounds and 

improving habitats for wildlife in appropriate parts of the 

site.  

Performance monitoring
The Trust Sustainable Development Group will monitor 

achievement of the sustainable development targets. It 

will do this by updating regularly the Trust’s sustainability 

self assessment using the SDC toolkit. It will also 

review achievement of the carbon reduction target. 

Improvements delivered by energy and water reduction 

initiatives will be monitored regularly through meter 

readings. Achievement of waste management targets 

will be monitored by recording the weight of waste 

delivered to the various waste disposal streams. Travel 

and transport targets will be monitored from 2011 

onward by reference to the travel surveys.

The Sustainable Development Group will report on 

progress to the Trust Executive Group and the Board.

The Trust’s targets are also included in the Lower 

Carbon Tameside Strategy and the Trust will account to 

the Tameside Sustainable Use of Resources Group for 

progress in achieving its target reductions. 
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6. Regulatory rating

Below is a table detailing the Trusts planned quarterly risk rating as submitted to Monitor, compared with how the 

Trust actually performed against those plans.

Annual Plan Q1 2009/10 Q2 2009/10 Q3 2009/10 Q4 2009/10

Financial Risk rating 3 3 3 3 3

Governance Risk rating Amber Amber Amber Red Amber

Mandatory Services Green Green Green Green Green

Annual Plan Q1 2008/09 Q2 2008/09 Q3 2008/09 Q4 2008/09

Financial Risk rating 3 3 3 3 3

Governance Risk rating Green Green Green Green Amber

Mandatory Services Green Green Green Green Green

As can be seen from the table, the Trust largely performed to plan in both 2008/09 and 2009/10.
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Following the establishment of the Foundation Trust 

in February 2008, the Council of Members which had 

existed in shadow form for some time, assumed its 

full range of responsibilities as defined in the Trust 

Constitution.  A quarterly pattern of meetings was 

established, with a formal agenda covering both 

standing and ad hoc items.  Attendance at these 

meetings is given in the table which follows.  Three 

committees have been established as sub committees of 

the Council of Members, as follows:

n	 Nominations and Remuneration Committee

n	 Membership Committee; Marketing and Choice 

Committee

n	 Equality and Diversity Group

In addition, two groups report their progress and 

proceedings formally to the Council of Members, namely 

the User Reference Group, and the Disability Equality 

Working Group.

During 2008/09, a cycle of public meetings was 

established.  These meetings involved the relevant 

members of Council meeting with the public 

membership for their area.  The meetings were 

supported by Trust senior staff and attended by the 

7. Governing Council

Member of Council, Chairman, Chief Executive and 

Director of Nursing.

The first public members meeting took place in Ashton 

in December 2008.  This was followed by meetings in 

Glossop in January and in Mossley in February 2009.

An enthusiastic and energetic group of people attended 

the meetings and representatives from the Council of 

Members gave a presentation about how the hospital 

has changed now it is a Foundation Trust, and how 

public members can get involved in what it does in the 

future.  The Council of Members were keen to find out 

what public members want or expect from their hospital 

and their Members of Council.

Access to services was a key theme and we explained 

why some hospital services are delivered at Tameside 

Hospital, whilst others have to be provided in big units 

serving large populations, or very specialised centres such 

as Wythenshawe Hospital or the Christie.

Other issues raised included food, clinical issues, keeping 

services at Tameside Hospital, winter pressures, clinics, 

information for patients, transportation, progress, 

purpose of the members’ meetings, and members’ 

involvement with the hospital.
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Membership attendance

Public Member
14 May 

2009
29 Sept 

2009
9 Feb 
2010

Mr P Roberts Ashton under Lyne ✗ ✗ ✓

Mrs M McGhee/ Mr J Stafford Ashton under Lyne ✗ ✗ ✓

MrJ Hallsworth Audenshaw ✓ ✗ ✗

Mr T Askew Denton ✓ ✓ ✓

Mrs S Knighton/Vacant Denton ✗ ✗ ✗

Mr P Mullen/Vacant Droylsden ✓ ✓ ✓

Mrs E Shorrock/Mr J Fox Dukinfield ✓ ✗ ✓

Mrs J Smallwood England and Wales ✗ ✗ ✓

Mrs G Francis/ Mr A Mee Glossop ✗ ✓ ✓

Mrs B Whiteley Glossop ✓ ✓ ✓

Mr B Nichols Hyde ✓ ✗ ✗

Mrs L Wade Hyde ✓ ✓ ✗

Mr J Hague/Vacant Longdendale ✓ ✓ ✗

Mr R Ryder/Mrs B Anderton Mossley ✗ ✗ ✓

Dr M Matin Stalybridge ✓ ✓ ✓

Staff Member

Mrs C Bradshaw Corporate Services ✗ ✗ ✗

Mrs A Dobson Diagnostic and Therapeutic Services ✓ ✓ ✗

Mr M Taylor/Mrs J Bergin Elective Services Division ✓ ✓ ✗

Mrs H Troop/Mr G Hirst Emergency Services/critical care ✗ ✗ ✗

Vacant/Ms K Wrigley Facilities ✗ ✗ ✓

Mrs W Crowther/Ms C Allen Women’s and Children’s ✓ ✓ ✓

Partnership

Mr M Holden Consort Healthcare ✓ ✓ ✗

Cllr Wharmby High Peak Borough Council ✗ ✗ ✗

Dr R Patel Tameside and Glossop Primary Care Trust ✓ ✗ ✗

Mr S Eyres Third Sector Coalition ✓ ✗ ✗

Cllr B Warrington TMBC ✓ ✗

Jonathan Lea Young Person ✓ ✗ ✗
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Board of Directors
Trust Board meetings are held in private.  There are a 

number of other forums and opportunities designed, not 

only to inform both the staff and the general public, but 

also to generate feedback.

 Start Date Expiry Date of
 in post Term of Office
Chairman
Tim Presswood 1 Nov 2007 31 Oct 2011

Deputy Chair
Mary Black 1 Nov 1999 31 Oct 2007

  1 Nov 2007* 31 Oct 2009

Denise Bates 31 Jan 2008  30 Jan 2012

Deputy Chair from 1 December 2009

(* Reappointment)

Non Executive Directors
Tony Ward** 1 May 2006 30 April 2010

Term of office extended for a further 3 years. 

Robert Corless** 1 Jan 2007 31 Dec 2010

Adrian Anderson** 1 Nov 2008 31 Oct 2011

The Nominations and Remuneration Committee 

determines the remuneration of the Executive and 

Associate Directors and is made up of the Chairman 

and the Non-Executive Directors. Members of the Audit 

Committee are identified by an asterisk ** above.

Executive Directors
Chief Executive Christine Green

Director of Finance Karen Brown 

Medical Director Tariq Mahmood 

Nursing Director Philip Dylak

Director of Clinical Services Adrian Griffiths

The Chief Executive and all Executive Directors are appointed on permanent contracts by the Trust Board.  The 

Chairman and Non-Executive Directors were appointed by the NHS Commissioner for a specified period of time.  

However, the Council of Members became responsible for the appointment and removal of the Chair and other Non-

Executive Directors from the date of authorisation as a Foundation Trust.

Present: Position
30 

Apr
28 

May
25 

June
30 

July
27 

Aug
24 

Sept
29 
Oct

26 
Nov

7
Jan

28 
Jan

25 
Feb

25 
Mar

Mr T 
Presswood

Chairman ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓

Mrs C Green Chief Executive ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓

Mrs D Bates Non-Executive Director ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓

Mrs M Black Non-Executive Director ✓ ✗ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓

Mr R Corless Non-Executive Director ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓

Mr D A  Ward Non-Executive Director ✓ ✓ ✓ ✗ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓

Mr A Anderson Non-Executive Director ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✗ ✓

Mr P Dylak Director of Nursing ✓ ✗ ✓ ✓ ✗ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓

Ms K Brown Director of Finance ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✗ ✓ ✗ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓

Mr A Griffiths
Director of Clinical 
Services

✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓

Dr T Mahmood Medical Director ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✗ ✓ ✗ ✗ ✓

In attendance:

Mr S Gardner
Director of Planning and 
Performance

✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✗ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓

Mr D Wilkinson
Director of Human 
Resources

✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓

✓ - attended          ✓* - deputy attended          ✗ - did not attend
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Trust Board committees
The Trust Board has established the following committees: Audit; Nominations and 

Remuneration Committee: Clinical Governance; Charitable Funds; and Corporate 

Governance.   Each of the Board Committees is chaired by a Director of the Trust Board.  

Audit Committee

13 May 3 June 6 Oct 8 Dec 9 Feb

Mrs K Brown
Director of Finance

✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓

Mr T Ward (Chair)
Non-Executive Director

✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓

Mr R Corless
Non Executive Director

✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓

Mr A Anderson
Non Executive Director

✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓

Clinical Governance Committee 

3 
Apr

1 
May

5 
June

3 
July 

7 
Aug 

4 
Sept 

2 
Oct 

6 
Nov 

4 
Dec 

8 
Jan 

5 
Feb

5 
Mar

Mrs Black - Non Exec Director
*CHAIR

✓ ✓ ✗ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓

Dr Mahmood - Medical Director ✗ ✓ ✓ ✗ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✗ ✓ ✓ ✓

Mr Dylak - Director of Nursing ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✗ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✗ ✓

Mr R Corless - NED ✗ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✗ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✗ ✓ ✓

Mrs D Bates - NED ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓

Corporate Governance Committee 

30  
March

01 
June 

27 
July

29 
Sept

30 
Nov

29  
March

Miss K Brown - Director of Finance ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓

Mr S Gardner - Director of Planning and 
Performance

✗ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✗ ✓

Mr P Dylak - Director of Nursing ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✗

Mrs M Black - Non-Executive Director ✓ ✗ ✗

Mr Adrian Anderson - Non-Executive Director ✓ ✓ ✓

Mr M Dean - Associate Director of Facilities ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓

Mr D Wilkinson - Director of Human Resources ✗ ✓ ✗ ✗ ✓ ✓
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Charitable Funds

21 May 14 Aug 7 Oct 21 Jan

Mr D A Ward - Non Exec Director
CHAIR

✓ ✓ ✓ ✓

Miss K Brown - Director of Finance ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓

Mr P Dylak - Director of Nursing ✓ ✓ ✓ ✗

Remuneration Committee and Terms of Service

24 Sept 

Mr T Presswood - Non Exec Director
CHAIR

✓

Mrs M Black - Non Exec Director ✓

Mr D A Ward - Non Exec Director ✓

Mrs D Bates - Non Exec Director ✓

Mr A Anderson - Non Exec Director ✓

Mr R Corless - Non Exec Director ✓

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee is 

responsible for advising and/or making recommendations 

to the Council of Members in all matters relating to:

n	 the recruitment process for the selection of candidates 

for the office of Chairman or other Non-Executive 

Directors;

n	 the remuneration, allowances and other terms and 

conditions of office for the Chairman, Chief Executive 

and other Executive Directors and Non-Executives.

During the past year, the Nominations and Remuneration 

Committee (NRC) agreed and oversaw the appointment 

to one Non-Executive Director position.  The recruitment 

was undertaken using open advertisement in the local 

media and the selection process involved all members of 

the NRC, supported by an Independent Assessor (in this 

case the Chair of The Christie Foundation Trust), with 

wider Members of Council invited to meet prospective 

candidates on the assessment day.  The successful 

applicant (Adrian Anderson) was offered and accepted 

the post for a three year term.

There are no performance-related elements to Director’s 

remuneration.

Declaration of Interests
All Trust Board members provide details of their business 

and other relevant interests.  A Register of these interests 

is held by Mrs E Johnson, in the Chief Executive’s Office, 

and is available for inspection upon request.  In 2009/10, 

none of the Directors held Company Directorships or 

declared an interest in respect of Companies likely to do 

business with the Trust. 

Disclosure of Corporate Governance 
Arrangements 
The Board of Directors and the Board of Governors of the 

Trust are committed to the principles of good corporate 

governance as detailed in the NHS Foundation Trust 

Code of Governance.

The Board has reviewed and considered Monitor’s NHS 

Foundation Trust Code of Governance and considered 

it complies with all recommended practice, except the 

provision which states that Executive Directors should be 

appointed by a committee of the Chief Executive, the 

Chairman and Non-Executive Directors and subject to 

re-appointment at intervals of no more than five years.  
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All executive directors are on permanent pensionable 

contract and subject to annual review.

The Directors who sit on the Board of Directors possess 

the experience and expertise to give the Board the 

balance, completeness and appropriateness to the 

requirements of the NHS Foundation Trust. The Board 

are currently undertaking a self-assessment using 

a board effectiveness methodology produced by 

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP.

Governance arrangements
The governance arrangements of the Trust include a 

Governing Council (the Council of Members) and the 

Trust Board.  The main role of the Council of Members 

is to form a critical link between the Foundation Trust 

membership and the Trust Board, enabling a two way 

exchange.  The Council of Members has a key focus on 

external relationships and on growing and developing 

the membership base.  However, it remains closely 

involved in internal discussions about developing strategy 

and continually improving the quality of care and the 

range of services provided.  The Chairman and Chief 

Executive form the key link between the work of the 

Council of Members and that of the Trust Board.

The Trust Board is the principal forum for strategic 

decision making for the Trust.  The Board brings together 

the expertise and independence of the Non-Executive 

members with the knowledge and experience of the 

Executive Team to support the on-going management 

of the organisation, as well as strategic direction 

setting.  The Board continually reviews the commercial 

and financial robustness of the organisation, from the 

position in-year, through to the very long timescales 

required to support major capital investments.  The Board 

also provides the focus for all of the Trust’s assurance 

processes, and all self-assessments and external 

declarations.

The Trust Board delegates responsibility of the day-to-day 

running of the Trust’s business to the Chief Executive and 

the Executive Directors.  The Non-Executives hold the 

Executives to account through 

the work of the Trust Board 

and its Committees.

All of the Non-Executive 

Directors on the Trust 

Board are considered to be 

independent.  This assessment 

is based on the information 

contained within the Register 

of Directors’ Interests.  The 

NHS Foundation Trust Code 

of Governance recommends 

that the Trust Board should 

appoint one of the Non-

Executive Directors as the 

senior independent director, in 

consultation with the Council 

of Members.   The senior independent Director should 

be available to members and Members of Council if they 

have concerns which cannot be resolved through the 

normal channels of Chairman, Chief Executive or Finance 

Director.  A senior independent Director was appointed 

during 2008/09 by the Trust Chairman.

The Audit Committee has been established to provide 

assurances to the Board on matters which include, but 

are not limited to, the following.

n	 To ensure that sound and effective systems of 

internal control, including financial control and 

risk management, are in place within the Trust and 

appropriately maintained.  

n	 To ensure that the systems of internal control, 

including financial control and risk management, are 

independently assured.

n	 To protect the Auditor’s ability to investigate the 

Board’s decisions and those of senior Executives.

n	 To establish and maintain Internal Audit and External 

Audit arrangements that meet mandatory audit 

standards and legislation and review the cost and 

effectiveness of these arrangements on a regular basis.
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n	 To ensure that policies and procedures are in place 

with regard to countering fraud and corruption.

The Audit Committee comprises three Non-Executive 

Directors.  The Chairman, Chief Executive, Director of 

Finance, Chief Internal Auditor, Local Counter Fraud 

Specialist and a Senior External Auditor have a right to 

attend (but may not vote).  Other officers may be invited 

to attend as necessary.  The full Terms of Reference for the 

Audit Committee are available on the Trust’s web-site.

Where the Trust is planning to appoint outside 

Management Consultants to undertake work, 

consideration is given to whether the auditors can 

be included in the list of firms to be considered, or 

whether they should be excluded as the work would 

potentially compromise their independence as auditors.  

Consideration is given to factors such as the likely fees 

for the work, these areas in which the work is to be 

undertaken, and whether the auditors are likely to review 

the area as part of their work.

The auditors have their own procedures for concluding 

whether possible non-audit work could compromise their 

independence, or be perceived to compromise it.  In line 

with the ICAEW’s ethical standards, if they cannot put in 

place appropriate safeguards, they will not put forward a 

proposal.  The engagement letter states that the liability of 

PwC, its members, partners and staff (whether in contract, 

negligence or otherwise) shall in no circumstances exceed 

£1m in the aggregate in respect of all services.

The Trust Board includes members with a wide range 

of interests, experience and expertise.  This provides the 

depth and variety of opinion and discussion required 

for effective decision making.  The Executive and Non-

Executive Directors have taken measures to develop an 

understanding of the views of Governors and members 

about the NHS Foundation Trust.  These have included 

attendance at meetings of the Board of Governors and 

attending constituency meetings to engage its members 

and the community it serves. 

Tim Presswood – Chair

Areas of interest – tackling health inequalities and social 

inclusion.  Community finance and social enterprise.

Current/Previous Work – Currently a Baptist minister 

and Chair of Manchester Credit Union.  Previously Chair 

of North Manchester PCT and Non-Executive Director 

of Manchester PCT.  Served as Director of a variety of 

regeneration bodies and social enterprises.

Membership of Trust Board Committees – Remuneration 

and Terms of Service (Chair)

Denise Bates – Non-Executive Director and Senior 
Independent Director (appointed Deputy Chair  and 
Senior Independent Director in December 2009)

Areas of interest – the patient and carer experience 

(quality and safety), planning to meet future needs and 

health promotion.

Current/Previous Work – Fellow of the Institute of 

Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, Non-

Executive Director of Tameside and Glossop Community 

and Priority Services (NHS) Trust 1993 – 2002. Chief 

Executive of a major voluntary organisation in Tameside 

2003 – 2009.

Membership of Trust Board Committees – Nominations 

and Remuneration Committee, Clinical Governance, 

Equality and Diversity (Non-Executive lead).

Mary Black – Non Executive Director and Deputy 
Chair (Retired October 2009)

Areas of interest – R&D, Governance.

Current/Previous Work – Senior Research Fellow Institute 

for Public Health Research and Policy, University of 

Salford.  

Membership of Trust Board Committees – Corporate 

Governance, Clinical Governance (Chair), Nominations 

and Remuneration Committee.

Tony Ward – Non Executive Director

Areas of interest – Qualified Accountant, specialist in 

process reengineering.

Current / Previous Work – Managing Director of 

The experience, interests and activities of the 
members of the Trust Board are summarised below.
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several operations within a UK public limited company.  

Previously the Finance Director of a division within 

another UK plc.

Membership of Trust Board Committees – Audit 

Committee (Chair), Nomination and Remuneration 

Committee, Charities Committee (Chair).

Robert Corless – Non-Executive Director

Areas of interest – building and sustaining competitive 

advantage and organisational effectiveness.

Current/Previous Work – previously a management 

consultant with a large multi-national US firm.

Membership of Trust Board Committees – Audit 

Committee, Nominations and Remuneration Committee, 

Clinical Governance Committee.

Adrian Anderson – Non-Executive Director

Areas of interest - Constitution, Public Private 

Partnership.

Current/Previous Work- Senior Partner in Legal Firm.

Membership of Trust Board Sub Committees - Audit 

Committee.

Executive Directors

Christine Green – Chief Executive

Experience – Career Manager in NHS for over 25 years.

Qualification – HNC Business Administration, Diploma in 

Health Service Management.

Membership of Trust Board Committees – Clinical 

Governance Committee.

Karen Brown - Director of Finance 

Experience – Previously Director of Finance at City 

Hospital Sunderland NHS FT, and held Head of Finance 

roles within the public sector since 1998.

Qualification – CIPFA, BA Hons Theology, MBA.

Membership of Trust Board Committees – Corporate 

Governance Committee, Audit and Charitable Funds 

Committee.

Tariq Mahmood – Medical 
Director (from 1 March 
2009)

Experience – Medical 
practitioner for over 20 years. 
Consultant Obstetrician 
and Gynaecologist at TGH 
for 7 years.  Formerly Lead 
Clinician for Obstetrics and 
Gynaecology and RCOG tutor.

Main interest is in obstetric 
scanning and pre-natal 
diagnosis.

Qualification – MB 
ChB, BMSc, MRCOG, MFFP, 
FRCOG, MD, Diploma in 
obstetric ultrasound.

Membership of Trust Board Committees – Clinical 
Governance Committee.

Philip Dylak – Executive Director of Nursing

Experience – previously Director of Nursing and Patient 
Services at Halton General Hospital, Senior Nurse/R&D 
Manager, NHS North West, Assistant Director of 
Nursing at Central Manchester Healthcare Trust.  

Qualification – BSc (Hons), MSc (by research), Registered 
Nurse.

Membership of Trust Board Committees – Clinical 
Governance Committee, Corporate Governance 
Committee, Charitable Funds Committee.

Adrian Griffiths – Executive Director of Clinical 
Services 

Experience – previous areas of work include general 
management posts in Surgical Services, Neurosciences 
and Radiology at Hope Hospital, and administrative posts 
in Bury, Regional Headquarters and North Manchester.  
Eight years’ experience as an Executive Director at 
Tameside Hospital, the last five years as Director of 
Clinical Services.

Qualification – BA (Hons) History, M.Phil. History, Diploma 

in Health Services Management.
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The Trust membership comprises 

a Public Constituency and a Staff 

Constituency.  

Public Constituency
The table below summarises the boundaries for public 

membership, the approximate population of the 

membership, the minimum size of membership and the 

number of Members of Council for each area.  The areas 

are based on electoral wards.

Area Population (circa) Minimum size of membership No. of Members of Council

Ashton under Lyne 45,000 94 2

Audenshaw 11,000 23 1

Denton 34,000 71 2

Droylsden 23,000 48 1

Dukinfield 23,000 48 1

Hyde 34,000 71 2

Longdendale 10,000 21 1

Mossley 10,000 21 1

Stalybridge 22,000 46 1

Glossop 28,000 59 2

England and Wales 53,000,000 50 1

8. Membership
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An individual aged 16 years or over who lives in one 

of the above areas can become a member of the Trust 

following completion of the appropriate application form 

which is available both on–line and in paper formats.  

Public Members of council are elected for a period of 

three years, and are eligible for re-election at the end of 

that period although they may not hold office for longer 

than 9 consecutive years.

Staff Constituency
The table below summarises the six classes into which 

the staff membership is divided.  The minimum size of 

membership for each class is also given, and is to be 

50% of the eligible staff in the constituency.  The classes 

are based on the configuration of the organisation, as 

follows.

Class Minimum 
size of 

membership

No. of
Members of 

Council

Emergency Services 
and Critical Care

643 1

Diagnostic and 
Therapeutic Services

318 1

Women’s and 
Children’s Services

378 1

Elective Services 546 1

Facilities 140 1

Corporate Services 354 1

Individuals aged 16 years or over who are employed by 

the Trust, or are not employed but exercise functions 

for the Trust, are eligible for membership of the staff 

constituency without application, provided they endorse 

the values and principles of the Trust.  The period of 

employment must be at least 12 months.  An individual 

who is eligible to be a member of the Staff Constituency 

cannot also be a member of the Public Constituency, and 

therefore cannot become or continue as a member of 

more than one class.

Public Members of council are elected for a period of 

three years, and are eligible 

for re-election at the end of 

that period although they may 

not hold office for longer than 

nine consecutive years.

Changes to Council of 
Members 2009/10
During the year the 

following changes occurred 

in the composition in the 

membership of the Council of 

Members:-

With regard to the Public 

constituency the following 

members resigned and were 

replaced by the following.

Joseph Hague resigned as member for Longdendale 

(October 2009)

Sharon Knighton became ineligible to be a member for 

Denton (November 2009)

Joining Members
Public –  
Andrew Mee nominated as member for Glossop 

(April 2009)

James Stafford elected as member for Ashton  

(February 2010)

John Fox elected as member for Dukinfield  

(February 2010)

Lesley Wade re-elected as member for Hyde  

(February 2010) 

Barbara Whitely re-elected as member for Glossop 

(February 2010)

Barbara Anderton elected as member for Mossley 

(February 2010)

With regard to the staff constituency the following 

members resigned and were replaced by the following:
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Staff-

John Clarke resigned as Member for Facilities 

(September 2009)

Kath Wrigley elected unopposed as Member for Facilities 

Services (January 2010)

Cathy Allen elected unopposed as Member for Women 

and Children’s Services (January 2010)

Jacky Bergin elected unopposed as Member for Elective 

Services (January 2010).

Partnership-  
There have been no changes to the partnership members 

for 2009/10.

Following discussions at the May 2008 meeting of the 

Council of Members, the process for determining the 

length of Terms of Office for Public Members of Council 

and Staff Members of Council was implemented on 21 

May, 2008.  This process was undertaken to fulfil the 

requirements of the Constitution of the Foundation Trust. 

This requires that Terms of Office for the initially elected 

Members of Council be staggered, with allocations of 

a two or three year term being offered initially in equal 

proportion.    This requirement only applies once, so that 

in future anyone elected or re-elected to the Council of 

Members will enjoy tenure of three years before having 

to seek re-election.    Election processes were initiated to 

ensure a full complement of elected members at  

1 February , 2010, two years after Tameside Hospital was 

authorised as a Foundation Trust.  The public member 

vacancies arose in the townships of Ashton Under Lyne, 

Denton, Dukinfield, Glossop, Hyde, Longendale and 

Mossley.  Members were appointed in all but two of 

these areas, Denton (where a subsequent by election 

has led to the appointment of a new member) and 

Longdendale, where no candidate came forward.  A 

further by election is planned for this area.  In the staff 

constituency, vacancies arose in Elective Services, Facilities 

and the Women’s and Children’s divisions, and all were 

successfully filled.

Eligibility and exclusion
Both public and staff members can be excluded from 

membership.  The Trust Constitution contains full details 

of the conditions for disqualification from membership – 

the list which follows summarises the situations in which 

this can occur. Members can be disqualified if they have:-

n	 been classified as a vexatious complainant,

n	 verbally or physically assaulted a Trust employee, 

volunteer, patient or visitor,

n	 been dismissed from the employment of the Trust 

(certain exclusions apply),

n	 sanctioned under the Trust’s Zero Tolerance Policy,

n	 registered as a sex offender,

n	 failed to agree to abide by the Trust’s values and 

principles,

n	 made a false application or statement in relation 

to their membership or election to the Council of 

Members, or

n	 acted in a manner that is contrary to the Trust’s 

principles and objectives. 

If an individual ceases to be employed by the Trust, or 

perform functions on behalf of the Trust, they are no 

longer eligible for membership of the staff constituency.

Membership numbers
The following table shows the number of public 

members in each area as at March 2010.  In each case, 

the minimum target membership has been exceeded.

Ashton 1125

Audenshaw 236

Denton 724

Droylsden 392

Dukinfield 599

Glossop 712

Hyde 901
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Longdendale 304

Mossley 204

Stalybridge 582

England and Wales 233

TOTAL 6012

The Staff Constituency membership currently stands at 

2379. To date, only four members of staff have opted 

out of membership of the staff constituency.

Membership strategy
The Trust maintains a data base of membership.   This 

enables analysis of the composition of the membership 

which provides a matrix for membership drives.    A 

Membership Committee, comprising Members of 

Council and supported by the Executive Director lead 

on Membership, has been formed to look at specific 

ways of increasing membership in line with the Trust’s 

Membership Strategy.  The Membership Committee has 

advised on the processes for becoming a member and 

the presentation of the documentation used to join the 

Trust, known as joining slips.  The Trust provides these 

slips to:-

n	 every patient attending the Outpatient Department;

n	 everyone using the Patient Advice and Liaison Service;

n	 everyone using the Infopatient patient information 

service;

n	 each family with which the Trust’s paediatric nurses 

come in contact – both hospital and community, and

n	 each family with which the Trust’s midwives come in 

contact.

Targeting these large throughput areas in a more 

explicit way is expected to lead to further increases in 

membership, which will be reflected in an ever more 

representative composition over time. During 2009/10, 

whilst membership numbers increased, it was not by 

the volume anticipated. This year there will be further 

efforts to implement a variety of recruitment activities, 

coordinated via the Trust’s Marketing and Membership 

Group.

Contact 
procedures
To facilitate contact between 

members and Members of 

Council and/or Directors, the 

hospital website contains the 

names, areas of responsibility 

and contact details (email, 

telephone and mail) for all of 

the Members of Council and 

all of the Directors.

A register of interests for the 

Council of Members is held 

by the Director of Nursing and 

is available for inspection on 

request.
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Overview
The financial year 2009/10 is the second full year of 

operation as an NHS Foundation Trust.  After making 

enquiries the Directors have a reasonable expectation 

that the NHS Foundation Trust has adequate resources 

to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable 

future.  For this reason they continue to adopt the going 

concern basis in preparing the accounts.

The Directors considered the following factors in 

concluding that the organisation is a going concern;

n	 outturn position for 2009/10 and the 2010/11 annual 

plan, 

n	 the level and basis of contracted income for 2010/11,

n	 the ongoing impact of the new Payment by Results 

tariffs,

9. Financial statements

n	 the cash flow position, including sensitivity analysis,

n	 the planned investment in the Trust’s infrastructure, 

n	 the Trust’s overall service strategy which has previously 

been shared with the Trust’s key partner the Primary 

Care Trust,

n	 the potential risks and uncertainties identified, 

including the potential impact of planned demand 

management initiatives.

Financial position
The Trust’s accounts are included in the annual accounts 

section of this report and show a surplus of £0.71m 

for the year prior to impairments of £4.95m, resulting 

in a deficit of £4.24m.  The financial plan agreed with 

Monitor had shown a surplus of £1.31m for the year 

prior to impairments.
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The table below summarises the income and expenditure position for the year.

 
 

 2009/10
£m

2008/09
£m

Operating 
Income
 
 

Income from activities 127.54 117.02

Other operating income 11.69 12.46

Total Income 139.23 129.48

Operating 
Expenses

Pay costs 94.92 88.05

Non-pay costs 35.55 31.77

Total costs 130.47 119.82

Operating Surplus 8.77 9.66

Technical 
Items
 
 
 
 
 
 

Loss on asset disposal 0.10 0.00

Exceptional Costs (fixed asset impairment) 4.95 2.62

Depreciation 5.12 4.97

Finance Income 0.06 0.48

Finance expenses - financial liabilities 0.16 0.12

Finance expenses -unwinding discount on 
provisions

0.01 0.01

PDC Dividends payable 2.74 4.38

(Deficit) from continuing operations -4.24 -1.97

Surplus from continuing operations - excluding 
impairments

0.71 0.66

Note: The 2008/09 figures are on a comparable restated 

IFRS basis with the 2009/10 figures. All NHS bodies were 

required to adopt IFRS in 2009/10.

The Trust’s cash balances as at the 31 March 2010 were 

£10.72m against a planned target of £7.37m.

Financial performance
Key headline financial indicators are as follows;

n	 The Trust achieved a surplus of £0.71m, excluding 

impairments.

n	 The year end cash balances were £10.72m with no 

draw down on the working capital facility

n	 Capital investment of £4.73m

n	 Private Patient Income totalled £53k or 0.04 % of total 

patient income i.e. well within the limit set of 0.1%

Financial risks
Key financial risks during 2009/10 included:

n	 Delivery of the required CIPs Programme 

n	 Delivery of significant additional activity above 

contract within existing staffing and physical capacity 

resources supplemented by the use of bank and 

agency staff

n	 Excess inflation and pay award costs above funding 

received through tariff uplift

n	 Management of HIT enabling / handover works to 

required timetable to enable PFI scheme to proceed as 

planned

n	 Loss of income re CQUINs and/or contract penalties.



82

Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust • Annual Report and Financial Accounts – 1 April 2009 to 31 March 2010

Income/Contract activity
The Trust’s largest commissioner had set contract 

baselines for 2009/10 lower than the 2008/09 outturn 

due to the expected reduction in activity following the 

PCT’s planned introduction of demand management 

schemes which aimed to reduce the flow of both elective 

and non-elective activity to the hospital.  However 

ongoing pressures in achieving the targets combined 

with growth in referrals and another unusually severe 

winter resulted in significant over performance against 

the contract for both elective and non-elective activity.  

The majority of the Trust’s clinical income is based on 

Payment by Results and the Trust has agreed payment for 

all activity delivered during the year.

Income
Income in 2009/10 totalled approximately £139.2m.  The 

majority of the Trust’s income (£126.3m; 91%) comes 

from Primary Care Trusts (PCTs) for health care services 

provided to patients during the year.  Services provided 

to NHS Tameside and Glossop (previously Tameside and 

Glossop Primary Care Trust) account for 86.6% of all 

income received from PCTs. In 2008/09 the Trust received 

income from the Department of Health as part of other 

patient care income in relation to the payment of the 

MFF (Market Forces Factor). However, in 2009/10 the 

system of payment changed such that this income is now 

paid to the Trust directly from the PCT’s as an uplift to 

the tariff. To some extent this distorts the comparative 

figures.

Other operating income relates to services provided 

to other Trusts; training and education; charitable 

contributions, and miscellaneous fees and charges.
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A breakdown of income is provided in tables 1, 2, 3 and 4 below.

Table 1 – Analysis of Sources of Income 1 April 2009 – 31 March 2010

 
 

2009/10
%

2009/10
£m

2008/09
£m

Primary Care Trusts 91% 126.3 115.7

Other Patient Care Income 1% 1.2 1.3

Education, Training and Research 3% 4.2 4.2

Non-Patient Care Services to Other Bodies 3% 4.7 5.1

Other Income 2% 2.8 3.2

Total Income 100% 139.2 129.5

Note: MFF is included in 2009/10 PCT figures, so to enable comparability the 2008/09 figures have been adjusted. In 

2008/09 figures the MFF was classed as other patient related income and amounted to £6.37 million, and was paid by 

the Department of Health.

Primary Care 
Trusts - 91%

Other Patient 
Care Income 

- 1%

Education, 
Training & 
Research - 

3%

Non-Patient 
Care Services 

to other 
bodies - 3%

Other Income 
- 2%

Region 1 91 1 3 3 2

Primary Care Trusts - 91%
Other Patient Care Income - 1%
Education, Training & Research - 3%
Non-Patient Care Services to other bodies - 3%
Other Income - 2%

Analysis of sources of incomes 2009/10

Table 2 – Analysis of Income from Primary care Trusts 1 April 2009 – 31 March 2010

 
 

2009/10
%

2009/10
£m

2008/09
£m

Tameside and Glossop 87% 109.4 100.3

Oldham 6% 7.7 6.7

Manchester 4% 5.5 5.0

Stockport 1% 1.2 1.0

Other PCTs 2% 2.5 2.7

Total PCT Income 100% 126.3 115.7

Note: MFF is included in 2009/10 PCT figures, so to enable comparability the 2008/09 figures have been adjusted. In 

2008/09 figures the MFF was classed as other patient related income and amounted to £6.37m, and was paid by the 

Department of Health.
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Tameside and 
Glossop - 

87%

Oldham - 6% Manchester - 
4%

Stockport - 
1%

Other PCTs - 
2%

Region 1 87 6 4 1 2

Tameside and Glossop - 87%
Oldham - 6%
Manchester - 4%
Stockport - 1%
Other PCTs - 2%

Analysis of Income by PCT

Table 3 - Analysis of contract activity

Analysis of Activity
 
 

2009/10
 
 

2008/09 2007/08
 
 

Increase 
(Decrease)

Percentage In-
crease

(Decrease)
2008/09 to 09/10

Day Case Spells 16,509 16,444 13,165 65 0.4%

Elective Inpatient Spells 4,217 4,357 4,433 -140 -3.2%

Non-Elective (Emergency) Spells 28,762 27,413 25,859 1,349 4.9%

Total Inpatients 49,488 48,214 43,457 1,274 2.6%

      

First Outpatient Attendances 90,798 93,193 82,413 -2,395 -2.6%

Follow up Outpatient Attendances 119,321 120,066 117,295 -745 -0.6%

Outpatient Procedures 11,530 2,113 3,700 9,417 445.7%

Total Outpatients 221,649 215,372 203,408 11,964 5.6%

      

A&E Attendances 76,199 76,519 77,696 -320 -0.4%

The total number of inpatients and outpatients increased by 2.6% and 5.6% respectively with a small decrease in 

A&E attendances of 0.4%.  Within inpatient activity the main cause of the increased activity related to non-elective/

emergency admissions, which grew by 4.9%. The Trust has experienced a growth in activity despite measures 

implemented by NHS Tameside and Glossop to manage demand down. This growth in activity necessitated the 

opening of additional beds to cope with the increased throughput.

The activity associated with this clinical income is detailed in table 3 below
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Table 4 analyses the income according to the type of patient seen. As can be seen from the table, the Trust’s main 

source of income in both years arises from treating emergency admissions, with outpatient visits being the second 

largest source of income.

Table 4 - Analysis of income from PCTs by Type

Analysis of Income
 

2009/10
£m

2008/09
£m

Elective / Planned Same Day Income 22.39 21.27

Non-Elective (Emergency) Spells 51.57 47.29

Total Inpatients 73.96 68.56

   

Total Outpatients 26.72 26.74

   

A & E Attendances 6.78 6.52

   

Other 18.90 13.87

   

TOTAL INCOME 126.35 115.68

Note: The 2008/09 figures have been adjusted to include MFF to ensure that the data is comparable

Other operating income
Other operating income totalled £11.7m for the year or 9.2% of the total income.  A breakdown of the income is shown 

below.

 
%

2009/10
£m

2008/09
£m

Research and Development 1% 0.16 0.11

Education and Training 35% 4.06 4.13

Charitable and other contributions to expenditure 3% 0.32 0.16

Transfer to donated asset reserve 1% 0.12 0.14

Non-patient care service to other bodies 40% 4.67 5.06

Other 20% 2.36 2.87

Total Other Operating Income 100% 11.69 12.46

Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust has complied with the cost allocation and charging requirements set out in 

HM Treasury and Office of Public Sector Information Guidance in relation to the levying of charges for the provision of 

information.
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Private Patient Income
The Trust generated £53k from Private Patient activity during the period (£50k in 2008/09), which accounts for 0.04% 

of total patient income.  To comply with the Trust’s Terms of Authorisation as a Foundation Trust the Trust must ensure 

that the income received from treating private patients does not exceed a cap of 0.1% of total income.  The Trust is 

compliant with its obligation in this respect.

Expenditure
An analysis of the Trust’s operating expenditure is detailed in tabular and graphical format below.

Analysis of Operating Expenses 1 April 2009 - 31 March 2010

 
 

2009/10
%

2009/10
£m

2008/09
£m

Staff costs 68% 94.9 88.0

Drug Costs 4% 5.2 4.6

Supplies and Services - Clinical 7% 9.7 8.4

Supplies and Services - Non-clinical 4% 5.6 5.4

Services from NHS Organisations 2% 3.3 3.3

Other Costs (inc. depreciation and impairments) 15% 21.8 17.7

Total Operating Expenses 100% 140.5 127.4

Staff Costs - 
68%

Drug Costs - 
4%

Supplies and 
Services - 

Clinical - 7%

Supplies and 
Services - 

Non-clinical - 
4%

Services from 
NHS 

Organisations 
- 2%

Other Costs 
(inc. 

depreciation 
and 

impairments - 
15%

Region 1 68 4 7 4 2 15

Staff Costs - 68%
Drug Costs - 4%
Supplies and Services - Clinical - 7%
Supplies and Services - Non-clinical - 4%
Services from NHS Organisations - 2%
Other Costs (inc. depreciation and impairments - 15%

Analysis of Operating Expenses 2009/10

It should be noted that other costs includes a charge of £4,953m in relation to an impairment charge relating to the 

revaluation of the estate to take account of the downturn in market values (£4.3m) and a further £638k relating 

to new buildings impaired on their inclusion in the Trust’s non-current assets as part of the PFI Health Investment in 

Tameside (HIT) project to build the new hospital. The impairment is regarded as an exceptional item and does not 

impact on the Trust’s EBITDA position.  Although it reduces the bottom line position to a deficit, it does not have any 

impact on cash as it is a non-cash item. 
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The Late Payment Of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998

There were no payments made under this legislation.

Better Payment Practice Code - Measured By Compliance

As a NHS Foundation Trust, there is no requirement to achieve the target of paying 95% of invoices within 30 days.  It 

is however considered best practice to achieve this target.

2009/10 2008/09

Number £000 Number £000

    

Total Non-NHS trade invoices paid in the year 38,614 66,464 45,878 65,544

Total Non NHS trade invoices paid within target 36,755 62,633 43,362 60,416

Percentage of Non-NHS trade invoices paid within target 95% 94% 95% 92%

    

Total NHS trade invoices paid in the year 2,097 36,853 2,060 29,362

Total NHS trade invoices paid within target 2,008 36,140 2,014 29,264

Percentage of NHS trade invoices paid within target 96% 98% 98% 100%

Value for money
The Trust delivered the agreed Cost Improvement 

Programme of £4.74m in 2009/10, although some 

savings were on a non-recurrent basis and as such new 

schemes will be required in 2010/11.

Prudential borrowing limit
As an NHS Foundation Trust there are greater freedoms 

around borrowing money to finance capital investments, 

although there are limits to how much a Trust can 

borrow.  A Trust must be able to demonstrate that the 

borrowing is affordable and there are other conditions 

set out in the T rust’s Prudential Borrowing Limit (PBL) 

which is issued by Monitor, the independent regulator 

of Foundation Trusts.  The maximum value of cumulative 

borrowing that the Trust may draw down is set with 

reference to the Trust’s annual financial risk rating of 3, 

and is currently set at £61.7m, to reflect the investment 

in the PFI facilities, which are now deemed to be part 

of the Trusts non-current assets.  The Trust also has an 

approved working capital facility, for any short term cash 

flow issues, which must not exceed £10m. During the 

financial year the Trust did not have any requirement to 

borrow against its PBL, and has in place a working capital 

facility of £10m for 2010/11.

Cash investments
As a Foundation Trust, Tameside has the opportunity 

to invest cash balances in order to generate increased 

interest.  This interest contributes to the Trust’s overall 

financial position and therefore to investment inpatient 

care.  The Trust has an investment policy and the Audit 

Committee oversees investment activity and monitors 

the returns on investments generated.  The Trust has 

adopted a prudent approach with regard to investments 

and while seeking to generate higher returns the key 

focus has been to safeguard the principle sums, which it 

has done. 

Performance against the 
Compliance Framework
All Foundation Trusts are required to demonstrate 

that they are operating within the Foundation Trust 

Compliance Framework.  A key component sets out the 

means by which the level of financial risk is assessed.  

Trusts deemed as high risk of breaching their Terms of 
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Authorisation are assigned a financial risk rating of 1, the 

highest i.e. “best” risk rating is 5. 

Tameside achieved a Risk rating of 3 for the financial year 

2009/10 [to be confirmed by Monitor] which is the level 

required for authorisation as a Foundation Trust.  The 

Table below shows the Trust’s performance against the 

metrics which support the calculation of the Risk Rating.

Financial Metric 2009/10 2008/09

EBITDA Margin 6.3% 6.8%

EBITDA, % achieved of plan 81.5% 87.0%

Return on Assets 3.9% 4.4%

I and E Surplus Margin 0.5% 0.2%

Liquid ratio (days) 27 34

   

Overall Weighted  
Financial Risk rating

3 3

Financial outlook for 2010/11
The Trust has set a financial plan for 2010/11 that 

maintains a Financial Risk Rating of 3, with a planned 

overall surplus of £0.2m prior to a planned impairment 

of £18.88m resulting in a technical deficit of £18.68m 

for the year.

Underpinning this position is an extensive Cost 

Improvement Programme totalling £4.4m and a further 

expected reduction in activity income and cost of £5.2m. 

This combination presents a significant challenge for the 

year ahead. This level of change is against the context 

of the overall economic climate and pressures on public 

spending.  The focus in achieving the required overall 

cost reduction will be increased quality and efficiency 

/ productivity aspects which will enhance the patient 

experience overall while safeguarding the financial 

sustainability of the Trust.

The activity contracts with Primary Care Trusts have been 

based on the expected outturn position for 2009/10 

priced under the revised Payment by Results (PbR) tariffs 

for 2010/11 and then reduced by £5.2m of activity 

which will be addressed in other care settings or not 

commissioned under the PCT’s Effective Use of Resources 

policy.

There are a number of areas which expose the Trust to 

risk and these are outlined below. 

1. Income risks due to contract penalties or contracted 

income challenges regarding payment for activity

2. Expenditure risks including slippage on CIPs, 

failure to control expenditure within budget, 

failure to manage the financial impact of demand 

management initiatives

3. Competition / service re-design e.g. re stroke,  

pathology services, ISCATs etc

The Trust will occupy the new PFI premises during 

2010/11 and this offers the opportunity for key service 

enhancements and service re-design. The new premises 

will require substantial investment in equipment and this 

has resulted in an increased capital programme for the 

year. A further major scheme relates to the significant 

improvement to the A&E facilities which will commence 

in 2010/11.  

Capital investment activity 
2009/10
The Trust invested £4.73m in the financial year 2009/10.  

The table below analyses the key capital investment for 

the full financial year, with comparative data for previous 

years. The previous year’s capital expenditure is included 

to give a better overview of ongoing large schemes. 

The apparent reduction in spend between 2007/08 and 

2008/09 reflects the completion of major elements of 

work required to relocate departments to enable the PFI 

scheme to commence.  The expenditure for enabling 

schemes included the demolition of older premises to 

clear the area required for the PFI scheme.    

The main scheme which has been completed in 2009/10 

is the upgrade of the mortuary facility, to ensure that 

the latest standards of health and safety, and control of 

infection are complied with, in order to meet Clinical 

Pathology accreditation standards.
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Scheme
 

2009/10
£m

2008/09
£m

2007/08
£m

PFI Enabling Schemes:-    

Multi-Storey Car Park 0.00 0.10 1.51

Pathology Department 0.00 0.11 7.16

Multidisciplinary Education & Training Centre 0.00 0.04 2.24

Other enabling Schemes 0.62 0.36 0.99

    

Other Trust Schemes:-    

Mortuary 1.51 0.49 0.00

Renal Satellite Unit 0.00 0.00 0.50

Upgrade of Electrical Services 0.00 0.12 0.40

Laminar flow Theatre 0.00 0.00 0.01

Pharmacy Aseptic Unit 0.00 0.00 0.04

    

Ward enhancements 0.95 0.27 0.00

Other Estate Schemes 0.76 1.63 2.21

PAC System (X-Ray Imaging) 0.00 0.00 0.28

    

Other IT Schemes 0.17 0.38 0.58

  

Medical Equipment 0.71 0.55 1.15 

Other 0.01  0.14

Capital Expenditure 4.73 4.06 17.21

Note : The above does not reconcile to Note 10 of the Accounts in relation to 2008/09 as Note 10 includes the transfer 

of a PFI asset for no capital consideration.

Valuation of land and buildings
The Trust has reviewed its approach to the valuation of assets, and adopted in 2008/09 a Modern Equivalent Asset 

(MEA) basis for the valuation, instead of the previous method of Depreciated Replacement Cost adopted by NHS 

Trusts.  The adoption of this approach is a requirement for all NHS and Foundation Trust organisations during 2009/10.  

Although this approach had been adopted in 2008/09, and a valuation sought as at the 31 March 2009, the Trust has 

again had to seek a further valuation of its assets to account for the fall in market values during 2009/10. The impact 

for the Trust is a reduction in the value of the assets shown on the balance sheet and a reduction of associated reserves 

of £10.599m.  This is reported in more detail in the accounts. 
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The Trust has also revisited the value of its land as part of 

the District Valuer’s review, but the impact of changing 

land values has been minimal and as such has had little 

impact on the value of the Trusts non-current assets.  

Future investment plans
The Trust is undertaking a major hospital redevelopment 

project in conjunction with its Private Finance Initiative 

(PFI) partner Consort Healthcare, as part of the Health 

Investment in Tameside (HIT) project.  This scheme will 

replace old Victorian wards as well as providing new 

theatres and integrated support areas.

The scheme involves a mixture of funding approaches.  

The initial major enabling works in 2007/08 were funded 

using public capital, and this work provided a multi-

storey car park, a new pathology department, and a 

training and education centre.  These schemes allowed 

the centre of the site to be freed up to enable the main 

new hospital build to take place.  The main hospital 

build is being financed under the Government’s Private 

Finance Initiative which means that the private sector 

build the hospital using funds they have raised on the 

open market and once available for use the Trust will 

then pay an annual service charge.  The annual service 

charge in relation to the new clinical facilities will become 

payable October 2010, when it is planned that the new 

clinical facilities will become operational, with the final 

completion of the works in August 2011.  The contract 

with Consort Healthcare will expire in August 2041.  The 

estimated value of the PFI buildings is approximately 

£77.2m.

The Trust’s capital programme for 2010/11 is expected 

to be higher than that in previous years to reflect the 

equipping of the PFI facilities which will come into use 

in October 2010, and an increase in expenditure on 

PFI enabling schemes to ensure the smooth relocation 

of departments.  The Trust will also fund investment 

in improving facilities in A&E, in addition to ongoing 

general maintenance and improvement of the 

retained estate (i.e. the non-PFI buildings) and also the 

replacement and investment in medical equipment and 

IT systems. In total the Trust plans to invest circa £9.4m in 

2010/11.

Remuneration report 
The Remuneration Committee (see page 92 for details 

of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee) 

comprises of the Chairman and all of the Non-Executive 

Directors of the Trust.  The quorum for a meeting of 

the Remuneration Committee is four members.  The 

role of the Remuneration Committee is to advise the 

Board on the appropriate remuneration and terms and 

conditions of employment of the Chief Executive and 

Executive Directors of the Trust only.  In discharging this 

responsibility the Remuneration Committee comply with 

the annual guidance received from the Department of 

Health concerning pay increases for very senior managers 

i.e. Chief Executive and Directors.

The Chief Executive and Executive Directors are all 

employed on permanent contracts of employment 

and are entitled to give and receive six months notice 

of termination of contract.  The Chairman and Non 

Executive Directors are employed under the terms laid 

down by the NHS Appointments Commission.  Under 

this they are appointed for a maximum four year term of 

office, renewable at the discretion of the Appointments 

Commission for an absolute maximum tenure of ten 

years.  The Chairman and Non-executive Directors 

are entitled to resign by giving notice to the NHS 

appointments Commission Chairman or the Secretary of 

State.
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Salaries & allowances
2009/10 2008/09

Name & Title Salary 
(bands of 
£5,000)

Other  
Remuneration 

(bands of  
£5000)

Benefits 
in Kind 

(Rounded 
to the 

nearest 
£100)

Salary 
(bands of 
£5,000)

Other 
Remuneration 

(bands of 
£5000)

Benefits 
in Kind 

(Rounded 
to the 

nearest 
£100)

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Mrs C Green - Chief Executive 145-150 0-5 6100 135-140 N/A 5900

Miss KJ Brown - Director of Finance 105-110 5-10 5700 65-70 N/A 4300

Mr T Mahmood - Medical Director 35-40 115-120 N/A 0-5 10-15 N/A

Mr P Dylak - Director of Nursing 90-95 N/A N/A 85-90 N/A N/A

Mr A Griffiths - Director of Clinical Services 90-95 N/A N/A 90-95 N/A N/A

Mr S Gardner - Director of Planning & 
Performance

85-90 0-5 N/A 80-85 N/A N/A

Mr D B Wilkinson - Director of Human 
Resources

80-85 0-5 100 75-80 N/A 100

Mr T H Presswood - Chairman 40-45 0-5 300 40-45 N/A 100

Mrs M E Black - Non-Executive Director 5-10 N/A N/A 10-15 N/A 0

Mr R Corless - Non-Executive Director 10-15 0-5 N/A 10-15 N/A N/A

Mr D A Ward - Non-Executive Director 10-15 0-5 294 10-15 N/A 300

Mr A E Anderson - Non-Executive Director 10-15 N/A N/A 0-5 N/A N/A

Miss D A Bates - Non-Executive Director 10-15 0-5 0 10-15 N/A N/A

Mrs M Black left on 31 October 2009

In line with the manual for accounts guidance, agreement has been reached with the Chief Executive that only 

Executive, Non-Executive, and Directors who attend the Board Meetings will be disclosed within this note.

(above table represents audited information)

Chief Executive ……………………………………………………    Date     3rd June 2010

The following information shown in the tables (subject to audit) is in respect of the period 1 April 2009 to the 31 

March 2010.
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Tameside Hospital NHS Trust pension benefits of senior managers

Name & 
Title  

Real 
Increase /
(decrease) 
in Pension 
at age 60 
(bands of 
£2500)

Lump Sum 
at age 60 
related 
to real 

increase/ 
(decrease) 
in pension 
(bands of 
£2500)

Total 
accrued 

pension at 
age 60 at 
31 March 

2010 
(bands of 
£5000)

Lump sum 
at age 60 
related to 
accrued 

pension at 
31 March 

2010 
(bands of 
£5000)

Cash 
equivalent 
transfer 
value at 

31 March 
2010

Cash 
equivalent 
transfer 
value at 

31 March 
2009

Real 
Increase/

( decrease) 
in cash 

equivalent 
transfer 
value

Employers 
contribution 

to 
stakeholder 

pension

  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Mrs C Green 
Chief Executive

(17.5-20) (52.5-55) 80-85 240-245 1290 1562 (296) (207)

Miss K J Brown 
Director of Finance

0-2.5 5-7.5 20-25 60-65 369 315 49 34

Mr A Griffiths 
Director of Clinical 
Services

(2.5-5) (7.5-10) 30-35 95-100 587 609 (31) (22)

Mr P Dylak 
Director of Nursing

0-2.5 2.5-5 30-35 90-95 616 561 47 33

Mr S Gardner 
Director of Planning 
& Performance

0-2.5 0-2.5 25-30 75-80 484 447 30 21

Mr T Mahmood 
Medical Director

0-2.5 2.5-5 20-25 70-75 453 265 184 128

Mr D B Wilkinson 
Director of Human 
Resources

0-2.5 5-7.5 15-20 50-55 288 245 40 28

A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the pension scheme benefits 

accrued by a member at a particular point in time.  The benefits valued are the member’s accrued benefits and 

any contingent spouse’s pension payable from the scheme.  A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme, or 

arrangement to secure pension benefits in another pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a 

scheme and chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme.  The pension figures shown relate to 

the benefits that the individual has accrued as a consequence of their total membership of the pension scheme, not 

just their service in a senior capacity to which the disclosures apply.  The CETV figures, and the other pension details, 

include the value of any pension benefits in another scheme or arrangement which the individual has transferred to 

the NHS pension scheme.  They also include any additional pension benefit accrued to the member as a result of their 

purchasing additional years of pension service in the scheme at their own cost.  CETVs are calculated within guidelines 

and framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries.

Real increase in CETV – This reflects the increase in CETV effectively funded by the employer.  It takes account of the 

increase in accrued pension due to inflation, contributions paid by the employee (including the value of any benefits 

transferred from another pension scheme or arrangement) and uses common market valuation factors for the start 

and end of the period.
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Statement of the chief executive’s responsibilities as the 
accounting officer of Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust.

The NHS Act 2006 states that the chief executive is the 

accounting officer of the NHS foundation trust. The 

relevant responsibilities of accounting officer, including 

their responsibility for the propriety and regularity of 

public finances for which they are answerable  and 

for the keeping of proper accounts, are set out in 

the accounting officers’ Memorandum issued by the 

Independent Regulator of NHS Foundation Trusts 

(Monitor).

Under the NHS Act 2006, Monitor has directed Tameside 

Hospital NHS foundation trust to prepare for each 

financial year a statement of accounts in the form and on 

the basis set out in the Accounts Direction. The accounts 

are prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true 

and fair view of the state of affairs of Tameside Hospital 

NHS foundation trust and of its income and expenditure, 

total recognised gains and losses and cash flows for the 

financial year.

In preparing the accounts, the Accounting Officer is 

required to comply with the requirements of the NHS 

foundation trust Financial Reporting Manual and in 

particular to :

n	 Observe the accounts Direction issued by Monitor, 

including the relevant accounting and disclosure 

requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies 

on a consistent basis;

n	 Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable 

basis;

n	 State whether applicable accounting standards as set 

out in the NHS foundation trust Financial Reporting 

Manual have been followed, and disclose and explain 

any material departures in the financial statements; 

and

n	 Prepare the financial statements on a going concern 

basis.

The accounting officer is responsible for keeping proper 

accounting records which disclose with reasonable 

accuracy at any time the financial position of the NHS 

foundation trust and to enable her to ensure that the 

accounts comply with requirements outlined in the above 

mentioned act. The accounting officer is also responsible 

for safeguarding the assets of the NHS foundation trust 

and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention 

and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly 

discharged the responsibilities set out in Monitor’s NHS 

Foundation Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum.

Chief Executive ……………………………………………………    Date     3 June 2010
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Statement on Internal Control
Scope of responsibility
As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for 

maintaining a sound system of internal control that 

supports the achievement of the NHS foundation 

trust’s policies, aims and objectives, whilst safeguarding 

the public funds and departmental assets for which 

I am personally responsible, in accordance with the 

responsibilities assigned to me. I am also responsible for 

ensuring that the NHS foundation trust is administered 

prudently and economically and that resources are 

applied efficiently and effectively. I also acknowledge my 

responsibilities as set out in the NHS Foundation Trust 

Accounting Officer Memorandum.

The purpose of the system of internal 
control
The system of internal control is designed to manage 

risk to a reasonable level rather than to eliminate all 

risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives; it 

can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute 

assurance of effectiveness. The system of internal control 

is based on an ongoing process designed to identify and 

prioritise the risks to the achievement of the policies, 

aims and objectives of Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation 

Trust, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being 

realised and the impact should they be realised, and to 

manage them efficiently, effectively and economically. 

The system of internal control has been in place in 

Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust for the year 

ended 31 March 2010 and up to the date of approval of 

the annual report and accounts.

Capacity to handle risk
n	 The Director of Nursing is responsible for clinical risk 

and patient safety, for ensuring that clinical risk is 

identified and managed, and that clinical governance 

structures are effective in the organisation.

n	 The Medical Director is responsible for clinical 

effectiveness, managing medical staff performance, 

clinical standards and acts as the Caldicott Guardian 

for the Trust.

n	 The Director of Finance is responsible for the financial 

aspects of business risk, for implementing systems to 

control fraud and corruption and for ensuring security 

of financial systems within the organisation.

n	 The Director of Planning and Performance is 

responsible for ensuring systems are in place to 

minimise risk in relation to the Trust’s delivery of 

its business objectives, to minimise risk in relation 

to failure of information systems, and to provide 

assurance in respect of information governance.

n	 Risk Management Training is provided as part of 

the Trust’s Mandatory Core Training Day, and covers 

Health & Safety, Risk Assessment, Risk Action 

Planning and incident reporting.  Training provided 

during 2009/10 also covered Root Cause Analysis and 

Law and the Health Professional.

n	 Risk Managers provide expert support to the 

organisation in relation to the assessment and 

management of risk and in ensuring that local, 

departmental or organisational learning takes place 

when a significant incident or serious risk has been 

identified.   Departmental managers ensure systems 

are in place to assess, treat and reduce risks within 

their departments and report where this is not 

achieved. All members of staff have a responsibility 

for participation in the risk management process 

and to minimise the risks to patients, staff and 

visitors to the Trust. Members of staff are required 

to report untoward incidents as soon as possible 

in accordance with the serious incident policy for 

accident and incident reporting, and to proactively 

identify and assess risks in the areas in which they 

work. Via a number of structures, primarily the 

Risk Management Committee, Claims Review 

Committee, Clinical Governance Committee, Risk 

Management and Corporate Governance Committee, 
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and Clinical Governance Core Group, the Trust has 

remained apprised of good practice guidance from 

expert sources and reflected this guidance in the 

development of Trust services and policy.

The risk and control framework
The Trust has developed a Risk Management Strategy, 

Policy and Guidance document which is subject to 

annual review. The main elements of this strategy are as 

follows:

n	 The adoption of clear management structures and 

responsibilities throughout the organisation, reporting 

up to the Trust Board.

n	 Effective systems for risk assessment, risk analysis 

and for determining the Trust’s risk appetite – which 

includes the adoption of a standard risk scoring 

system.

n	 The use of an up to date register for the prioritisation 

of risk and development of action plans.

n	 An assurance framework that maps objectives to 

risks, controls and assurances.

n	 The provision of training for staff.

Risk is identified using a number of approaches including 

the following:

Risk assessments; serious incident investigations; incident 

reporting; complaints management including review and 

analysis of trends; compliance with legislation/national 

guidance; external reviews and accreditation processes 

and audit reports; reviews of claims against the Trust; Dr 

Foster data, particularly red bells;  the staff and patient 

surveys; sickness absence information and staffing levels.

Risks in relation to the development of new services are 

determined through the assessment of business cases 

at the Trust Executive Group and at Divisional Business 

Meetings.  A specific policy governs the introduction of 

new clinical procedures to ensure that associated risks 

have been identified and addressed.

On the specific issue of risks to information, the Trust has 

an Information Governance Committee that works to 

ensure evidence is maintained of effective information 

governance processes and procedures with risk based 

and proportionate safeguards. Work continues to be 

undertaken by the Trust as part of the NHS Information 

Governance Assurance Programme, and through 

evidencing compliance with the standards set out in the 

Information Governance Toolkit.

Risk appetite can be defined as “The amount of risk 

that an organisation is prepared to accept, tolerate, 

or be exposed to at any point in time”.  The Trust has 

an established risk assessment process and uses a well 

recognised framework to rate or score a risk. A risk 

is rated using a matrix of consequence (the impact) 

versus likelihood (frequency) of the risk occurring.  

The document Risk Management Strategy, Policy and 

Guidance (2009) sets out the Trust’s approach and 

expectations in relation to risk appetite. This recognises 

that the Trust’s risk appetite is not necessarily static. The 

Trust Board may wish to vary the amount of risk that it is 

prepared to tolerate depending on the circumstances at a 

given time. However, the document makes clear that it is 

not for other parts of the organisation to materially alter 

the Trust’s risk appetite. 

The Trust’s approach to risk appetite ensures that risks 

are considered in terms of both opportunities and 

threats and are not usually confined to the financial 

consequences of a risk materialising. Risks also impact 

on the capability or capacity of the Trust, its performance 

and its reputation. It is also influenced by the overall 

objectives set by the Trust, individual programmes 

of work and the delivery of operational, quality and 

performance objectives across divisions. The Trust Board 

acknowledge that that risk is a component of change 

and improvement, and therefore does not expect or 

consider the absence of risk as a necessarily positive 

position. The Trust will, where necessary, tolerate overall 

levels of risk that are classified as moderate (scoring 12 or 

less using the Trust’s risk assessment matrix) where action 

is not cost effective or reasonably praticable. The Trust 

will not normally accept levels of risk rated high (red) 
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which are scored between 15 and 25 and will ensure that 

plans are put into place to reduce the level of risk when a 

high risk has been identified.

Overall responsibility for data security rests with the 

Director of Planning and Peformance, who performs the 

role of Senior Information Risk Officer (SIRO) within the 

Trust. The Trust has a formal Information Governance 

Committee which is chaired by the SIRO.  To address data 

security risks, an Information Asset Register has been 

established. Information Asset Owners and Information 

Asset Administrators have been identified.  They advise 

the SIRO of the security of the information assets they 

control.  During 2009/10, the Trust was subject to a 

malware attack (Conficker).  There was no material data 

loss, but the action plan developed as a result of the 

attack identified a number of areas where data security 

could be improved.  These included the introduction 

of USB port controls, hard drive end point security and 

improved network access controls.

The Trust’s risk register identifies the following as major 

risks:-

1. Trust HSMR (Hospital Standardised Mortality Rate) 

remains higher than average.

 This is being addressed via a comprehensive action 

plan which has seen the HSMR for the 11 months 

from April 2009 to February 2010 fall to 95 (pre 

rebase).  This risk will remain on the register until the 

rebased HSMR falls to 100 or below.

2. Adverse publicity could damage Trust reputation and 

public confidence and impact on staff morale.

 This is being addressed via the establishment of 

a contract with a professional PR firm to enable 

accurate and timely information in response to 

adverse media coverage and to proactively manage 

media relations.  The Trust continues to pursue 

improvements to the quality of its services to enhance 

patient experience.

The other key risk for the Trust relates to the need to 

reduce the effects of the fluctuating demands made on 

the Trust’s capacity, whilst retaining the flexibility required 

to respond to patient need.  This has led to a reliance on 

temporary bank, agency and locum staff.  This reliance 

needs to be reduced, and the Trust is addressing this risk 

as follows:-

n	 Establishment of a temporary ward as a permanent 

facility

n	 Enhancements to ward nursing establishments

n	 Working with partner organisations to ensure the 

timely discharge of patients once deemed medically 

fit to leave the hospital

n	 Improvements to the Trust’s system for monitoring the 

placement of nursing staff

n	 The development of a new bed management policy.

The Trust received a conditional registration from the 

CQC linked to these aspects and has an agreed action 

plan to resolve these concerns and provide evidence by 

the end of May 2010. 

The Trust’s risk strategy has been developed to ensure 

the systematic analysis, identification, monitoring and 

communication of risks associated with any activity, 

function or process performed within the Trust. This is 

embedded into the Trust by:

n	 clear structures and responsibilities with explicit links 

for reporting up to the Trust Board,

n	 a system for risk assessment to identify and minimise 

risk where possible,

n	 systems to monitor, control and learn from untoward 

incidents,

n	 maintaining an up to date risk register, and

n	 ensuring all employees are aware of the importance 

of managing risks and their responsibilities.

Public stakeholders are also involved in managing risks 

which impact upon the organisation. 

n	 Patients are involved in their own treatment at every 

level. 
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n	 There is a formal process to obtain the consent of a 

patient to treatment, and this process is compliant 

with Department of Health guidance. 

n	 The Trust involves the Council of Members, public 

members, patients and the public in the development 

of services and has a number of formal structures for 

doing so. 

n	 The Trust maintains close links with social services and 

primary care, working together on the handling of 

issues of common interest.

The Foundation Trust is fully compliant with the core 

Standards for Better Health.

As an employer with staff entitled to membership 

of the NHS Pension Scheme, control measures are in 

place to ensure all employer obligations contained 

within the Scheme regulations are complied with. 

This includes ensuring that deductions from salary, 

employer’s contributions and payments into the Scheme 

are in accordance with the Scheme rules, and that 

member Pension Scheme records are accurately updated 

in accordance with the timescales detailed in the 

Regulations.

Control measures are in place to ensure that all the 

organisation’s obligations under equality, diversity and 

human rights legislation are complied with.

The Foundation Trust has undertaken risk assessments 

and Carbon Reduction Delivery Plans are in place in 

accordance with emergency preparedness and civil 

contingency requirements, as based on UKCIP 2009 

weather projects, to ensure that this organisation’s 

obligations under the Climate Change Act and the 

Adaptation Reporting requirements are complied with.

Review of economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness of the use of resources
The Trust has an agreed process to ensure that resources 

are used economically, efficiently and effectively. This 

involves:

n	 agreeing a rolling annual financial strategy and plan,

n	 a rigorous process of annual budget setting and 

delivering cost improvements,

n	 annual review of Standing Financial Instructions and 

Schemes of Delegation,

n	 robust performance management arrangements,

n	 benchmarking of management costs and back office 

services and

n	 commissioning external advice where the Trust 

believes economy and efficiency can be improved e.g. 

scheduling and utilisation of theatres.

The Board plays an active role by:

n	 determining the level of financial performance it 

requires including approval of the Annual Plan

n	 reviewing and holding the Executive Directors to 

account for the financial performance, financial risk 

and delivery against the cost improvement plan on a 

monthly basis

n	 approving the annual Capital Programme and 

reviewing business cases and overseeing procurement 

for all major capital schemes.

The Trust’s Audit Committee plays a key role on behalf of 

the Board in reviewing the effectiveness of the process, 

controls and systems which underpin the financial 

management of the Trust. The Trust has also gained 

assurance from:

n	 The work of other Board Committees

n	 The Board Assurance Framework,

n	 The Corporate Risk Register,

n	 Internal Audit reports, and

n	 The CQC Registration process.

Review of effectiveness
As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for reviewing 

the effectiveness of the system of internal control. My 

review of the effectiveness of the system of internal 

control is informed by the work of the internal auditors 
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and the executive managers within the NHS foundation 

trust who have responsibility for the development 

and maintenance of the internal control framework, 

and comments made by the external auditors in their 

management letter and other reports. I have been 

advised on the implications of the result of my review of 

the effectiveness of the system of internal control by the 

board, the Audit Committee and the Clinical Governance 

Committee and a plan to address weaknesses and ensure 

continuous improvement of the system is in place.

The Head of Internal Audit provides me with an opinion 

on the overall arrangements for gaining assurance 

through the Assurance Framework and on the controls 

reviewed as part of the internal audit work.  The 

Assurance Framework itself provides me with evidence 

that the effectiveness of controls which manage the risks 

to the organisation achieving its principal objectives has 

been reviewed.  My review is also informed by reports 

and assessments including those by:

n	 Care Quality Commission,

n	 Internal audit,

n	 The Audit Commission,

n	 Patient Environment Assessment Tool (PEAT), and

n	 NHSLA Clinical Negligence Scheme for Trusts

The following groups and committees have been 

involved in maintaining and reviewing the effectiveness 

of the system of internal control:

n	 The Trust Board is responsible for setting the strategic 

direction of the organisation and monitoring the 

progress of the organisation against targets.

n	 The Audit Committee investigates the activities of 

the Trust and provides assurance to the Board of 

the adequacy of the structures and process for risk 

management, external audit and financial reporting.

n	 The Clinical Governance Committee sets the agenda 

for clinical governance within the organisation, 

receives reports from internal and external reviews 

and monitors compliance against required local and 

national benchmarks.

n	 The Clinical Governance Core Group exists to review 

and approve the response of the Trust to all reported 

serious clinical incidents (red incidents) as well as 

to review the proceedings of the Claims Review 

Committee, when a meeting has recently occurred.

n	 The Risk Management and Corporate Governance 

Committee have developed and maintained the 

Board Assurance Framework and the Corporate Risk 

Register, and manages accountability arrangements 

for the routine reviewing of Directorate and Divisional 

Risk Registers.

n	 On behalf of the Trust Board (Trustees), the Charitable 

Funds Committee monitors the application of all 

charitable funds in accordance with the Charities 

Act, external guidance and applicable legislation, and 

ensures that decisions on the use or investment of 

such funds are compliant with the explicit conditions 

or purpose for each donation, bequest or grant.

Two areas have been identified for attention through 

the above processes.  One relates to a need to improve 

the completion of documentation and associated 

authorisation over the use of bank and agency staff 

where a number of actions have been identified. The 

second regarding a need to enhance the systems for data 

capture for the A&E 4 Hour Attendance target; an action 

plan has been developed and will be fully implemented 

by the end of June 2010. 

The Board has conducted a review of the effectiveness of 

the Trust’s system of internal controls.

Annual Quality Report
The directors are required under the Health Act 2009 

and the National Health Service (Quality Accounts) 

Regulations 2010 to prepare Quality Accounts for each 

financial year. Monitor has issued guidance to NHS 

foundation trust boards on the form and content of 

annual Quality Reports which incorporate the above 

legal requirements in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual 

Reporting Manual.
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The Quality Report was prepared in line with all relevant 

guidance and statute.  Measures were selected following 

discussions with the Trust Board, Council of Members 

and Trust Executive Committee. The data are drawn from 

a number of sources and every effort has been made to 

assure accuracy and representing a wide spectrum of 

services and personnel.  All of the data included is used 

for other purposes related to Trust activity. The Report 

is consistent with Trust policies, aims and objectives and 

key priorities for quality improvement.  

Review of effectiveness
In developing the Annual Quality Report, the Trust 

utilized data from a range of sources.  As far as possible, 

these data are supported by external validation, or are 

required to conform to regional or national guidance 

or norms.   Many of the data items included are used 

for other purposes within or outside of the Trust.   It 

is recognised that very localised measures, such as the 

incidence of pressure sores, falls and compliance with 

end of life care pathways are not subject to external 

audit or validation, which may reduce the assurance 

which the Board can gain from the data presented within 

the account.  Triangulation of these data against other 

variables, such as level of complaints or incident forms 

submitted would tend to support the veracity of the 

data.  

The Trust has incorporated data regarding Health Care 

Associated Infections, where data submission to the 

Health Protection Agency is governed by national data 

definitions.  HCAI data are presented to the Board each 

month, and to other structures within the Trust.  Data are 

also provided to the Primary Care Trust for monitoring 

purposes. Never Events, HSMR and Advancing Quality 

Compliance, Stroke performance, PEAT assessment 

results, mixed gender compliance and performance 

against key National Priorities and National Core 

Standards provide further examples of data which are 

subject to external scrutiny and validation.

The content of the account has been provided to the 

PCT, Overview and Scrutiny Committee (OSC) and 

Tameside Local Involvement Network (LINK), as well as 

the Council of Members and Trust Board.  The PCT plays 

a specific role in validation of the data.

Conclusion
No significant control issues have been identified in the 

body of the SIC above.

Chief Executive ……………………………………………    

Date: 3rd June 2010
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Independent Auditors’ Report to the Council of Members of 
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust

We have audited the financial statements of 
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust for 
the year ended 31 March 2010 which comprise 
the Statement of Comhrenhensive Income, the 
Statement of Financial Position, the statement 
of Cash Flows, the Statement of Changes in 
Taxpayers’ Equity and the related notes. The 
financial reporting framework that has been 
applied in their preparation is the NHS Foundation 
Trust Financial Reporting Manual issued by the 
Independent Regulator of NHS Foundation Trusts 
(Monitor).

Respective responsibilities of directors and 
auditors
As explained more fully in the Statement of the chief 

executive’s responsibilities as the accounting officer of 

Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust, the directors 

are responsible for the preparation of the financial 

statements and for being satisfied that they give a 

true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit the 

financial statements in accordance with relevant statute, 

the Audit Code for NHS Foundation Trusts issued by 

Monitor and International Standards on Auditing (UK 

and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with 

the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for 

Auditors.

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared 

for and only for the Council of Governors of Tameside 

Hospital NHS Foundation Trust in accordance with 

paragraph 24(5) of Schedule 7 of the National Health 

Service Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, 

in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility 

for any other purpose or to any other person to whom 

this report is shown or into whose hands it may come 

save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in 

writing.

The maintenance and integrity of the Tameside Hospital 

NHS Foundation Trust website is the responsibility of the 

directors; the work carried out by the auditors does not 

involve consideration of these matters and accordingly, 

the auditors accept no responsibility for any changes 

that may have occurred to the financial statements 

since they were initially presented on the website.

Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the 

preparation and dissemination of financial statements 

may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Scope of the audit of the financial 
statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the 

amounts and disclosures in the financial statements 

sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial 

statements are free from material misstatement, 

whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an 

assessment of: whether the accounting policies 

are appropriate to the NHS Foundation Trust’s 

circumstances and have been consistently applied and 

adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant 

accounting estimates made by the NHS Foundation 

Trust; and the overall presentation of the financial 

statements.

Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion the financial statements:

n	 give a true and fair view, in accordance with the 

NHS Foundation Trust Financial Reporting Manual, of 

the state of the NHS Foundation Trust’s affairs as at 

31 March 2010 and of its income and expenditure 

and cash flows for the year then ended; and

n	 have been properly prepared in accordance with the 

NHS Foundation Trust Financial Reporting Manual.
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Opinion on other matters prescribed by the 
Audit Code for NHS Foundation Trusts 
In our opinion

n	 the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be 

audited has been properly prepared in accordance 

with the NHS Foundation Trust Financial Reporting 

Manual; and

n	 the information given in the Directors’ Report for the 

financial year for which the financial statements are 

prepared is consistent with the financial statements.

Matters on which we are required to report 
by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following 

matters where the Audit Code for NHS Foundation 

Trusts requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:

n	 adequate accounting records have not been kept, 

or returns adequate for our audit have not been 

received from locations not visited by us; or

n	 the financial statements are not in agreement with 

the accounting records and returns; or

n	 we have not received all the information and 

explanations we require for our audit; or

n	 the Statement on Internal Control does not meet 

the disclosure requirements set out in the NHS 

Foundation Trust Financial Reporting Manual or is 

misleading or inconsistent with information of which 

we are aware from our audit; or

n	 we have not been able to satisfy ourselves that 

the NHS Foundation Trust has made proper 

arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 

effectiveness in its use of resources.

Certificate
We certify that we have completed the audit of the 

accounts in accordance with the requirements of 

Chapter 5 of Part 2 to the National Health Service Act 

2006 and the Audit Code for NHS Foundation Trusts 

issued by Monitor.

Peter Chambers (Senior Statutory Auditor)

For and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 

Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors 

101 Barbirolli Square

Lower Mossley Street, Manchester M2 3PW

4th June 2010

Independent Auditors’ report to the Council of Governors of 
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust on the NHS Foundation 
Trust consolidation schedules.
We have examined the NHS Foundation Trust 

consolidation schedules (FTCs) numbered iFTC01 

to iFTC35 to recFTC04 of Tameside Hospital NHS 

Foundation Trust for the year ended 31 March 2010, 

which have been prepared by the Director of Finance and 

acknowledged by the Chief Executive.

This report is made solely to the Council of Governors of 

Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust in accordance 

with paragraph 24(5) of Schedule 7 of the National 

Health Service Act 2006 (the Act) and for no other 

purpose.

In our opinion these summarisation schedules are 

consistent with the statutory financial statement on 

which we have issued an unqualified opinion.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
101 Barbirolli Square

Lower Mossley Street, Manchester M2 3PW

4th June 2010
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Foreword to the accounts for the period  
1 April 2009 to 31 March 2010
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust

These accounts for the period ended 31 March 2010 have been prepared by the 

Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust in accordance with Schedule 7, sections 

24 and 25 of the National Health Services Act 2006.

 

Christine Green
Chief Executive

10. Annual Accounts
for the period 1 April 2009 to 31 March 2010
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Statement of Comprehensive Income 
for the year ended 31 March 2010

NOTE 2009/10
£000

2008/09
£000

Operating Income

Income from activities 3 127,540 117,023

Other income 4 11,693 12,461

Operating expenses 5 (140,632) (127,416)

Operating (deficit)/surplus (1,399) 2,068

Finance costs:

Finance income 8 63 481

Finance expenses - financial liabilities 8 (159) (124)

Finance expenses - unwinding of discount on provisions 8 (14) (12)

PDC Dividends Payable (2,735) (4,379)

Net Finance Cost (2,845) (4,034)

(DEFICIT) for the year (4,244) (1,966)

Other comprehensive income

Revaluation (losses) and impairment losses, property, plant and equipment (6,284) (5,750)

Increase in the donated asset reserve due to receipt of donated assets 481 0

Reduction of donated asset reserve in respect of depreciation on donated 
assets

(123) (136)

Total comprehensive income and expense for the year (10,170) (7,852)

  

The notes on pages 107 to 139 form part of these accounts.  

All income and expenditure is derived from continuing operations.  
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Statement of Financial Position 
as at 31 March 2010  

31 March 
2010

31 March  
2009

1 April  
2008

NOTE £000 £000 £000
Non-current assets
Intangible assets 9 421 841 1,262
Property, plant and equipment 10 80,936 89,492 98,991
Trade and other receivables 13.1 832 786 504
Total non-current assets 82,189 91,119 100,757
Current assets
Inventories 12 1,528 1,151 1,050
Trade and other receivables 13 4,515 3,501 3,284
Non-current assets held for sale 14 0 320 0
Cash and cash equivalents 15 10,718 8,273 14,272
Total current assets 16,761 13,245 18,606
Total assets 98,950 104,364 119,363
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 16 (10,965) (8,471) (13,082)
Borrowings 17 (498) (575) (604)
Other liabilities 18 (3,532) (3,212) (3,873)
Provisions 22 (343) (411) (778)
Net current assets/(liabilities) 1,423 576 269
Total assets less current liabilities 83,612 91,695 101,026
Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables 16 (7) (2) (6)
Borrowings 17 (2,742) (1,010) (1,090)
Other liabilities 18 (366) 0 0
Provisions 22 (490) (503) (513)
Total assets employed 80,007 90,180 99,417

Financed by taxpayers’ equity:
Public dividend capital SOCITE 53,168 53,168 54,553
Retained earnings SOCITE 3,130 6,338 6,259
Revaluation reserve SOCITE 22,705 29,998 37,793
Donated asset reserve SOCITE 1,004 676 812
Total Taxpayers’ Equity 80,007 90,180 99,417

The financial statements on pages 80 to 101 were approved by the Board on 3 June 2010 and signed on its behalf by: 

 

 

Signed: ……....................……………………………(Chief Executive)  Date: 4th June 2010 
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Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity 

Public 
dividend 

capital (PDC)

Retained 
earnings

Revaluation 
reserve

Donated 
asset 

reserve

Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Balance at 31 March 2008 54,553 6,259 37,793 812 99,417

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2008-09 

Total Comprehensive Income for the year:

Retained (deficit) for the year 0 (1,966) 0 0 (1,966)

Revaluation (losses) and impairment losses 
property, plant and equipment

0 0 (5,750) 0 (5,750)

Reduction in the donated asset reserve in respect 
of depreciation impairment and/or disposal of 
donated assets.

0 0 0 (136) (136)

Transfers to the income and expenditure reserve in 
respect of assets disposed

0 1,193 (1,193) 0 0

Transfer of the excess of current cost depreciation 
over historical cost depreciation to the income and 
expenditure reserve

0 852 (852) 0 0

PDC repaid in year (1,385) 0 0 0 (1,385)

Balance at 31 March 2009 53,168 6,338 29,998 676 90,180

Restated balance at 1 April 2009 53,168 6,338 29,998 676 90,180

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2009-10

Total Comprehensive Income for the year

Retained (deficit) for the year 0 (4,244)   0 0 (4,244)   

Revaluation (losses) and impairment losses 
property, plant and equipment

0 0 (6,254)   (30)   (6,284)   

Revaluation gains/(losses) and impairment losses 
arising from classifying non current assets as Assets 
Held for Sale

0 162 (162)   0 0

Increase in the donated asset reserve due to receipt 
of donated assets

0 0 0 481 481

Reduction in the donated asset reserve in respect 
of depreciation impairment and/or disposal of 
donated assets.

0 0 0 (123)   (123)   

Transfers to the income and expenditure reserve in 
respect of assets disposed

0 3 (3)   0 0

Transfer of the excess of current cost depreciation 
over historical cost depreciation to the income and 
expenditure reserve

0 874 (874)   0 0

Balance at 31 March 2010 53,168 3,133 22,705 1,004 80,010
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Statement of Cash Flows 
For the year ended 31 March 2010

NOTE 2009/10 2008/09

Cash flows from operating activities

Operating (deficit)/surplus as detailed on the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income

SOCI (1,399) 2,068

Depreciation and amortisation 5 5,118 4,972

Impairments and reversals 5 4,953 2,622

Transfer from donated asset reserve SOCITE (123) (136) 

(Increase) in inventories 12 (377) (101) 

(Increase) in trade and other receivables 13 & 13.1 (738) (499) 

Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 16 2,245 (1,416) 

Increase/(decrease) in other current liabilities 18 686 (661) 

(Decrease) in provisions 22 (81) (377) 

Unwinding Discount SOCI (14) (12)

Other movements in operating cashflow - Loss on disposal of property, plant, 
and equipment.

5 95 25

Net cash inflow from operating activities 10,365 6,485

Cash flows from investing activities

Interest received SOCI 63 481

(Payments) to acquire property, plant and equipment 10 (4,476) (7,272)

Proceeds from disposal of plant, property and equipment 320 790

Net cash (outflow) from investing activities (4,093) (6,001)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) before financing 6,272 484

Cash flows from financing activities

Public dividend capital repaid SOCITE 0 (1,385)

Interest element of finance leases SOCI (159) (124)

Capital element of Finance Lease and Private Finance Initiative Obligations (611) (595)

PDC Dividend paid SOCI (3,057) (4,379)

Net cash (outflow) from financing (3,827) (6,483)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 2,445 (5,999)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 8,273 14,272

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 15 10,718 8,273
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1. Accounting policies
Monitor has directed that the financial statements of 

NHS Foundation Trusts shall meet with the accounting 

requirements of the NHS Foundation Trust Annual 

Reporting Manual which shall be agreed with HM 

Treasury.  Consequently, the following financial 

statements have been prepared in accordance with the 

2009/10 NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual 

issued by Monitor.  The accounting policies contained 

in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual 

follow International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 

and HM Treasury’s Annual Reporting Manual to the 

extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to NHS 

Foundation Trusts.  The accounting policies have been 

applied consistently in dealing with items considered 

material in relation to the accounts.  

This is the first set of Annual Accounts which the NHS 

Foundation Trust has completed using International 

Financial Reporting Standards.  The previous Annual 

Accounts had been produced by the NHS Foundation 

Trust following UK GAAP.  Note 27 details the transition 

movement from the 2008/09 UK GAAP Accounts to the 

re-stated 2008/09 IFRS Accounts.

1.1 Accounting convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical 

cost convention, modified to account for the revaluation 

of  Property, plant and equipment and Intangible Assets 

at their value to the business by reference to their current 

costs. NHS Foundation Trusts, in compliance with HM 

Treasury’s Accounting Reporting Manual, are not required 

to disclose earnings per share or historical profits and 

losses.

1.2 Acquisitions and discontinued 
operations

Activities are considered to be ‘discontinued’ where they 

meet all of the following conditions:

a.  the sale (this may be at nil consideration for 

activities transferred to another public sector body) 

or termination is completed either in the period 

or before the earlier of three months after the 

commencement of the subsequent period and the 

date on which the financial statements are approved;

b. if a termination, the former activities have ceased 

permanently;

c. the sale or termination has a material effect on the 

nature and focus of the reporting NHS Foundation 

Trust’s operations and represents a material reduction 

in its operating facilities resulting either from its 

withdrawal from a particular activity or from a 

material reduction in income in the NHS Foundation 

Trust’s continuing operations; and

d.  the assets, liabilities, results of operations and 

activities are clearly distinguishable, physically, 

operationally and for financial reporting purposes.

Operations not satisfying all these conditions are 

classified as continuing.

Activities are considered to be ‘acquired’ whether or not 

they are acquired from outside the public sector.

1.3 Critical accounting judgements and 
key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the application of the NHS Foundation Trust’s 

accounting policies, management is required to make 

judgements, estimates and assumptions about the 

carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not 

readily apparent from other sources.  The estimates 

and associated assumptions are based on historical 

experience and other factors that are considered to be 

relevant.  Actual results may differ from those estimates, 

and the estimates and underlying assumptions are 

continually reviewed.  Revisions to accounting estimates 

are recognised in the period in which the estimate is 

revised, if the revision affects only that period or in the 

period of the revision and future periods if the revision 

affects both current and future periods.

Notes to the Accounts
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policies
The following critical judgment has been made in 

the process of applying the NHS Foundation Trust’s 

accounting polices.

The critical judgement which the NHS Foundation Trust 

has been required to make in the production of the 

2009/10 Annual Accounts relates to the valuation the 

NHS Foundation Trust’s Property, Plant and Equipment.  

Detailed in note 1.3.2 is the basis of the estimation 

that the NHS Foundation Trust has applied in valuing its 

Property, Plant and Equipment as at 31 March 2010.

1.3.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The following is the key assumption concerning the 

future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at 

the end of the reporting period, that has a significant risk 

of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts 

of assets and liabilities with the next financial year.

Due to the continuing economic decline the NHS 

Foundation Trust has sought a professional valuation of 

its estate, which has resulted in a fall in the valuation of 

the NHS Foundation Trust’s assets. The NHS Foundation 

Trust has chosen to accept this professional valuation 

and apply it in the production of the 2009/10 Annual 

Accounts.

1.4 Income
Income in respect of services provided is recognised 

when, and to the extent that, performance occurs 

and is measured at the fair value of the consideration 

receivable.  For patients whose treatment straddles 

the year end, this means income is apportioned across 

the financial years on the basis of length of stay.  The 

main source of income for the NHS Foundation Trust is 

contracts with commissioners in respect of healthcare 

services provided under local agreements, NHS Contracts.  

The NHS Foundation Trust estimates the month 12 

patient related income based on an average cost for 

the activity delivered in the month for each speciality, as 

fully coded Healthcare Resource Group (HRG) data is not 

available in time for the closure of the annual accounts.

Where income is received for a specific activity which is 

to be delivered in future financial years, that income is 

deferred.

Income from sale of non-current assets is recognised only 

when all material conditions of sale have been met, and 

is measured as the sums due under the sale contract.

The NHS Foundation Trust receives income under the 

NHS Injury Cost Recovery Scheme (CRU), designed to 

reclaim the cost of treating injured individuals to whom 

personal injury compensation has subsequently been 

paid e.g. by an insurer.  The NHS Foundation Trust 

recognises the income when it receives notification from 

the Department of Work and Pension’s Compensation 

Recovery Unit  (CRU) that the individual has lodged a 

compensation claim.  The income is measured at the 

agreed tariff for the treatments provided to the injured 

individual, less a provision for unsuccessful compensation 

claims and doubtful debts.

1.5 Expenditure on Employee Benefits
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are 

recognised in the period in which the service is received 

from employees.  The cost of annual leave entitlement 

earned but not taken by employees at the end of the 

period is recognised in the financial statements to the 

extent that employees are permitted to carry forward 

leave into the following period.

1.6 Pension costs
Past and present employees are covered by the 

provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme.  The Scheme is 

an unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS 

employers, General Practices and other bodies allowed 

under the direction of the Secretary of State for England 

and Wales.  The scheme is not designed to be run in 

a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their 

share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities.  As 

a consequence, it is not possible for the NHS Foundation 

Trust to identify its share of the underlying scheme 

liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as a 

defined contribution scheme under IAS 19 - Employee 

Benefits.  The NHS Pension Scheme (England and 

Wales) Resource Account is published annually and can 

be found on the Business Service Authority - Pensions 

Division website at www.nhspa.gov.uk.

The Scheme is subject to a full actuarial valuation 

every four years.  The last such valuation, published in 

December 2007, covered the period from 1 April 1999 
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to 31 March 2004.  The conclusion of this valuation was 

that the scheme had accumulated a notional deficit of 

£3.3bn against notional assets at 31 March 2004.  The 

basis for this conclusion is set out in the report by the 

government actuary which can be found on http://

www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/Pensions/Documents/Pensions/

NHSPS_funding_valuation_report_at_31_3_04_-_final_.

pdf.  Taking account of the changes to the benefit 

and contribution structure effective from 1 April 2008, 

the conclusion of the valuation was that employer 

contributions should continue at the existing rate of 14% 

of pensionable pay.  From 1 April 2008, employees pay 

contributions according to a tiered scale from 5% to 

8.5% of their pensionable pay.

Employer’s pension cost contributions are charged to 

operating expenses as and when they become due.

Additional pension liabilities arising from early 

retirements are not funded by the scheme except where 

the retirement is due to ill-health.  The full amount of the 

liability for the additional costs is charged to the income 

and expenditure account at the time the NHS Foundation 

Trust commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the 

method of payment.

The Scheme provides the opportunity for members 

to increase their benefits through money purchase 

Additional Voluntary Contributions (AVCs) provided 

by an approved panel of life companies.  Under 

the arrangement the employee/member can make 

contributions to enhance an employee’s pension benefits.  

The benefits payable relate directly to the value of the 

investments made.

1.7 Expenditure on other goods and 
Services

Expenditure on goods and services is recognised when, 

and to the extent that, they have been received, and is 

measured at the fair value of those goods and services.  

Expenditure is recognised in operating expenses except 

where it results in the creation of non-current assets such 

as property, plant and equipment.

1.8 Property, Plant and Equipment
1.8.1 Capitalisation
Property, Plant and Equipment are capitalised where:-

n	 it is probable that future economic benefits will 

flow to, or service potential be provided to, the NHS 

Foundation Trust;

n	 it is expected to be used for more than one financial 

year;

n	 individually they have a cost of at least £5,000;  

n	 collectively they have a cost of at least £5,000 and 

individually have a cost of more than £250, where 

the assets are functionally interdependent, they had 

broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated 

to have simultaneous disposal dates and are under 

single managerial control;  or

n	 they form part of the initial equipping and setting-up 

cost of a new building, ward or unit irrespective of 

their individual or collective cost.

Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a 

number of components with significantly different asset 

lives, e.g. plant and equipment, then these components 

are treated as separate assets and depreciated over their 

own economic lives.

1.8.2 Valuation
All land and buildings are stated at their revalued 
amount.  Plant and equipment assets are stated at their 
depreciated replacement costs.  Upon initial recognition, 
all tangible assets are measured at cost (for leased assets, 
fair value) including any costs such as installation directly 
attributable to bringing them into working condition.  
The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are 
reviewed for impairment in periods if events or changes 
in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be 
recoverable.  

All land and buildings are revalued using professional 
valuations in accordance with IAS16 every five years.  A 
three yearly interim valuation is also carried out.  The 
NHS Foundation Trust may also consider additional 
valuations due to significant changes in external 
environmental factors.  Valuations are carried out by 
professionally qualified valuers in accordance with the 
Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) Appraisals 
and Valuation Manual.

Valuations are normally carried out on the basis of 
depreciated replacement cost at the Modern Equivalent 
Asset (MEA) valuation for specialised operational 
property, this is in accordance with the requirements 
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Equivalent Asset valuation is the cost of replacing an 
existing building at current cost, using modern building 
equipment, structures and technology. Non-Specialised 
operational property is valued at existing use.  This is in 
line with Department of Health guidance.  The value of 
land for existing use purposes is assessed at existing use 
value.  For non-operational properties including surplus 
land, the valuations are carried out at open market value.  
This was the basis that the 31 March 2010 valuation was 

undertaken.

Properties in the course of construction are valued at cost 

and are valued by professional valuers as part of the five 

and three-yearly valuation or, for new buildings, when 

they are brought into use.

1.8.3  Subsequent Expenditure
Where subsequent expenditure enhances an asset 

beyond its original specification, the directly attributable 

cost is added to the asset’s carrying value.  Where 

subsequent expenditure is simply restoring the asset to 

the specification assumed by its economic useful life, 

then the expenditure is charged to operating expenses.

1.8.4  Depreciation
Items of Property, Plant and Equipment are depreciated 

at rates calculated to write them down to estimated 

residual value on a straight-line basis over their estimated 

useful lives.  No depreciation is provided on freehold land 

and assets held for sale.

Assets in the course of construction are not depreciated 

until the asset is brought into operational use.

Buildings, installations and fittings are depreciated on 

their current value over the estimated remaining life of 

the asset as advised by the District Valuer.  Leaseholds are 

depreciated over the primary lease term.

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over 

their estimated useful lives.

The Useful Economic Life (UEL) of any asset will be 

a minimum of 5 years when it is added to the NHS 

Foundation Trust’s Asset Register.  The maximum life that 

an asset is expected to have is detailed below, identified 

by the different catergories.  The NHS Foundation Trust, 

assesses the asset idividually to reflect the correct UEL 

when adding the asset to the NHS Foundation Trust’s 

Asset Register, and reviews this and the residual value at 

the year-end.

Category Number 
of Years 

Maximum 
Useful 

Economic 
Life

BUILDING ELEMENTS 60

ENGINEERING INSTALLATIONS 25

FITTINGS 15

DWELLINGS 60

OTHER ENGINEERING PLANT & 

EQUIPMENT

15

VEHICLES 7

FURNITURE 10

OFFICE EQUIPMENT 5

SOFT FURNISHINGS 7

SHORT LIFE MEDICAL EQUIPMENT 5

MEDIUM LIFE MEDICAL EQUIPMENT 10

LONG LIFE MEDICAL EQUIPMENT 15

MAINFRAME IT 8

CAPITALISED REVENUE 10

IT EQUIPMENT 5

1.8.5 Revaluation and impairments
Increases in asset values arising from revaluation are 

recognised in the revaluation reserve, except where, and 

to the extent that, they reverse an impairment previously 

recognised in operating expenses, in which case they are 

recognised in operating income.

Decreases in asset values and impairments are charged 

to the revaluation reserves to the extent that there is an 

available balance for the asset concerned, and thereafter 

are charged to operating expenses.

Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are 

reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as 

an item of ‘other comprehensive income’. 

1.8.6 De-recognition
Assets intended for disposal are reclassified as ‘Non 

Current Assets Held for Sale’ once all of the following 

criteria are met: 
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n	 the asset is available for immediate sale in its present 

condition subject only to terms which are usual and 

customary for such sales;

n	 the sale must be highly probable i.e.:

•	 management	are	committed	to	a	plan	to	sell	the	

asset;

•	 an	active	programme	has	begun	to	find	a	buyer	

and complete the sale;

•	 the	asset	is	being	actively	marketed	at	a	

reasonable price;

•	 the	sale	is	expected	to	be	completed	within	12	

months of the date of classification as ‘Held for 

Sale’; and

•	 the	actions	needed	to	complete	the	plan	indicate	

it is unlikely that the plan will be dropped or 

significant changes made to it.

Following reclassification, the assets are measured at 

the lower of their existing carrying amount and their 

‘fair value less costs to sell’. Depreciation ceases to be 

charged and the assets are not revalued, except where 

the ‘fair value less costs to sell’ falls below the carrying 

amount. Assets are de-recognised when all material sale 

contract conditions have been met.

Property, plant and equipment which is to be scrapped 

or demolished does not qualify for recognition as ‘Held 

for Sale’ and instead is retained as an operational asset, 

the asset is impaired and the economic life is adjusted. 

The asset is de-recognised when scrapping or demolition 

occurs.

1.8.7 Donated fixed assets
Donated fixed assets are capitalised at their current value 

on receipt and this value is credited to the Donated 

Asset Reserve.  Donated fixed assets are valued and 

depreciated as described previously for purchased 

assets.  Gains and losses on revaluations are also 

taken to the Donated Asset Reserve and, each year, 

an amount equal to the depreciation charge on the 

asset is released from the Donated Asset Reserve to the 

Statement of Comprehensive Income.  Similarly, any 

impairment on donated assets charged to the Statement 

of Comprehensive Income is matched by transfers from 

the Donated Asset Reserve.  On sale of donated assets, 

the net book value is transferred from the Donated Asset 

Reserve to the Retained Earnings Reserve.

1.8.8 Private Finance Initiative (PFI) 
transactions
PFI transactions which meet the IFRIC 12 - Service 

Concessions Arrangements,  definition of a service 

concession, as interpreted in HM Treasury’s Financial 

Reporting Manual, are accounted for as ‘on-Statement 

of Financial Position’ by the NHS Foundation Trust. 

The underlying assets are recognised as Property, Plant 

and Equipment at their fair value as determined in the 

operators’ model. An equivalent financial liability is 

recognised in accordance with IAS 17 - Leases.

The annual contract payments are apportioned between 

the repayment of the liability, a finance cost and the 

charges for services. The finance cost is calculated using 

the implicit interest rate for the scheme. 

The service charge is recognised in operating expenses 

and the finance cost is charged to Finance Costs in the 

Statement of Comprehensive Income.

An element of the annual unitary payment increase due 

to cumulative indexation is allocated to the finance lease. 

In accordance with IAS 17 - Leases,  this amount is not 

included in the minimum lease payments, but is instead 

treated as contingent rent and is expensed as incurred. 

In substance, this amount is a finance cost in respect of 

the liability and the expense is presented as a contingent 

finance cost in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Components of the asset replaced by the operator 

during the contract (‘lifecycle replacement’) are 

capitalised where they meet the NHS Foundation Trust’s 

criteria for capital expenditure. They are capitalised at the 

time they are provided by the operator and are measured 

initially at their fair value.

The element of the annual unitary payment allocated to 

lifecycle replacement is pre-determined for each year of 

the contract from the operators’ planned programme 

of lifecycle replacement. Where the lifecycle component 

is provided earlier or later than expected, a short-term 

finance lease liability or prepayment is recognised 

respectively. 

1.8.9 Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially 
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to the lessee.  All other leases are classified as operating 

leases.

Finance Leases

The asset is recorded as Property, Plant and Equipment 

and a corresponding liability is recorded.  The value at 

which both are recognised is the lower of the fair value 

of the asset or the present value of the minimum lease 

payments, discounted using the interest rate implicit 

in the lease.  The implicit rate is that which produces 

a constant periodic rate of interest on the outstanding 

liability.

The asset and liability are recognised at the inception 

of the lease, and de-recognised when the liability is 

discharged, cancelled or expires.  The annual rental 

is split between the repayment of the liability and a 

finance cost.  The annual finance cost is calculated by 

applying the implicit interest to the outstanding liability 

and is charged to Finance Costs in the Statement of 

Comprehensive Income.

Operating Leases
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense 

on a straight-line basis over the lease term.  Operating 

lease incentives are added to the lease rentals and 

charged to operating expenses over the life of the lease.

Contingent Rentals
Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the 

period in which they are incurred. 

Leases for Land and Buildings

Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and 

building components are separated.  Leased land is 

treated as an operating lease.  Leased buildings are 

assessed as to whether they are operating or finance 

leases. 

The Trust as Lessor
Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a 

straight-line basis over the term of the lease.  Initial direct 

costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating 

lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased 

asset and recognised on a straight-line basis over the 

lease term.

1.9 Intangible Assets
1.9.1 Recognition

Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without 

physical substance, which are capable of sale separately 

from the rest of the NHS Foundation Trust’s business or 

which arise from contractual or other legal rights.  They 

are recognised only when:- 

n	 it is probable that future economic benefit will flow 

to the NHS Foundation Trust.

n	 the service potential be provided to the NHS 

Foundation Trust.

n	 the cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

n	 the cost is at least £5,000.

n	 the NHS Foundation Trust can measure reliably 

the expenses attributable to the asset during 

development.

1.9.2 Software
Software which is integral to the operation of hardware 

e.g. an operating system, is capitalised as part of the 

relevant item of property, plant and equipment. Software 

which is not integral to the operation of hardware e.g. 

application software, is capitalised as an intangible asset.

1.9.3 Measurement
Intangible assets are recognised initially at cost, 

comprising all directly attributable costs needed to 

create, produce and prepare the asset to the point that 

it is capable of operating in the manner intended by 

management.

 Subsequently intangible assets are measured at fair value. 

Increases in asset values arising from revaluations are 

recognised in the revaluation reserve, except where, and 

to the extent that, they reverse an impairment previously 

recognised in operating expenses, in which case they are 

recognised in operating income. Decreases in asset values 

and impairments are charged to the revaluation reserve 

to the extent that there is an available balance for the 

asset concerned, and thereafter are charged to operating 

expenses. Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation 

reserve are reported in the Statement of Comprehensive 

Income as an item of ‘other comprehensive income’.

Intangible assets held for sale are measured at the lower 

of their carrying amount or ‘fair value less costs to sell’.
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1.9.4 Amortisation
Intangible assets are amortised over their expected 

useful economic lives in a manner consistent with the 

consumption of economic or service delivery benefits.

1.9.5 Valuation
 All Intangible Assets are stated at their valuation amount, 

which is reviewed by management on an annual basis. 

1.10 Inventories
Inventories are valued at:-

Pharamcy Stock -  Weighted Average Cost.

Other stock - Lower of cost and net realisable value on a 

first in first out basis.

Management review inventory and make appropriate 

provision for old and obsolete items on a regular basis.

1.11 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial 

institution repayable without any penalty on notice 

of not more than 24 hours.  Interest earned on bank 

accounts is recorded as interest receivable in the periods 

to which they relate.  The balances exclude monies held 

in the bank accounts belonging to patients (see third 

party assets - note 1.17).

Cash equivalents are investments that mature in 3 

months or less from the date of aquisition and that 

are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with 

insignificant risk of change in value.  Interest earned 

on the investments is recorded as interest receivable.  

The NHS Foundation Trust has a Treasury Management 

Policy in place which limits investments to organisation 

who have a Fitch rating of AA+.  The maximum period 

permitted by the NHS Foundation Trust for investments is 

for a period of 3 months.

1.12 Provisions
The NHS Foundation Trust provides for legal and 

constructive obligations that are of uncertain timing or 

amount at the Statement of Financial Position date on 

the basis of the best estimate of the expenditure required 

to settle the obligation.  Where the effect of the time 

value of money is significant, the estimated risk-adjusted 

cash flows are discounted using the HM Treasury’s 

discount rate of 2.2% in real terms. 

Clinical negligence costs

The NHS Litigation Authority (NHSLA) operates a risk 

pooling scheme under which the NHS Foundation Trust 

pays an annual contribution to the NHSLA which in 

return settles all clinical negligence claims.  Although 

the NHSLA is administratively responsible for all clinical 

negligence cases, the legal liability remains with the 

NHS Foundation Trust, however all clinical negligence 

claims are recognised in the accounts of the NHSLA.  

Consequently, the NHS Foundation Trust has no provision 

for the clinical negligence claims. The total value of 

clinical negligence provisions carried by the NHSLA on 

behalf of the NHS Foundation Trust is disclosed at note 

22. The provision represents the NHS Foundation Trust’s 

liability in relation to excesses payable for claims incurred 

at the year end.

Since financial responsibility for clinical negligence cases 

transferred to the NHSLA at 1 April 2002, the only 

charge to operating expenditure in relation to clinical 

negligence in 2009/10 relates to the NHS Foundation 

Trust’s contribution to the Clinical Negligence Scheme for 

NHS Foundation Trusts.

Non-clinical risk pooling
The NHS Foundation Trust participates in the Property 

Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties 

Scheme.  Both are risk pooling schemes under which 

the NHS Foundation Trust pays an annual contribution 

to the NHS Litigation Authority and, in return, receives 

assistance with the costs of claims arising.  The annual 

membership contributions, and any ‘excesses’ payable 

in respect of particular claims are charged to operating 

expenses as and when they become due.

1.13 Contingencies
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises 

from past events and whose existence will be confirmed 

only by the occurrence  of one or more uncertain 

future events not wholly within the control of the NHS 

Foundation Trust, or a present obligation that is not 

recognised because it is not probable that a payment will 

be required to settle the obligation or the amount of the 

obligation cannot be measured sufficiently reliably.

Contingent Liabilities are not recognised, but are 

disclosed in note 22, unless the probability of a transfer 

of economic benefits is remote.
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PDC Dividend
Public Dividend Capital (PDC) is a type of public sector 

equity finance based on the excess of assets over 

liabilities at the time of establishment of the original NHS 

Trust.  HM Treasury has determined that PDC is not a 

financial instrument with the meaning of IAS 32.

A charge, reflecting the forecast cost of capital utilised by 

the NHS Foundation Trust, is payable as public dividend 

capital dividend.  The charge is calculated at the rate set 

by HM Treasury (currently 3.5%) on the average relevant 

net assets of the NHS Foundation Trust.  Relevant net 

assets are calculated as the value of all assets less the 

value of all liabilities, except for donated assets and cash 

held with the Government Banking Service.  Average 

relevant net assets are calculated as simple mean of 

opening and closing relevant net assets. 

1.15 Value Added Tax
Most of the activities of the NHS Foundation Trust are 

outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does 

not apply and input tax on purchases is not recoverable.  

Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure 

category or included in the capitalised purchase cost of 

fixed assets.  Where output tax is charged or input VAT is 

recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.

1.16 Corporation Tax
The NHS Foundation Trust has no corporation tax liability.  

Corporation tax charges are incurred when the NHS 

Foundation Trust generates a profit from their trading 

accounts.  During 2009/10 and prior years the NHS 

Foundation Trust has not had any trading accounts.

1.17 Third Party Assets
Assets belonging to third parties (such as money held on 

behalf of patients) are not recognised in the accounts 

since the NHS Foundation Trust has no beneficial interest 

in them.  Details of third party assets are given in note 25 

to the accounts.

1.18 Losses and Special Payments
Losses and Special Payments are items that Parliament 

would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for 

the health service or passed legislation.  By their nature 

they are items that ideally should not arise.  They are 

therefore subject to special control procedures compared 

with the generality of payments.  They are divided 

into different categories, which govern the way each 

individual case is handled.

 Losses and Special Payments are charged to the relevant 

functional headings in the Statement of Comprehensive 

Income on an accruals basis, including losses which 

would have been made good through insurance cover 

had NHS Foundation Trusts not been bearing their own 

risks (with insurance premiums then being included as 

normal revenue expenditure). 

1.19 Financial Instruments
Recognition

Financial assets and financial liabilities which arise from 

contracts for the purchase or sale of non-financial items 

(such as goods or services), which are entered into in 

accordance with the NHS Foundation Trust’s normal 

purchase, sale or usage requirements, are recognised 

when, and to the extent which, performance occurs i.e. 

when receipt or delivery of the goods or services is made. 

Trade receivables are recognised as Financial Assets, after 

making any provision for impairment that is deemed 

appropriate after reviewing the specific nature and 

circumstances relating to each receivable balance.  Trade 

Receivables are reviewed for impairment on an ongoing 

basis with particular focus on Trade Receivables which 

are greater than three months old.

Financial assets or financial liabilities in respect of 

assets acquired or disposed of through finance leases 

are recognised and measured in accordance with the 

accounting policy as described in note 1.8.9.

All other financial assets and financial liabilities are 

recognised when the NHS Foundation Trust becomes a 

party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

De-recognition

All financial assets are de-recognised when the rights to 

receive cashflows from the assets have expired or the 

NHS Foundation Trust has transferred substantially all of 

the risks and rewards of ownership.

Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the obligation 

is discharged, cancelled or expires.
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Classification and Measurement

Financial assets are categorised as ‘Fair Value through 

Income and Expenditure’, ‘Loans and receivables’ or 

‘Available for Sale’ financial assets. 

Financial liabilities are classified as ‘Fair value through 

Income and Expenditure’ or as ‘Other Financial liabilities’.

Financial assets and financial liabilities at ‘Fair Value 

through Income and Expenditure’

Financial assets and financial liabilities at ‘fair value 

through income and expenditure’ are financial assets or 

financial liabilities held for trading. The NHS Foundation 

Trust does not hold any of this particular class.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets 

with fixed or determinable payments which are not 

quoted in an active market. They are included in current 

assets.

The NHS Foundation Trust’s loans and receivables 

comprise:  Cash and cash equivalents, Current 

Investments, NHS receivables, accrued income and ‘other 

receivables’.

Loans and receivables are recognised initially at fair value, 

net of transaction costs, and are measured subsequently 

at amortised cost, using the effective interest method. 

The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts 

exactly estimated future cash receipts through the 

expected life of the financial asset or, when appropriate, 

a shorter period, to the net carrying amount of the 

financial asset.

Interest on loans and receivables is calculated using the 

effective interest method and credited to the Statement 

of Comprehensive Income.

Available-for-sale financial assets

The NHS Foundation Trust recognises assets as Available 

for Sale when the Capital Planning and Estates 

Committee has made a strategic decision to sell a 

property.  When the property is ready to be advertised at 

its market value the asset will then be transferred from 

Non Current Assets to Non Current Assets Held for Sale, 

which is classified as part of the NHS Foundation Trust’s 

Current Assets.

Other financial liabilities

All other financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair 

value, net of transaction costs incurred, and measured 

subsequently at amortised cost using the effective 

interest method. The effective interest rate is the rate 

that discounts exactly estimated future cash payments 

through the expected life of the financial liability or, 

when appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying 

amount of the financial liability.

They are included in current liabilities except for amounts 

payable more than 12 months after the Statement of 

Financial Position date, which are classified as long-term 

liabilities.

Interest on financial liabilities carried at amortised cost 

is calculated using the effective interest method and 

charged to Finance Costs.

Determination of fair value

For financial assets and financial liabilities carried at fair 

value, the carrying amounts are determined by reference 

to quoted market prices, independent appraisals or 

discounted cash flow analysis.

Impairment of financial assets
At the Statement of Financial Position date, the NHS 

Foundation Trust assesses whether any financial assets, 

other than those held at ‘fair value through income and 

expenditure’ are impaired. Financial assets are impaired 

and impairment losses are recognised if, and only if, 

there is objective evidence of impairment as a result 

of one or more events which occurred after the initial 

recognition of the asset and which has an impact on the 

estimated future cash flows of the asset.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount 

of the impairment loss is measured as the difference 

between the asset’s carrying amount and the present 

value of the revised future cash flows discounted at 

the asset’s original effective interest rate. The loss is 

recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income 

and the carrying amount of the asset is reduced directly.

1.20 Subsidiaries
The NHS Foundation Trust does not currently have any 

subsidiaries.

For 2009/10, in accordance with the directed accounting 

policy from the Secretary of State, the NHS Foundation 

Trust does not consolidate the NHS charitable funds for 

which it is the corporate trustee.
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issued but have not yet been adopted
The following standards, amendments and 

interpretations to existing standards have been published 

and are mandatory for the NHS Foundation Trust’s 

accounting periods beginning on or after 1 April 2010 or 

later periods, but the NHS Foundation Trust has not early 

adopted them:

IFRIC 17, ‘Distribution of non-cash assets to owners’ 

(effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 

1 July 2009). This interpretation will not impact the NHS 

Foundation Trust.

IAS 27 (revised), ‘Consolidated and separate financial 

statements’, (effective for accounting periods beginning 

on or after 1 July 2009). This revised standard will not 

have an impact on the NHS Foundation Trust.

IFRS 3 (revised), ‘Business combinations’ (effective for 

accounting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009). 

This revised standard will not have an impact on the NHS 

Foundation Trust.

IFRS 2 (amendments), ‘Group cash-settled share-based 

payment transactions’ (effective for accounting periods 

beginning on or after 1 January 2010). This revised 

standard will not have an impact on the NHS Foundation 

Trust

Annual improvements 2010 and 2009. With the 

exception of the amendment to IFRS 8 in relation to the 

disclosure of total assets by segment which has been 

adopted by the NHS Foundation Trust in the current 

financial statements as noted below, the improvements 

will apply to the NHS Foundation Trust from 1 April 2010 

and 2011 onwards. These further improvements are 

not expected to have a significant impact on the NHS 

Foundation Trust’s financial statements.

IAS 32 ‘Financial instruments: Presentation on 

classification or rights issues’ This revised standard will 

not have an impact on the NHS Foundation Trust.

IAS 39 ‘Eligible hedged items’. This revised standard will 

not have an impact on the NHS Foundation Trust.

IFRS 9 ‘Financial instruments. The NHS Foundation Trust 

will apply IFRS 9 from 1 April 2013. It is not expected to 

have a material impact on the NHS Foundation Trust’s 

financial statements.

IFRIC 14, IAS 19 ‘Prepayments of a minimum funding 

requirement’. This revised standard and interpretation 

will not have an impact on the NHS Foundation Trust.

IFRIC 18 ‘Transfer of assets from customers’. This revised 

standard will not have an impact on the NHS Foundation 

Trust.

IFRIC 19 ‘Extinguishing financial liabilities with equity 

instruments’. This revised interpretation will not have an 

impact on the NHS Foundation Trust.

2. Operating segments
The NHS Foundation Trust considers the Board to be 

the Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM) because 

it regularly reviews operating results, makes decisions 

about where resources are allocated as a result and 

assesses performance.

Income and Expenditure arises from the following 

segments, the NHS Foundation Trust reports monthly to 

the Board on a distinct and separate basis and therefore 

they have been disclosed separately in the financial 

statements:-

n	 Elective Services

n	 Emergency Services

n	 Women & Children’s Services

n	 Other Services

The NHS Foundation Trust provides the service of 

NHS Healthcare to the general public the majority of 

whom are based in England and the above detailed 

segments are the key operational segments that the NHS 

Foundation Trust uses to make management decisions.

Each month the NHS Foundation Trust reports to the 

Trust Board, Operating Income and Expenditure split 

between Clinical Income and Non Clinical Income, 

Pay Expenditure and Non Pay Expenditure.  The NHS 

Foundation Trust also reports Non Operating Income and 

Expenditure including Exceptional items.

The majority of the Clinical Income is received from 

Tameside PCT, which generated income amounting 

to 80% of the NHS Foundation Trust’s total income.  

This customer generated income of £109.5m which is 

reported in the segments detailed opposite  
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Detailed below is the split for the various segments:-

Current Period 2009/10 Prior Period 2008/09

Elective 
Services 

Segment

Emergency 
Services 

Segment

Women 
and 

Children’s 
Services 

Segment

Other 
Services 

Segment

Total 
2009/10

Elective 
Services 

Segment

Emergency 
Services 

Segment

Women 
and 

Children’s 
Services 

Segment

Other 
Services 

Segment

Total 
2008/09

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Clinical Income 39,175 44,603 23,681 20,081 127,540 39,242 41,817 20,485 15,479 117,023

Non-Clinical Income 152 352 48 11,141 11,693 280 245 72 11,864 12,461

Total Income 39,327 44,955 23,729 31,222 139,233 39,522 42,062 20,557 27,343 129,484

Pay Expenditure (24,750) (29,714) (14,793) (25,660) (94,917) (24,112) (25,941) (13,656) (24,337) (88,046) 

Non Pay Expenditure (5,659) (3,298) (1,016) (25,576) (35,549) (5,351) (2,879) (868) (22,653) (31,751) 

Total Expenditure (30,409) (33,012) (15,809) (51,236) (130,466) (29,463) (28,820) (14,524) (46,990) (119,797)

Earnings Before Interest, Tax, 
Dividends and Amortimisation 
(EBITDA) 

8,918 11,943 7,920 (20,014) 8,767 10,059 13,242 6,033 (19,647) 9,687

EBITD as a % of Income 22.68% 26.57% 33.38% -64.10% 6.30% 25.45% 31.48% 29.35% -71.85% 7.48%

Profit/Loss on asset disposal 0 0 0 (95) (95) 0 0 0 (25) (25) 

Exceptional Costs - Fixed 
Asset Impairments

0 0 0 (4,953) (4,953) 0 0 0 (2,622) (2,622) 

Depreciation 0 0 0 (5,118) (5,118) 0 0 0 (4,972) (4,972) 

Interest Receivable 0 0 0 63 63 0 0 0 481 481

Interest Payable on Leases 0 0 0 (159) (159) 0 0 0 (124) (124) 

Unwinding Discount 0 0 0 (14) (14) 0 0 0 (12) (12) 

PDC Dividend 0 0 0 (2,735) (2,735) 0 0 0 (4,379) (4,379) 

Net Surplus/(Deficit) 8,918 11,943 7,920 (33,025) (4,244) 10,059 13,242 6,033 (31,300) (1,966)

Note: Other Services Segment includes all the overhead cost of running the NHS Foundation Trust, such as estate costs, 

support services such as Theatres, Outpatients etc and other services such as Catering, Laundry and Pharmacy.  These 

are just examples for information, but all these services are required to support the segments which directly generate 

the income from direct patient care.

Non-disclosure of assets by segment
The NHS Foundation Trust does not report total assets attributable to each operating segment to the Board, and has 

chosen to early adopt for 2009/10 the amendment to IFRS 8 set out in the IASB’s  ‘Improvements to IFRS’ issued in 

April 2009.  Consequently, total assets attributable to each operating segment are not disclosed.
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3.1 Income by Classification
2009/10

Total 
2008/09

Total 
£000 £000 

Mandatory Income
Elective income 22,389 21,268
Non elective income 51,572 47,288
Outpatient income 26,715 26,737
A & E income 6,777 6,516
Other NHS clinical income 18,895 13,867
Non Mandatory Income
Private patient income 53 50
Other non-protected clinical income:-
Compensation Recovery Unit 1,077 1,258
Prescription Income 28 27
Overseas Visitors Non-Reciprocal 2 11
Amenity Beds 1 1
Other 31 0

TOTAL 127,540 117,023

3.2 Private patient income
2009/10

Total 
2008/09

Total 
Base Year 2002/03

Total 
£000 £000 £000 

Private patient income 53 50 71
Total patient related income 127,540 117,023 82,048
Proportion (as percentage) 0.04% 0.04% 0.1%

Section 44 of the 2006 Act requires that the proportion of private patient income to the total patient related income 

of the NHS Foundation Trust does not exceed its proportion whilst the NHS Foundation Trust was a NHS Trust in 

2002/2003.  This is the Private Patient Cap.  The NHS Foundation Trust must ensure that the income received from 

treating private patients during the year does not exceed the cap of 0.1%.  The NHS Foundation Trust is therefore 

compliant with its obligation in this respect.

3.3 Income by Source
2009/10  

Total
2008/09  

Total
£000 £000

Primary Care Trusts 126,348 109,302
Department of Health 0 6,374
Non-NHS: 
      Private patients 53 50
      Overseas patients (non-reciprocal) 2 0
      Injury costs recovery 1,077 1,258
      Other 60 39

127,540 117,023
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4. Other Operating Revenue
2009/10

£000
2008/09

£000
Research and development 162 106
Education, training and research 4,056 4,128
Charitable and other contributions to expenditure 320 158
Transfers from Donated Asset Reserve 123 136
Non-patient care services to other bodies 4,668 5,064
Income generation (see note 4.1 for breakdown) 2,364 2,869

11,693 12,461

4.1 Revenue - Income Generation
2009/10

£000
2008/09

£000
Car Parking 652 613
Staff Accommodation rentals 99 88
Catering 352 413
Property Rentals 21 21
Other 1,240 1,734

2,364 2,869

5. Operating Expenses
2009/10

£000
2008/09

£000
Services from Foundation Trusts 1,376 980
Services from other NHS Trusts 150 502
Services from other NHS bodies 1,732 1,778
Purchase of healthcare from non NHS bodies 142 93
Executive Directors’ costs 804 713
Non Executive Directors’ costs 100 100
Staff costs 94,014 87,233
Drug Costs 5,221 4,585
Supplies and services - clinical (excluding drugs) 9,701 8,429
Supplies and services - general 5,601 5,355
Establishment 1,332 1,327
Transport 220 263
Premises 6,102 5,949
Bad debt provision 14 25
Depreciation 4,698 4,551
Amortisation 420 421
Impairments and reversals of property, plant and equipment 4,953 2,622
Audit Services - Statutory Audit fees 54 48
- Other Audit Services PricewaterhouseCoopers 12 34
Other auditor’s remuneration:-
- Internal audit services 87 81
-Other Services 2 0
Clinical negligence 2,544 1,386
Loss on disposal of land and buildings 0 23
Loss on disposal of other property, plant and equipment 95 2
Legal Fees 357 187
Consultancy 201 47
Patient travel 47 43
Training 400 440
Losses 31 32
Hospitality 10 1
Insurance 147 125
Other 65 41

140,632 127,416

* The External Auditors Liability is limited to £1m.  The scope of work for the External Auditors is to provide a Statutory Audit to the NHS Foundation 
Trust.  This will be conducted in accordance with the Audit Code for NHS Foundation Trusts (the Audit Code) issued by Monitor in accordance with 
paragraph 24 of schedule 7 of the Act.  The scope of the work is for the External Auditors to be satisfied that the NHS Foundation Trust has made 
proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.  The External Auditors are to provide their opinion on 
the financial statements.
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6.1 As lessee
The NHS Foundation Trust has twenty operating leases as detailed below:-

Company Lease 
Commence 

Date

Lease 
Expiry Date

Lease Description

ING Lease UK 01/10/2008 01/10/2013 Coffee Machine
Automotive Leasing 28/11/2003 27/11/2009 Vehicle MV53CYX
Automotive Leasing 02/12/2003 01/12/2009 Vehicle MX53YBT
Automotive Leasing 12/02/2007 11/02/2012 Vehicle MW56OMM
Automotive Leasing 19/03/2007 18/03/2012 Vehicle YX07FOD
Automotive Leasing 19/03/2007 17/03/2012 Vehicle YX07FOC
Automotive Leasing 11/03/2008 19/03/2012 Vehicle BX08JFV
Bank of Scotland 01/03/2008 28/02/2023 Bed Hire

Beckman Coulter 01/05/2008 30/04/2013
Heamatology Analysers LH750 - Reagent Rental Replaced 
by LH780

IL 06/12/2007 05/12/2009 Blood Gas - GEM3000 & CO Analyser - GEMOPL
TOSOH 01/04/2006 31/03/2011 HbA!c Analyser-G& (reagent rental) 
Menarini 01/01/2005 31/12/2010 HB electroporesis - HA8160 (reagent rental)
Becton Dickinson 01/04/2008 31/03/2010 Blood Culture-Bactec9120&9240 (reagent rental)
Canon 01/09/2008 30/09/2013 Canon Printer DCF11557
Photocopier 14/12/2008 31/12/2011 Canon IRC3580i Photocopier
Photocopier 22/05/2007 22/05/2012 Quality Assurance 
Photocopier 26/03/2007 26/03/2012 Medical Records
Trailer 01/10/2008 30/09/2013 Delivers Meal Trolleys around site
Canon 09/09/2005 08/08/2010 Canon Printer KGL23690
Canon 01/04/2008 31/03/2013 Canon Format Printer with Scanner and touch sreen

Payments recognised as an expense

2009/10
£000

2008/09
£000

Minimum lease payments 149 146

149 146

Total future minimum lease payments

2009/10
£000

2008/09
£000

Payable:

Not later than one year 160 168

Between one and five years 499 572

After 5 years 578 665

Total 1,237 1,405
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6.2 As lessor
The NHS Foundation Trust has five lessors as detailed below:-

Company Lease Commence 

Date

Lease Expiry Date Lease Description

Pennine Care NHS Foundation Trust 01/04/2002 01/04/2012 Property Lease of Hyde Hospital
T Mobile 20/07/1995 20/07/2015 Roof Space for Radio Mast
BT plc 29/05/2001 29/05/2019 Roof Space for Radio Mast
O2 30/10/2002 30/10/2012 Roof Space for Radio Mast
Gention 01/06/1998 31/05/2023 Hartshead Shopping Mall

The NHS Foundation Trust does not receive any contingent rents from any of the above lessors.  Detailed below are the 

future minimum payments expected from the lessors   

   

Total future minimum lessor payments

2009/10
£000

2008/09
£000

Receivable:
Not later than one year 379 379
Between one and five years 490 852
After 5 years 70 88
Total 939 1,319

7. Employee costs and numbers
7.1 Employee costs

2009/10 2008/09
Permanently 

Employed
Other Total Permanently 

Employed
Other Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Salaries and wages 74,085 7,574 81,659 70,777 4,371 75,148
Social Security Costs 5,235 0 5,235 5,184 0 5,184
Employer contributions to NHS 
Pension scheme

7,924 0 7,924 7,613 0 7,613

Employee benefits expense 87,244 7,574 94,818 83,574 4,371 87,945

NB: Please note the above does not include employee costs for Non Executive Directors 

Included in the above table is the Executive Directors’ cost as detailed below:-

2009/10
 £000 

2008/09
£000

Executive Directors’ Remuneration 650 576
Executive Directors’ Social Security Costs 69 70
Employer contributions to NHS Pension scheme in respect of Executive Directors 85 73
Total Executive Directors’ Cost as per note 5 804 719
The highest paid Executive Directors’ remuneration 147 131
Number of Directors to whom benefits are accruing under Defined benefit scheme 7 8

Full details of Directors’ remuneration and other benefits are set out in the NHS Foundation Trust’s Remuneration 

Report on pages 91 to 92 of the Annual Report.
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2009/10 2008/09
Permanently 

Employed
Other Total Permanently 

Employed
Other Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Medical and dental 245 84 329 255 52 307
Administration and estates 496 10 506 456 15 471
Healthcare assistants and other support 
staff

153 1 154 166 2 168

Nursing, midwifery and health visiting staff 1,033 40 1,073 1,101 19 1,120
Scientific, therapeutic and technical staff 274 1 275 258 0 258
Total 2,201 136 2,337 2,236 88 2,324

7.3 Employee  and Retirement Benefits
The NHS Foundation Trust did not make any payments for employee benefits in 2009/10 or in the prior year 2008/09.

The NHS Foundation Trust offers Retirement Benefits to its employees from the NHS Pension Scheme.  The scheme is 

an unfunded, defined benefit scheme.

The scheme is not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS Bodies to identify their share of the underlying 

assets and liabilities.

The scheme is subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years.  The latest valuation identified that the scheme had 

accumulated a notional deficit of £3.3bn against the notional assets at 31 March 2004.  The NHS Foundation Trust 

pays contributions to the scheme  at 14% of the employees’ pensionable pay.

7.4 Retirements due to ill-health
During the  financial year 2009/10, there were 3 (2008/09, 2) early retirements from the NHS Foundation Trust on 

the grounds of ill-health.  The estimated additional pension liabilities of these ill-health retirements will be £226,982 

(2008/09, £87,755).  The cost of these ill-health retirements will be borne by the NHS Business Services Authority - 

Pensions Division.

8. Investment Revenue and Finance Cost
The NHS Foundation Trust received £63k from cash deposited in the Commercial Banks, the Paymaster General 

Account and Citi Bank, which is part of the Government Banking Service (2008/09, £481k).  The NHS Foundation Trust  

incurred finance costs on interest on obligations under Finance Leases and unwinding discount  of £173k (2008/09, 

£136k).
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9. Intangible assets
2009/10 Computer 

Software
Prior Year Computer 

Software

£000 £000 

Cost or Valuation at 1 April 2009 4,209 Cost or valuation at 1 April 2008 4,209

At 31 March 2010 4,209 At 31 March 2009 4,209

Depreciation at 1 April 2009 3,368 Depreciation at 1 April 2008 2,947

Charged during the year 420 Charged during the year 421

Depreciation at 31 March 2010 3,788 Depreciation at 31 March 2009 3,368

Net book value Net book value 

Finance Leased 421 Finance Leased 1,262

Total at 31 March 2010 421 Total at 1 April 2008 1,262

Net book value 

Finance Leased 841

Total at 31 March 2009 841

The only Intangible Asset which the NHS Foundation Trust has relates to the PFI agreement for the  Medway Patient 

Administration System.  This is software that is provided to the NHS Foundation Trust.  The Intangible Asset is a Finance 

Lease, which is provided by a company called System C.  The initial lease commenced on the 10 February 2002, for a 

period of 7 years.  The lease has now been extended for a further 2 years until the 9 February 2011.  The amortisation 

on this asset is being charged on a straight line basis, to the end of the life of the asset, which is due to expire in 

February 2011.
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2009/10:
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£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Cost or Valuation at 1 April 2009 15,451 62,819 876 1,661 18,297 182 5,805 114 105,205

Additions purchased 0 2,258 0 3,866 734 7 123 0 6,988

Additions donated 0 0 0 0 481 0 0 0 481

Reclassifications 0 4,232 0 (4,302) 60 0 9 1 0

Disposals 0 0 0 0 (1,509) (34) 0 0 (1,543)

Revaluation  surpluses 18 13 40 0 0 0 0 0 71

Impairments 0 (6,355) 0 0 0 0 0 0 (6,355)

Transfer of depreciation to Gross Book Value following 
Revaluation

0 (7,503) (29) 0 0 0 0 0 (7,532)

At 31 March 2010 15,469 55,464 887 1,225 18,063 155 5,937 115 97,315

Depreciation at 1 April 2009 0 0 0 0 12,971 159 2,540 43 15,713

Disposals 0 0 0 0 (1,419) (34) 0 0 (1,453)

Impairments 0 4,962 0 0 0 0 0 0 4,962

Reversal of Impairments 0 0 (9) 0 0 0 0 0 (9)

Charged during the year 0 2,541 38 0 1,320 10 778 11 4,698

Transfer of depreciation to Gross Book Value following 
Revaluation

0 (7,503) (29) 0 0 0 0 0 (7,532)

Depreciation at 31 March 2010 0 0 0 0 12,872 135 3,318 54 16,379

Net book value 

Purchased 15,469 53,850 887 1,225 4,296 14 2,619 61 78,421

Donated 0 215 0 0 789 0 0 0 1,004

Finance Leased - Please see note 10.2 for full analysis 0 1,399 0 0 106 6 0 0 1,511

Total at 31 March 2010 15,469 55,464 887 1,225 5,191 20 2,619 61 80,936

Minimum Remaining Life Years 0 4 3 0 0 0 0 5

Maximum Remaining Life Years 0 69 64 69 15 4 8 8

10.1 Analysis of Property, plant and equipment
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£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Net book value 

NBV - Protected assets at 31  March 2010 13,761 46,240 564 0 0 0 0 0 60,565

NBV - Unprotected assets at 31  March 2010 1,708 9,224 323 1,225 5,190 20 2,619 62 20,371

Total at 31 March 2010 15,469 55,464 887 1,225 5,190 20 2,619 62 80,936
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10.2 Analysis of Property, plant and equipment - Finance Lease (including PFI)

Note 10 includes Property, Plant and Equipment 
which have been purchased via a Finance Lease 
as detailed in this note.
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£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Cost or valuation at 1 April 2009 0 487 0 0 266 9 0 0 762

Additions 0 2,258 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,258

Accumulated Depreciation at 1 April 2009 0 338 0 0 120 1 0 0 459

Depreciation Charged in the Period 0 41 0 0 40 2 0 0 83

Impairments recognised in operating expenses 0 967 0 0 0 0 0 0 967

Net Book value as at 31 March 2010 0 1,399 0 0 106 6 0 0 1,511
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£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Cost or valuation at 1 April 2008 21,491 65,391 1,750 1,138 18,200 180 5,393 175 113,718

Additions purchased 0 488 0 3,171 627 9 265 0 4,560

Reclassifications 0 2,355 17 (2,648) 76 0 231 (31) 0

Reclassified as held for sale (80) 0 (249) 0 0 0 0 0 (329)

Disposals (210) (2,478) (609) 0 (606) (7) (84) (30) (4,024)

Revaluation  losses (5,750) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (5,750)

Transfer of depreciation to Gross Book Value following 
Revaluation

0 (2,937) (33) 0 0 0 0 0 (2,970)

At 31 March 2009 15,451 62,819 876 1,661 18,297 182 5,805 114 105,205

Depreciation at 1 April 2008 0 389 12 0 12,229 155 1,885 57 14,727

Reclassified as held for sale 0 0 (9) 0 0 0 0 0 (9)

Disposals 0 (2,478) (5) 0 (604) (7) (84) (30) (3,208)

Impairments 0 2,614 0 0 8 0 0 0 2,622

Charged during the year 0 2,412 35 0 1,338 11 739 16 4,551

Transfer of depreciation to Gross Book Value following 
Revaluation

0 (2,937) (33) 0 0 0 0 0 (2,970)

Depreciation at 31 March 2009 0 0 0 0 12,971 159 2,540 43 15,713

Net book value 

Purchased 21,491 64,737 1,738 1,138 5,236 25 3,508 118 97,991

Donated 0 265 0 0 548 0 0 0 813

Finance Leased 0 0 0 0 187 0 0 0 187

Total at 01 April 2008 21,491 65,002 1,738 1,138 5,971 25 3,508 118 98,991

Net book value 

Purchased 15,451 62,418 876 1,661 4,755 15 3,265 71 88,512

Donated 0 252 0 0 425 0 0 0 677

Finance Leased - Please see note 10.2 for full analysis 0 149 0 0 146 8 0 0 303

Total at 31 March 2009 15,451 62,819 876 1,661 5,326 23 3,265 71 89,492

Minimum Remaining Life Years 0 4 4 0 0 0 0 0

Maximum Remaining Life Years 0 65 64 0 15 3 8 14
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Note 10 includes Property, Plant and Equipment 
which have been purchased via a Finance Lease as 
detailed in this note.
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£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Net book value 

NBV - Protected assets at 31  March 2009 13,761 57,422 558 0 0 0 0 0 71,741

NBV - Unprotected assets at 31  March 2009 1,690 5,397 318 1,661 5,326 23 3,265 71 17,751

Total at 31 March 2009 15,451 62,819 876 1,661 5,326 23 3,265 71 89,492

Analysis of Property, plant and equipment - Finance Lease

Note 10 includes Tangible Fixed Assets which have 
been purchased via a Finance Lease as detailed in 
this note
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£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Cost or valuation at 1 April 2008 0 0 0 0 266 0 0 0 266

Additions - Purchased 0 487 0 0 0 9 0 0 496

Accumulated Depreciation at 1 April 2008 0 0 0 0 79 0 0 0 79

Depreciation Charged in the Period 0 0 0 0 41 1 0 0 42

Impairments recognised in operating expenses 0 338 0 0 0 0 0 0 338

Net Book value as at 31 March 2009 0 149 0 0 146 8 0 0 303

10. Property, plant and equipment
In 2009/10 the Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust Charitable Fund received a legacy of £1m.  As at 31 March 

2010, £481k has been used to purchase additions on donated assets for the NHS Foundation Trust.  Plans have been 

made to spend the balance of this legacy in the next financial year 2010/11.

The NHS Foundation Trust has had a valuation of the Land and Buildings.  This valuation has been undertaken by the 

District Valuer.  The valuation has been undertaken having regard to International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 

in accordance with the HM Treasury guidance, International Valuation Standards and the requirements of the Royal 

Institution of Chartered Surveyors (RICS).  

The valuation of each property is at a fair value following the Modern Equivalent Asset  (MEA) valuation and the 

valuation for land is at an Existing Use Valuation (EUV).

The NHS Foundation Trust is a lessor of an asset to Pennine Care NHS Foundation Trust.  This asset is classed as a 

building on the NHS Foundation Trust asset register.
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Detailed below is the asset details of Hyde Hospital which is used by Pennine Care NHS Foundation Trust. 

 £000 

Cost or Valuation 1 April 2009 2,174

Impairment Charged to revaluation reserve (219)

Revaluation Surplus 3

Revaluation Deficit (112)

Cost or Valuation 31 March 2010 1,846

Accumulated Depreciation 1 April 2009 0

Depreciation provided during the year 106

Impairments recognised in operating expenses 6

Revaluation (112)

Accumulated Depreciation at 31 March 2010 0

Net book Value 31 March 2010 1,846

11. Capital Commitments
The NHS Foundation Trust has  no contractual capital commitments as at the 31 March 2010 (2008/09 £1,727,063).

12. Inventories
31 March 

2010
31 March 

2009
01 April 

2008

£000 £000 £000

Drugs 379 303 283

Consumables 1,055 764 718

Energy - Oil 94 84 49

Total 1,528 1,151 1,050

 

13.  Trade and other receivables - Current
Current

31 March 
2010

31 March 
2009

01 April 
2008

£000 £000 £000

NHS receivables * 2,279 1,353 1,516

Trade receivables * 329 293 283

Provision for the impairment of receivables * (97) (97) (74)

PDC Debtor 322 0 0

Other receivables 847 697 544

Accrued income 136 485 497

Prepayments 699 770 518

Total 4,515 3,501 3,284
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Non-current

31 March 
2010

31 March 
2009

01 April 
2008

£000 £000 £000

NHS receivables * 22 0 0

Trade receivables * 16 0 0

Other receivables -  Compensation Recovery Unit (CRU) 752 786 504

Prepayments 42 0 0

Total 832 786 504

 

* Aging of NHS and Trade Receivables and Provision for the impairment of Trade Receivables

Past Due but not impaired 31 March 
2010

31 March 
2009

01 April 
2008

£000 £000 £000

Upto 3 months 2,134 1,326 1,480

Three to Six Months 19 5 11

Over Six Months 151 22 25

Total NHS receivables 2,304 1,353 1,516

Upto 3 months 225 206 224

Three to Six Months 21 25 17

Over Six Months 99 62 42

Total Trade receivables 345 293 283

 

Provided against Trade receivables 31 March 
2010

31 March 
2009

01 April 
2008

£000 £000 £000

Upto 3 months (7) (10) (17) 

Three to Six Months (20) (25) (15) 

Over Six Months (70) (62) (42) 

Total Provision for the impairment of Trade receivables (97) (97) (74)
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14. Non-current assets held for sale
Dwellings

£000

Balance as at 1 April 2008 0

Plus assets classified as held for sale in the year 320

Balance carried forward as at 31 March 2009 320

Less assets sold in the year (320)

Balance carried forward as at 31 March 2010 0

 

The NHS Foundation Trust has sold three dwellings during the 2009/10 financial year.  The NHS Foundation Trust 

decided to sell its dwellings as part of its capital strategy.  This has enabled the NHS Foundation Trust to generate cash 

receipts to invest in future capital projects.  The NHS Foundation Trust incurred a loss on the sale of these assets of 

£10,317. 

It is planned in the next financial year 2010/11 to sell a further building.  This however, has not yet been reclassified to 

Non Current Assets Held For Sale, as the property is not ready to be actively marketed for sale.  It is expected that the 

NHS Foundation Trust will receive the cash from this sale in either 2010/11 or 2011/12. 

 

15. Cash and cash equivalents
31 March 2010 31 March 2009 01 April 2008

£000 £000 £000

Balance at 1 April 8,273 14,272 12,408

Net change in year 2,445 (5,999) 1,864

Balance at 31 March 10,718 8,273 14,272

Made up of

Cash with Government Banking Service 10,417 1,448 14,265

Commercial banks and cash in hand 301 125 7

Current investments 0 6,700 0

Cash and cash equivalents as in Statement of Financial 
Position and the Statement of Cashflow

10,718 8,273 14,272
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Current Non-current

31 March 
2010

31 March 

2009

01 April 

2008

31 March 
2010

31 March 

2009

01 April 

2008

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

NHS payables 1,963 1,097 624 0 0 0

Trade Payables 1,998 1,466 1,848 7 2 6

Other trade payables - capital 1,380 1,126 4,325 0 0 0

Accruals 2,606 1,869 3,568 0 0 0

Other 3,018 2,913 2,717 0 0 0

Total 10,965 8,471 13,082 7 2 6

17. Borrowings
Current Non-current

31 March 
2010

31 March 

2009

01 April 

2008

31 March 
2010

31 March 

2009

01 April 

2008

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Bank overdraft - Commercial 

banks

0 0 0 18 0 0

PFI liabilities 456 535 550 2,665 890 938

Finance lease liabilities 42 40 36 77 120 152

Total 498 575 604 2,742 1,010 1,090

 

18. Other liabilities
Current Non-current

31 March 
2010

31 March 

2009

01 April 

2008

31 March 
2010

31 March 

2009

01 April 

2008

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Deferred income  1,772 1,440 1,994 366 0 0

Tax and social security costs 1,760 1,772 1,879 0 0 0

Total 3,532 3,212 3,873 366 0 0
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19. Finance lease obligations
The NHS Foundation Trust has four finance leases as detailed below:-

Company Lease Commence 
Date

Lease 
Expiry Date

Lease Description Net Book Value as at 31 
March 2010 £000

ING Lease UK 01/10/2008 01/10/2013 Catering Tug 6

Singer & Friendlander 09/03/2005 08/03/2010 Sysmex Coagulometer 3

Beckman Coulter UK Ltd 01/04/2006 31/03/2013
Clinical Chemistry 

Analyser
74

Orth Diagnostics 01/07/2007 30/06/2012
Innova-Blood Group 

Analyser
29

Amounts payable under finance leases: Minimum lease payments

31 March 2010 31 March 2009 1 April 2008

£000 £000 £000

Within one year 47 49 46

Between one and five years 83 131 170

After five years 0 0 0

Less future finance charges        (12) (20) (28) 

Present value of minimum lease payments 119 160 188

20.   Private Finance Initiative contracts   

20.1 PFI schemes off-Statement of Financial Position
The NHS Foundation Trust does not have any PFI schemes off-Statement of Financial Position.

20.2  PFI Schemes on-Statement of Financial Position
In November 2005 the NHS Foundation Trust announced that Consort Healthcare had been selected as the private 

sector company to work in collaboration with the NHS Foundation Trust in developing and constructing the new 

hospital buildings.  The construction is to be carried out by a joint venture between Balfour Beatty Construction Ltd 

and Balfour Beatty Workplace. The architects for the scheme are Keppie Design.

The Health Investment in Tameside (HIT) project is the biggest investment and most extensive site improvement 

Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust has seen for decades. It will result in new acute facilities with a construction 

programme which started in Autumn 2006 and will be completed by the end of 2011. The new facilities include:-

n a 48 bedded surgical ward. 

n a dedicated integrated children’s unit. 

n over 40% of the beds will be provided in single en-suite rooms. 

n three new operating theatres that will sit alongside the existing theatres in the Hartshead building. 

n a centralised x-ray department. 

n an integrated day case and endoscopy unit comprising three day case surgery theatres, three endoscopy rooms and 

50 flexible recovery spaces. 
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clinics in outlying buildings. 

n centrally located pharmacy. 

n car parking arrangements. 

n a bridge corridor linking the Ladysmith building to the main hospital. 

n a new main entrance that will provide visitors with a clear focal point of arrival.

The contract with Consort Healthcare expires at the end of the project term (28th August 2041) and there is no 

provision within the contract to re-price or re-negotiate the prices and dates. There is however the facility for variations 

to the contract and the NHS Foundation Trust has procedures to manage those variations in line with Standing 

Financial Instructions. The Annual Service Payment will be inflated each April based on the preceding February RPI.

The NHS Foundation Trust will have the right to use the buildings, however Consort have the responsibility for 

maintaining the buildings to an agreed standard. All lifecycle replacement is also the responsibility of Consort 

Healthcare.

A key feature of PFI schemes is that the operator is responsible for ensuring that the property is maintained to an 

agreed standard for the entire life of the contract. These are known as lifecycle costs. The cost which the operator 

expects to incur in doing this is reflected in the unitary payment and reflects two elements:

n maintenance (planned and reactive); and

n replacement of components as they wear out during the contract – this is known as capital lifecycle.

After the expiry of the contract, the license with Consort to operate out of these buildings will expire and the NHS 

Foundation Trust will become responsible for the maintenance and lifecycle costs of those buildings.

Under IFRIC12, the assets are treated as an asset of the NHS Foundation Trust and the substance of the contract is that 

the NHS Foundation Trust has a finance lease. Therefore the unitary payment needs to be split into three elements; 

payment for services; payment for the property (comprising repayment of liability, finance cost and contingent rental) 

and payment for lifecycle replacement.

Total obligations for on-statement of financial position PFI contracts due:

31 March 2010

£000

Not later than one year 613

Later than one year, not later than five years 622

Later than five years 3,165

Less Future Finance Charges (1,279) 

Present value of minimum lease payments 3,121

The NHS Foundation Trust is committed to make the following payments for on-SoFP PFIs obligations during the next 

year in which the commitment expires in:-

Commitment Expiry Period

Medway Consort PFI

£000 £000

Within one year 541 0

31st to 35th years (inclusive) 0 3,663
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21. Prudential borrowing limit
31 March 2010 31 March 2009 1 April 2008

£000 £000 £000

Total long term borrowing limit set by Monitor 61,740 26,300 24,700

Working capital facility agreed by Monitor 10,000 10,000 10,000

TOTAL PRUDENTIAL BORROWING LIMIT 71,740 36,300 34,700

 

The NHS Foundation Trust is required to comply and remain within a prudential borrowing limit. This is made up of 

two elements:-

i> The maximum amount of long term borrowing.  This is set by reference to the five ratio tests set out in Monitor’s 

prudential borrowing code.  The financial risk rating set under Monitor’s compliance framework determines one of 

the ratios and therefore can impact on the long term borrowing limit.

ii> The amount of any working capital facility approved by Monitor.

Further information on the NHS Foundation Trust Prudential Borrowing Code and Compliance Framework can be 

found on the website of Monitor, the Independent Regulator of Foundation Trusts. 

The NHS Foundation Trust had a long term borrowing limit of £61,740,000 in 2009/10 (£26,300,000, 2008/09). The 

NHS Foundation Trust has not yet borrowed against this limit.

The NHS Foundation Trust had an approved working capital facility limit of £10,000,000 in 2009/10 (£10,000,000, 

2008/09), as well as having in place an actual working capital facility of £10,000,000. Again, none of this facility has 

been utilised.

The existing working capital facility expired on the 31 March 2010.  The NHS Foundation Trust has renewed this facility 

for a further 2 years until 31 March 2012, remaining at the same limit of £10,000,000. 

As the NHS Foundation Trust did not require any loans in 2009/10, only the minimum dividend forecast ratio is 

applicable. 

Financial Ratio 31 March 2010 31 March 2009

Minimum Dividend Cover Actual Ratios 3.11 2.18

Minimum Dividend Cover Approved PBL Ratios >1 >1

22. Provisions
Current Non-current

31 March 
2010

31 March 

2009

01 April 

2008

31 March 
2010

31 March 

2009

01 April 

2008

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Legal claims 269 270 416 490 503 513

Other Provisions & Liabilities 74 141 362 0 0 0

Total 343 411 778 490 503 513
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£000 £000 £000

At 1 April 2008 929 362 1,291

Arising during the year 65 141 206

Utilised during the year (129) (362) (491)

Reversed unused (104) 0 (104)

Unwinding of discount 12 0 12

At April 2009 773 141 914

Arising during the year 74 125 199

Used during the year (45) (67) (112)

Reversed unused (57) (125) (182)

Unwinding of discount at 2.2% 14 0 14

At 31 March 2010 759 74 833

Expected timing of cash flows:

Not later than 1 year 269 74 343

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 105 0 105

Later than 5 Years 385 0 385

Total 759 74 833

The above provisions are subject to uncertainties relating to the estimated costs and expected timings of the 

settlement.  The cost and timing of the provision for employer’s and occupier’s liability has been calculated using the 

information provided by the NHS Litigation Authority.  The injury benefits provision is an amount that is payable for 

the remaining life of an individual.  The provision has  been calculated based on the historic annual payment and the 

expected remaining life of the individual.  The other provisions have been calculated on the information available at the 

time of producing the accounts.

Below is a table detailing a breakdown of the above provisions:

31 March 
2010

31 March 

2009

1 April  

2008

£000 £000 £000

Employer’s Liabilites - NHS Litigation Authority 149 137 267

Occupiers Liabilites - NHS Litigation Authority 22 43 27

Injury Benefits - NHS Business Servives Authority - Pensions Division 522 528 538

Legal fees for industrial tribunal claims 66 66 97

Total Legal Claims 759 773 929

Other Provisions - Agenda For Change claims by companies providing 

contracted out services

0 0 362

Other Provisions - Probable repayment of income liabilites 74 141 0

Total Other Provisions 74 141 362

Total Provisions 833 914 1,291
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The NHS Litigation Authority at the 31 March 2010 has a provision of £60,334k in respect of the clinical negligence 

liabilites of the NHS Foundation Trust (31 March 2009, £51,133k).

The NHS Foundation Trust has Contingent Liabilities of £36k (2008/09, £23k), which relate to the Employer’s and 

Occupier’s Liability.  This is the difference between the provision which the NHS Foundation Trust has made for the 

claim and the actual excess which the NHS Foundation Trust could be liable to pay against the claim.

23.  Financial Instruments
Liquidity Risk

The NHS Foundation Trust’s net operating costs are incurred under annual service contracts with local Primary Care 

Trusts, which are financed from resources voted annually by Parliament.  The NHS Foundation Trust receives such 

contract income in accordance with Payment by Results (PBR), which is intended to match the income received in 

year to the activity delivered in that year by reference to the National Tariff procedure cost.  The NHS Foundation Trust 

receives cash each month based on the agreed level of contract activity and there are quarterly payments/deductions 

made to adjust for the actual income due under PBR.  This means that in periods of significant variance against 

contracts there can be a significant cashflow impact.  To alleviate this issue the NHS Foundation Trust has maintained a 

£10,000,000 working capital facility.  This was not utilised in 2009/10.

The NHS Foundation Trust presently finances its capital expenditure from internally generated funds or funds made 

available from Government, in the form of additional Public Dividend Capital, under an agreed limit.  In addition, the 

NHS Foundation Trust can borrow, both from the Department of Health Financing Facility and commercially, to finance 

capital schemes.  Financing is drawn down to match the capital spend profile of the scheme concerned and the NHS 

Foundation Trust is not therefore exposed to significant liquidity risks in this area.

Interest-Rate Risk

All of the NHS Foundation Trust’s financial assets and liabilities carry nil or fixed rates of interest.  The NHS Foundation 

Trust is not, therefore, exposed to significant interest-rate risk.  The only risk is therefore regarding the level of interest 

generated on the NHS Foundation Trust’s investment which may be higher or lower than planned at the start of the 

year due to fluctuating interest rates.  The value of interest generated in 2009/10 was £63K compared to the plan of 

£36K (2008/09 was £481k compared to the plan of £501k).  The major reduction of interest in 2009/10 compared to 

2008/09, is due to the dramatic decrease in interest rates since March 2009.

Credit Risk

The main source of income for the NHS Foundation Trust is from Commissioners in respect of healthcare services 

provided under local agreements - NHS Contracts.  Non NHS customers do not represent a large proportion of income, 

the majority of this relates to other public sector bodies which are considered low risk. The NHS Foundation Trust is not 

exposed to significant credit risk.

Treasury Management Arrangements

The NHS Foundation Trust operates within an agreed Treasury Management policy that governs the nature of the cash 

investments.  The financial performance of the NHS Foundation Trust’s cash investments is reviewed quarterly by the 

NHS Foundation Trust’s Audit Committee.  The credit risk to the NHS Foundation Trust is minimal for the investments.  

Investments are limited to a maximum amount of £2,000,000 with each commercial bank and a maximum period of 3 

months.  Investments can only be placed with commercial banks who have a Fitch credit rating of AA+.

Currency Risk

The NHS Foundation Trust does not have any overseas foreign transactions or balances.  There is no currency or 

translation risk to the NHS Foundation Trust.
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31 March 2010 31 March 2009 1 April 2008

Loans and 
receivables

Total 31 
March 

2010

Loans and 
receivables

Available 
for sale

Total 31 
March 

2009

Loans and 
receivables

 Total 1 
April 2008

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

NHS Receivables (net of 
provision for irrecoverable 
debts)

2,301 2,301 1,353 0 1,353 1,516 1,516

Accrued income 136 136 485 0 485 497 497

Other Receivables 
(net of provisions for 
irrecoverable debts)

145 145 139 0 139 193 193

Current Asset 
Investments

0 0 6,700 0 6,700 0 0

Cash at bank and in hand 10,718 10,718 1,573 0 1,573 14,272 14,272

Non Current Assets Held 
for Sale

0 0 0 320 320 0 0

Total 13,300 13,300 10,250 320 10,570 16,478 16,478

  

23.2   Financial liabilities

31 March 2010 31 March 2009 1 April 2008

Other 
Financial 

Liabilities

Total 31 
March 2010

Other 
Financial 

Liabilities

Total 31 
March 2009

Other 
Financial 

Liabilities

Total 1 April 
2008

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

NHS Payables (1,963) (1,963) (1,097) (1,097) (624) (624)

Other Payables (6,403) (6,403) (5,507) (5,507) (8,890) (8,890)

Accruals (2,606) (2,606) (1,869) (1,869) (3,568) (3,568)

Bank Overdraft 0 0 0 0 (18) (18)

Finance Lease Obligations (3,240) (3,240) (1,585) (1,585) (1,676) (1,676)

Total (14,212) (14,212) (10,058) (10,058) (14,776) (14,776)

24. Related Party Transactions
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust is a public benefit body authorised by Monitor, the Independent Regulator of 

NHS Foundation Trusts.

During the period none of the Board Members or members of the key management staff or parties related to them 

has undertaken any material transactions with Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust. 

As NHS Foundation Trusts are independent bodies, not controlled by the Secretary of State, other Government 

departments are not automatically deemed to be related parties.

The Department of Health is regarded as a related party.  During the year Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust 

has had a significant number of material transactions with the Department, and with other entities for which the 
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Department is regarded as the parent Department.  These entities are listed below, along with details of Income and 

Expenditure and the Debtor and Creditor balances.

Name of Organisation

Current Year 2009/10 Prior Year 2008/09

Year Ended  
31 March 2010

As At
31 March 

2010

As At
31 March 

2010

Year Ended  
31 March 2009

As At
31 March 

2009

As At
31 March 

2009Income Expenditure Income Expenditure

£000 £000
Debtor 

£000
Creditor 

£000
£000 £000

Debtor 
£000

Creditor 
£000

NHS Northwest (formally the North 
West Strategic Health Authority)

3,629 3 58 0 3,874 15 7 10

NHS Tameside & Glossop 111,752 866 1,362 144 96,044 785 650 131

NHS Oldham 7,751 4 125 4 6,375 3 67 3

NHS Manchester 5,716 0 197 0 4,728 0 33 0

Other PCTs 2,840 10 228 52 2,914 8 185 81

Pennine Care NHS Foundation Trust 1,966 17 71 8 1,466 0 108 8

Other NHS and Foundation Trusts 1,024 1,866 228 984 1,474 1,792 148 566

NHS Litigation Authority 0 2,582 0 234 0 1,666 61 0

NHS Purchasing and Supply Agency 0 3,647 0 0 0 2,815 0 129

Other Special Health Authorities 0 0 0 0 0 364 0 41

NHS Blood 10 857 5 0 0 865 23 0

NHS Professionals 0 4,115 0 493 0 0 0 0

NHS Pensions 0 7,924 0 1,011 0 7,613 0 949

Department of Health 5 0 1 0 6,466 0 71 0

Total 134,693 21,891 2,275 2,930 123,341 15,926 1,353 1,918

In addition, the NHS Foundation Trust has had a number of material transactions with other Government Departments 

and other central and local Government bodies.

The NHS Foundation Trust has also received revenue and capital payments from a number of charitable funds, all the 

Trustees for which are also members of the NHS Foundation Trust Board. 

25.  Third Party Assets
The NHS Foundation Trust held £2,433 cash at bank and in hand (2008/09 £1,855)  which relates to monies held 

by the NHS Foundation Trust on behalf of patients.  This has been excluded from cash at bank and in hand figure 

reported in the accounts.

26.  Losses and Special Payments
There were 88 cases of losses and special payments (2008/09: 80) totalling £67,000 (2008/09: £130,000) accrued 

during 2009/10.

There were no cases exceeding £100,000 in either current year or prior year.

Note:  The total costs included in this note are on a cash basis and will not reconcile to the amounts in the notes to the 

accounts which are prepared on an accruals basis.
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Public 
Dividend 

Capital

Retained 
earnings

Revaluation 
reserve

Donated 
asset 

reserve

Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Taxpayers’ equity at 31 March 2008 under UK GAAP: 54,553 11,645 39,019 921 106,138

UK GAAP adjustments - Relating to Modern Equivalent Asset Valuation (MEA) 0 (4,546) (1,839) (109) (6,494)

Adjustments for IFRS changes:

Private finance initiative - Intangible Assets - Finance Lease -  
Net Book Value 1 April 2008

0 1,262 0 0 1,262

Private finance initiative - Intangible Assets - Finance Lease -  
Short Term Lease Creditor

0 (550) 0 0 (550)

Private finance initiative - Intangible Assets - Finance Lease -  
Long Term Lease Creditor

0 (938) 0 0 (938)

Tangible Assets - Finance Lease - Net Book Value 1 April 2008 0 187 0 0 187

Tangible Assets - Finance Lease - Short Term Lease Creditor 0 (36) 0 0 (36)

Tangible Assets - Finance Lease - Long Term Lease Creditor 0 (152) 0 0 (152)

To clear the negative revaluation reserve balances due to the change of 
reporting requirements under IAS 16 - Plant Property and Equipment

0 (613) 613 0 0

Taxpayers’ equity at 1 April 2008 under IFRS: 54,553 6,259 37,793 812 99,417

Taxpayers’ equity at 31 March 2009 under UK GAAP: 53,168 11,715 31,151 785 96,819

UK GAAP adjustments - Relating to Modern Equivalent Asset Valuation (MEA) 0 (4,587) (1,839) (109) (6,535)

Adjustments for IFRS changes:

Private finance initiative - Intangible Assets - Finance Lease -  
Net Book Value 1 April 2009

0 841 0 0 841

Private finance initiative - Intangible Assets - Finance Lease -  
Short Term Lease Creditor

0 (529) 0 0 (529)

Private finance initiative - Intangible Assets - Finance Lease -  
Long Term Lease Creditor

0 (409) 0 0 (409)

Tangible Assets - Finance Lease - Net Book Value 1 April 2008 0 154 0 0 154

Tangible Assets - Finance Lease - Short Term Lease Creditor 0 (39) 0 0 (39)

Tangible Assets - Finance Lease - Long Term Lease Creditor 0 (122) 0 0 (122)

To clear the negative revaluation reserve balances due to the change of 
reporting requirements under IAS 16 - Plant Property and Equipment

0 (686) 686 0 0

Taxpayers’ equity at 1 April 2009 under IFRS: 53,168 6,338 29,998 676 90,180
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£000

(Deficit) for 2008/09 under UK GAAP (2,048)

Revaluation of Buildings - Impairment (230)

Revaluation of Buildings - Depreciation 176

Revaluation of Dwellings - Deprecation 11

Adjustment to Surplus/(deficit) due to UK GAAP Adjustment (43)

Private finance initiative - Intangible Assets - Finance Lease - Operating Expenditure 242

Tangible Assets - Finance Lease - Operating Expenditure 7

Private finance initiative - Intangible Assets - Finance Lease - Finance Charge (113)

Tangible Assets - Finance Lease - Finance Charge (11)

Adjustment to Surplus/(deficit) due to IFRS amendments 125

(Deficit) for 2008/09 under IFRS (1,966)

The UK GAAP 2008/09 cash flow statement included net movements in liquid resources of £6,700,000.  This net 

movement is included in the bottom line cash and cash equivalents figure in the 2009/10 statement of cash flows 

under IFRS. In addition, the cash flow statement has been restated to reflect the cashflows in relation to finance leases 

and PFI obligations which were previously not recognised under UK GAAP.

UK GAAP Adjustment
The NHS Foundation Trust’s Annual Accounts for 2008/09 included an estimated valuation amount for the MEA 

valuation.  During 2009/10, the District Valuer undertook a MEA valuation as at the 31 March 2009.  The UK GAAP 

adjustment is reflecting the difference between the estimate which was included in the 2008/09 Annual Accounts and 

the actual valuation from the District Valuer.

IFRS Transactions
The above transactions detail the movements required by the NHS Foundation Trust to implement the International 

Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).  The transactions required by the NHS Foundation Trust relate to the addition 

of finance leases due to the change of accounting standards.  Previously the leases had been classified as Operating 

Leases under UK GAAP.  There were five leases identified by the NHS Foundation Trust which were added to the NHS 

Foundation Trust asset register and are now accounted for as Finance Leases.

28. Post Balance Sheet Events
The NHS Foundation Trust has had no post balance sheet events.
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